
 
 

 

Merton Council 
Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel  
 
Date: 25 January 2024 
Time: 7.15 pm 

 

Venue: Committee Room BCD, Civic Centre, SM4 5DX 
AGENDA 

Page Number 
  
1  Apologies for absence   
 
2  Declarations of pecuniary interest   
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting  1 - 4 
 
4  Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report  5 - 46 
 
5  Budget/business plan 

Please bring your Members Information Pack to the meeting 
 

 
6  Budget/Business Plan - Latest Cabinet Paper  47 - 146 
 
7  Childhood Immunisations  147 - 

194 
 
8  Local playgrounds  195 - 

230 
 
9  Departmental update  231 - 

236 
 
10  Performance monitoring  237 - 

244 
 
11  Youth Task Group - Report and Recommendations 

To follow 
 

 
12  Work Programme  245 - 

250 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend. 

The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m. 



 
For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 4035 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
Press enquiries: communications@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 
4093 
 
Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer 
 

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer


 

Public Information 
Attendance at meetings 
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council.  Seating in the public gallery is 
limited and offered on a first come first served basis. 
Audio/Visual recording of meetings 
The Council will film meetings held in the Council Chamber for publication on the website.  If 
you would like to film or record any meeting of the Council held in public, please read the 
Council’s policy here or contact democratic.services@merton.gov.uk for more information. 
Mobile telephones 
Please put your mobile telephone on silent whilst in the meeting. 
Access information for the Civic Centre 

 

• Nearest Tube: Morden (Northern Line) 
• Nearest train: Morden South, South 

Merton (First Capital Connect) 
• Tramlink: Morden Road or Phipps 

Bridge (via Morden Hall Park) 
• Bus routes: 80, 93, 118, 154, 157, 163, 

164, 201, 293, 413, 470, K5 
 

Further information can be found here 
Meeting access/special requirements 
The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special access requirements.  There are 
accessible toilets, lifts to meeting rooms, disabled parking bays and an induction loop system 
for people with hearing difficulties.  For further information, please contact 
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk  
Fire alarm 
If the fire alarm sounds, either intermittently or continuously, please leave the building 
immediately by the nearest available fire exit without stopping to collect belongings.  Staff will 
direct you to the exits and fire assembly point.  If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of 
staff will assist you.  The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned. 
Electronic agendas, reports and minutes 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website.  To access this, click https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy and 
search for the relevant committee and meeting date. 
Agendas can also be viewed online in the Borough’s libraries and on the Mod.gov paperless 
app for iPads, Android and Windows devices. 

https://www2.merton.gov.uk/Guidance%20on%20recording%20meetings%20NEW.docx
mailto:
https://www.merton.gov.uk/contact-us/visiting-the-civic-centre
mailto:democratic.services@merton.gov.uk
https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy


 
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel membership 
 
Councillors:  
Usaama Kaweesa (Chair) 
Chessie Flack (Vice-Chair) 
Max Austin 
Michael Butcher 
Caroline Charles 
Jil Hall 
Billy Hayes 
Linda Kirby MBE 
Samantha MacArthur 
James Williscroft 
 
Substitute Members:  
Sheri-Ann Bhim 
Jenifer Gould 
Edith Macauley MBE 
Robert Page 
Andrew Howard 

Co-opted Representatives  
Mansoor Ahmad, Parent Governor 
Representative Secondary and Special 
Sectors 
Roz Cordner, Church of England Diocese 
Becky Cruise, Parent Governor 
Representative 
Dr Oona Stannard, Catholic Diocese 

Note on declarations of interest 
Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  For further advice please 
speak with the Managing Director, South London Legal Partnership. 

What is Overview and Scrutiny? 
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes. 
 
Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas: 
 
 Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 

inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements. 

 Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic. 

 One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet.  

 Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan. 

 
Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know.  
 
For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 4035 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny


 

1 
 

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
27 NOVEMBER 2023 
(7.15 pm - 9.50 pm) 
PRESENT Councillors Councillor Usaama Kaweesa (in the Chair), 

Councillor Chessie Flack, Councillor Michael Butcher, 
Councillor Jil Hall, Councillor Billy Hayes, 
Councillor Andrew Howard, Councillor Linda Kirby, 
Mansoor Ahmad and Roz Cordner 
 
Elizabeth Fitzpatrick (Assistant Director for Education and Early 
Help), Octavia Lamb (Policy and Scrutiny Manager), Jane 
McSherry (Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and 
Families), Asad Mushtaq (Executive Director of Finance & 
Digital), Tom Procter (Head of Contracts & School Organisation) 
and Keith Shipman (Social Inclusion Manager) 
 

  
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1) 

 
Apologies from Councillor James Williscroft, Councillor Caroline Charles, 
Councillor Samantha Macarthur 

  
  
2  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2) 

 
There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 
  
  
3  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3) 

 
The Minutes of the previous meeting were approved with amendment to add 
Councillor Sally Kenny and Councillor Brenda Fraser in attendance. 
  
  
4  BUDGET AND BUSINESS PLAN (ROUND 1) (Agenda Item 4) 

 
Cllr Christie introduced the draft budget and business plan.  
Asad Mushtaq – budget reflects an update of MTFS since June Cabinet. Changes 
since June include the pay award which represents a significant cost since earlier in 
the year, high inflation throughout the year, investment income has been high and 
income rates have been held. Q2 budget monitoring - £8million net overspend with 
actions to mitigate. Budget engagement piece, details on council website, asking 
everyone to review and give opinions on council spend. This is running for a month. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


 

2 
 

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

Jane McSherry – savings proposal CLLF 148-9, increased income to reduce running 
costs - providing same services, growth proposal 47-48 re overspend on children’s 
social care, feasibility study for own children’s home, Capital proposals page 28.  
The Young Inspector and Youth Parliament members engaged with officers on 
details around foster care and the high spend on independent social care 
placements. There was also a discussion about contextual harm with JM giving 
details that the Council is now in second week of a joint targeted area of inspection of 
serious youth violence and working with partners like police, health and the 
community safety partnership. 
Further discussion with the Members of the Panel about children in care, asking for 
specifics on numbers (133) and for reassurance around children being placed as 
close to Merton as possible if they do need to be placed elsewhere. The Council 
must statutorily report any children place 20 miles+ outside the borough (currently 
12). However, the Council never discharges its duty as corporate parents (this is 
unique to councils). 
Regarding children’s homes, there is work taking place for a pan-London plan for 
secure and specialist provision. 
Regarding the overspend in CLLF most of it is due to children’s social care 
placement cost, working hard to reduce agency staff and to convert agency to 
permanent.  
Chair reiterated that this is a two-stage budget scrutiny process. The Budget Council 
is in March.  
  
  
5  SCHOOL MEALS IN MERTON (Agenda Item 5) 

 
Murray Davies introduced the report and summary of contracts.  
A Panel member enquired about vending machines in schools. MD will action 
enquiry.  
Chair – impact of inflation on cost of school meals but not much detail? How are 
schools coping? Central contract meant we could restrict increase for primary. Chair 
– MoL KS2 – MD – based on 90% take up.  
  
  
6  YOUTH SERVICES (Agenda Item 6) 

 
Keith Shipman introduced the report. Young Merton website (7k hits a year). Have to 
market directly to young people and also to parents. HAF is now available to book on 
an app. Wider youth service branding into family hubs.  
Young Parliamentarians offered insight into their experiences including how different 
media work and are effective in keeping young people informed. The YPs and the 
Youth Inspector all said they feel the Council is very good at giving young people an 
opportunity to engage. It was suggested that there should be another way to express 
interest in joining the Youth Parliament as sending an email will immediately make a 

Page 2

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


 

3 
 

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

lot of young people disengage with the process. They strongly advised disseminating 
information through schools. 
Panel Members discussed the importance of diversifying the tools used for 
engagement, including written letters as well as phone calls and social media. They 
also suggested remembering to use local ward councillors as a tool of engagement. 
KS will think best how to do this. 
Further discussion with Panel members regarding how long HAF will run for (current 
Cost of Living Support Fund allocation takes it up to May 2024). Regarding 
improvements to HAF for neurodiverse children, KS confirmed they have recently 
met with providers to discuss this. A questions about VAWG training engagement led 
to the suggestion from Councillor Brenda Fraser that Zoe Gallen be invited to a future 
CYP meeting. OL to Action. 
  
  
7  DEPARTMENTAL UPDATE (Agenda Item 7) 

 
Jane McSherry introduced the report and ran through the inspections currently being 
undertaken. ACTION - will come back on the timescale for the serious youth violence 
inspection. 
A Panel member asked about the CYP consultation “80% mostly or all the time safe” 
and where is the detail on this? SU confirmed that this is just quantitative data at the 
moment, qualitative is to come. Taking details to the Childrens Trust Board in 
December. 
A Panel member asked about attendance records and having more detail. Chair 
suggested this go to the School Standards Report. ACTION OL to follow up.  
Joan henry – p244 – where have out of borough moved to and who is supporting 
them? This is “natural movement” and then the new LA takes over. 
A Panel member asked for clarity around point 2.23 - 40% not completed in stat 20 
weeks. This is due to a low number of therapists and SEND specialists, and often 
any process that is taking over 20 weeks is because the time is being taken to get it 
really right. This is being constantly monitored, looking to improve performance.  
  
  
8  PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Agenda Item 8) 

 
Tom Procter introduced the report. 
  
  
9  WORK PROGRAMME (Agenda Item 9) 

 
Task group on self harm to Cabinet on 18th December 
Feb panel – cancel, and shift agenda items to Jan and March – agreed 
Jan – task group on youth funding  
  

Page 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


 

4 
 

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

  

Page 4

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


Committee: Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 25th January 2024 
Agenda item:  
Wards: All 

Subject:  Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual 
Report 
Chair/Lead officer:  
Aileen Buckton, Independent Chair, Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Jane McSherry, Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and Families 
Lead member: Cllr Brenda Fraser, Cabinet Member Children’s Services 
Contact officer: Sarah Slater, Policy & Partnerships Manager 

Recommendations:  
A. To note the content of the Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership (MSCP) 

Annual Report for the period 2022-23.  

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1. This report provides an overview of the Merton Safeguarding Children 

Partnership (MSCP) Annual Report which covers the period April 2022 to March 
2023. The full report can be found in Appendix 1 alongside a visual summary in 
Appendix 2. 

2 BACKGROUND  
2.1. The MSCP is required to produce and publish a report annually on actions 

taken by statutory partners and relevant agencies to safeguard children and 
promote their welfare and outline how effective those arrangements have been 
in practice. The MSCP has commissioned a one-page visual summary poster to 
sit alongside the detailed report, in response to positive feedback from our 
Young Scrutineer and the partnership on the 2021-22 version. 

 
3 DETAILS  
3.1. Whilst there remained continued pressures on safeguarding systems following 

the pandemic and exacerbated by the cost-of-living crisis, safeguarding partners 
in Merton have worked together to continuously improve our safeguarding 
systems and strengthen the voice of the child in our Partnership.  

3.2. During the reporting period, the partnership continued to be supported by our 
Young Scrutineer, Halima Mehmood, who worked in partnership with our 
Independent Scrutineer, Sarah Lawrence, and Independent Chair, Aileen 
Buckton. Our Independent Chair also chairs Merton Adults Safeguarding Board 
(MSAB) and both chairing roles were covered on an interim basis by Nicola 
Brownjohn during the report period, providing continuity during a period of 
sickness. Sharing an independent chair and holding our second Joint 
Safeguarding Conference in March 2023 has supported us to progress joint 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



working with adults’ colleagues including around “Think Family” and embedding 
learning from local adults and children’s learning reviews.   

3.3. Our Executive Group remained stable during the reporting period. We have 
since welcomed Ian Cameron as our Met Police representative, replacing 
Andrew Wadey. 

3.4. During 2022-23 work was progressed against our three thematic priorities; Early 
Hep and Neglect, Domestic Abuse and Think Family, and Contextual 
Safeguarding. The appended report provides further details about activity in 
these areas and the difference this has made to safeguarding practice locally. 
Our Independent Scrutineer and Young Scrutineer led a thorough piece of 
scrutiny on “What can MSCP do to prevent the adultification of black children in 
Merton?”, which included focus groups with children and young people to hear 
directly about their experiences. The MSCP also further strengthened our 
training and audit programmes and followed up on actions from the previous 
year’s Section 11 safeguarding audit. 

3.5. During 2022-23, the partnership oversaw the publication of one local child 
safeguarding practice review (LCSPR) for Franklyn. In addition, the partnership 
undertook two further rapid reviews for Child M and Child O following serious 
incident notifications submitted to Ofsted. The MSCP annual reports sets out 
some of the steps the partnership has taken to respond to these reviews and 
how learning has been embedded across the Partnership.  

3.6. Members may be particularly interested in exploring the learning from the 
MSCP’s local child safeguarding practice reviews, partnership reviews, and 
audits, which are all available on the MSCP’s website1. Seven-minute briefings 
are available to be widely disseminated among all professionals working to 
safeguard children and young people in Merton.   

3.7. Members may also be interested in the MSCP’s training offer which is available 
free of charge to all MSCP member agencies, the voluntary sector and 
independent sector agencies working with children, young people and their 
families in Merton. Places can be booked via the following link: Merton 
Safeguarding - Learning Management System.2 

 
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
4.1. N/A 

 
5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
5.1. The MSCP annual report has had input from all statutory partners as well as 

local agencies and the MSCP sub-group chairs. The draft was considered by 
the MSCP Full Partnership in October 2023, the Strategic Safeguarding Group 
in November 2023 and received formal sign off from the MSCP Executive 
partners in January 2024. The MSCP’s Independent Chair, Scrutineer and 
Young Scrutineer have had the opportunity to review and comment. The Annual 

 
1 https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/ 
2 https://training.safeguardinginmerton.org.uk/ 

Page 6

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/
https://training.safeguardinginmerton.org.uk/
https://training.safeguardinginmerton.org.uk/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/
https://training.safeguardinginmerton.org.uk/


Report will also be considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 23rd 
January and Cabinet in February. 

 
6 TIMETABLE 

N/A 
7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
7.1. None. 

 
8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
8.1. As outlined in the report. 

 
9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 
9.1. As outlined in the report.  

 
10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
10.1. As outlined in the report.  

 
11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
11.1. As outlined in the report and the MSCP’s Business Plan 23-25, available on the 
MSCP website.  

 
12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 

WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 
Appendix 1 – Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 
2022-23.  
Appendix 2 - Visual Summary Poster - Merton Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Annual Report 2022-23 
 

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

M E R T O N   S A F E G U A R D I N G   C H I L D R E N   P A R T N E R S H I P 

 

Annual Report 2022-2023 

 

 

 

P
age 9



 

2 

 

Contents 

 

 
Contents ................................................................................................... 2 

Foreword ................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction .............................................................................................. 3 

Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership ............................................. 6 

Reviewing and Developing Practice ................................................... 11 

Early Help and Neglect .......................................................................... 22 

Domestic Abuse & Think Family............................................................. 26 

Contextual Safeguarding ...................................................................... 30 

Looked After Children and Care Leavers ............................................ 34 

Annex 1: MSCP Budget and Spend 2022/23 ........................................ 35 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreword 
 

This report covers the work of the Merton Safeguarding 

Children Partnership (MSCP) during the period April 2022 to March 

2023, a year which saw pressures on safeguarding systems from the 

Covid-19 pandemic reducing, albeit with other pressures developing 

for children and families and local services, such as the cost-of-living 

crisis. In this year, the government launched their Stable Homes, Built 

On Love proposal based on the Independent Review of Children’s 

Social Care and the national review into the tragic murders of Arthur 

Labinjo-Hughes and Star Hobson, and committed to reforms aimed 

at promoting children’s welfare by supporting children’s families and 

the loving relationships around them. Focus on addressing 

disproportionality and promoting anti-racist practice continued to be 

a priority, in response to the Child Q review in Hackney alongside 

many other local and national factors. Strong partnership working 

with schools continued to be important, particularly in response to 

Everyone’s Invited and concerns around school attendance 

continuing to remain below pre-pandemic levels nationally.  

  

During 2022-23, the MSCP saw a period of stability after 

recruiting to our independent posts and permanent business support 

unit in the previous financial year. The Partnership’s Executive Group 

also remained consistent through the year. This allowed us to 

maintain a strong focus on delivering our priorities in the MSCP 

business plan, including further strengthening our multi-agency 

training programme, ongoing review of multi-agency datasets and 

delivering robust learning reviews and thematic scrutiny.  

 

Within this work, we are pleased to have gathered the voice 

of children and their families in various ways and are keen to continue 

building on this important work going forwards. We were delighted to 

hear from our Young Scrutineer, Halima Mehmood, and Independent 

Scrutineer, Sarah Lawrence, during the year, with their holistic and 

P
age 10



 

3 

 

child-focused approach to scrutiny, including on the adultification of 

black children. 

 

Our Independent Chair, Aileen Buckton, was unwell for a 

period and we were very grateful to Nicola Brownjohn for stepping in 

to provide interim cover and help maintain independent leadership 

of our partnership.  

 

Through working closely together with the Merton 

Safeguarding Adults Board (MSAB), including sharing an 

Independent Chair and delivering a second Joint Safeguarding 

Conference in March 2023, we have been able to progress joint 

working with adults’ colleagues including around “Think Family” and 

embedding learning from local adults and children’s learning 

reviews. 

 

We are immensely proud of the work of all our partners who 

work tirelessly with families to keep them safe and promote their 

welfare and wellbeing. We also remain highly ambitious for our 

children and families and hope the year ahead will bring further 

opportunities to improve how children and families experience our 

services.  

 

Justin Roper 

Director of Quality, SWL ICB on behalf of Gloria Rowland  

 

Ian Cameron 

Head of Safeguarding, Public Protection, Southwest BCU    

 

Jane McSherry 

Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and Families, 

London Borough of Merton 

 

 

 

Introduction  
 

The Children’s Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2018 requires each Local Authority area to 

establish arrangements for safeguarding and promoting the welfare 

of children. The Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership fulfills this 

role for the London Borough of Merton. More detail on our local 

arrangements can be found in our Partnership Agreement.  

 

Every 12 months the safeguarding partners must prepare and 

publish a report on what the safeguarding partners and relevant 

agencies for the local authority area have done as a result of the 

local safeguarding arrangements and outline how effective those 

arrangements have been in practice. 

 

This report provides an overview of the impact of the MSCP’s 

work on the safety and wellbeing of Merton’s children and families, 

as well as an update against the Partnership’s key priority areas 

outlined in the partnership’s business plan for 2021-23. These priorities 

are: 

 

 
 

Under the first priority area, the report will also include how the 

Partnership learns from scrutiny, audits and learning reviews (local 

child safeguarding practice reviews) to embed a culture of 

continuous improvement in our local safeguarding arrangements.  

  

Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Early Help and 
Neglect 

Domestic Abuse 
and Think Family 

Contextual 
Safeguarding

P
age 11

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/Final-Partnership-Agreement-July-2023.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/MSCP-Business-Plan-2021-2023.pdf


 

4 

 

Our Children & Young People 
 

1  
*Defined by Children Act 1989 as including children on child in need plans, child 

protection plans, looked after by local authorities, care leavers and disabled children. 

 

 

 
1 Data sources: 2021 Census, Merton School Census 2023, Merton SEN dashboard 

March 2023, DfE Children in Need statistics 2023. 
 

 

Data Overview 
 

Below is a brief overview of the key data included in this report. 

 

 
2 

MSCP Training programme 

 

• 792 multi-agency delegates trained through delivery of 63 

sessions of 36 separate courses/events  

• Significant increase maintained from 222 delegates during 

the pandemic in 2020-21 and small increase from 760 in 

previous year 2021-22 

• Attendance rate of 70% of the total bookings made (1,125) 

2 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) manages concerns and allegations 

against professionals and volunteers working with children in Merton 

 

We have 51,985 children and young 
people living in Merton

41,350 CYP 
are in school 
or full-time 
education 

36% school-
age children 

have English as 
an additional 

language

2,446 children 
with an 

Education, 
Health & Care 
Plan at March 

2023

1,229 children 
in need of help 
and protection 

at 31 March 
2023* 

Asian
20%

Black
11%

Mixed
13%

White
51%

Other ethnic 
group

5%

ETHNICITY OF MERTON CHILDREN

3 Serious 
Incident 

Notifications 
made by Local 

Authority

3 Rapid Reviews held

One Local Child 
Safeguarding Practice 
Review published for 
Franklyn

54 Child 
Death 

Reviews in 
South West 

London

81% of Child Death 
Reviews found no 

modifiable concerns 
(increase from 78%)

33% increase 
in contacts 
with LADO 
service since 

2021-22

360 LADO contacts in 22/23:

-35% regarding physical harm

-55% from education & early years 
settings

-56% of children had additional 
needs

P
age 12



 

5 

 

Children’s social care  

 

In 2022-23, Merton remained below London and national averages 

for the below children’s social care indicators. Compared to 

previous year (2022), Merton saw a: 
• Reduction in the rate of children with a child in need (CIN) plan from 

101.4 to 65.4 per 10,000 children at 31 March. This relates to a reduction 

from 484 children to 312 children with a CIN plan between March 2022 

and March 2023.3  

• Increase in the rate of children subject to child protection plans (CPP) 

from 20 to 33.6 per 10,000 children at 31 March. This relates to an 

increase from 94 children to 158 children with a CPP between March 

2022 and March 2023.  

• 26 of every 10,000 children in Merton are in care, in line with previous 

year and lower than the rate nationally (70) and across London (52). 

This relates to 122 children in care in Merton at March 2023. 

 
 

Re-referrals to Merton children’s social care were 18.3% during 

2022, in line with London average (18%) and remaining below 

national (21.5%). 

 
3 CIN plan reporting for CIN census is currently experimental statistics- local data 

provided here. Work is ongoing to ensure data accuracy. 

 

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 

 

In 2022/2023 the MARAC discussed 592 high risk and complex cases 

involving domestic abuse, 564 children were identified as part of 

these discussions. This is in line with an increase in the number of 

cases discussed at MARAC since the pandemic started in 2020. 
 

Figure 1: An overview of MARAC cases 2019/20 – 2022/23  

Year Number of 

Cases 

Discussed 

Number of 

Repeat cases 

% repeat 

cases 

Number of 

children in the 

household 

2020-21 576 234 41% 557 

2021-22 636 301 47% 639 

2022-23 592 259 44% 564 

 

Contextual Harm consultations  

 

During 2022-23, 58 contextual harm consultations were completed as 

per the pathway into the Multi-Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) 

panel (28 females and 30 males).  

 

 
 

P
age 13



 

6 

 

Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership 

 

Governance and Oversight 
 

The MSCP has two key documents, our Partnership Agreement 

and our Business Plan4, which provide an overview of the 

partnership’s agreed priorities, and the governance and oversight 

established to oversee delivery of them. 

 

Changes to governance implemented in 2021-22 are now well 

embedded, and partners fed back during consultation on the 

business plan for 2023-25 that structures, as outlined in the diagram 

below, were working well. This includes a monthly Executive of the 

three statutory partners for agile decision-making, a termly Full 

Partnership meeting including wider partners such as schools, 

providers and so on, and five subgroups meeting quarterly to drive 

forward workplans based on the partnership’s statutory duties and 

agreed priorities. Sub-group chairs also meet monthly to ensure that 

the work of sub-groups is coordinated and support with strategic 

updates to the Executive. 

 

Agency engagement has been strong overall, and strong 

multi-agency engagement in the delivery of statutory and non-

statutory processes demonstrate continued commitment from 

partners. The chairing of subgroups is shared across the three 

statutory partners and there has been a strong commitment to 

ensuring all relevant agencies are represented within these meetings.  

 
4 Dec 2021 Partnership Agreement and MSCP Business Plan 2021-2023 are 

available on request. Both documents have since been refreshed for 2023-

24, and therefore MSCP website reflects the updated versions. 

 
The Partnership also has three independent posts to support 

with our core duty to promote the welfare of children and monitor 

the strength of partnership working.  

 

• An Independent Chair 

• An Independent Scrutineer, and 

• A Young Scrutineer 

An Independent Chair, Aileen Buckton was recruited during 

2021-22. Nicola Brownjohn provided sickness cover from January 

2022 – March 2023 within the year this report refers to. Aileen and 

Nicola have provided independent challenge to our Partnership 

when chairing the Executive and the Full Partnership. Aileen, and 

Nicola whilst in post, also chaired the Merton Safeguarding Adults 

Board, facilitating stronger working relationships between the two 

safeguarding partnerships, including effective delivery of our second 

Joint Annual Conference in March 2023, themed on Domestic Abuse 

Safeguarding: “Learning from the Lived Experience of Trauma from 

Child to Adult”. 

The Executive 
Group

Policy & 
Training

Quality 
Assurance & 

Practice Review

Domestic Abuse 
& Think Family

Promote & 
Protect Young 

People

Early Help & 
Neglect

Safeguarding 
Children Full 
Partnership

Sub-Group 
Chairs

P
age 14

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/Final-Partnership-Agreement-July-2023.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/MSCP-Business-Plan-2023-2025.pdf


 

7 

 

 

Sarah Lawrence has been our Independent Scrutineer since 

February 2020, and Halima Mehmood has been our Young Scrutineer 

since May 2021.  Both have developed strong working relationships 

with partners in Merton, enabling robust and informative scrutiny of 

key themes to help the MSCP embed improvements to safeguarding 

practice.  

Our Young Scrutineer role places us within the 29% of local 

safeguarding partnerships nationally, who involve young people in a 

scrutiny role5. 

 

 

Business Plan refresh 

 

During 2022-23, work began to refresh the MSCP business plan 

for 2023-25. The positive feedback on existing governance structures 

was considered and therefore, although priorities have changed 

slightly and a set of cross-cutting themes have been introduced, the 

above governance structures have remained with small tweaks to 

 
5 Independent Scrutiny and Local Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Arrangements 

the focus of the three thematic subgroups (and their titles alongside 

this).  

To further build on joint working with the Merton Safeguarding 

Adults Board (MSAB) and ensure effective senior leadership oversight 

from the statutory partners of both partnerships (local authority, 

integrated care board and police), a new Joint Strategic 

Safeguarding Group will also be established during 2023-24. It is 

proposed the group will meet twice yearly and be chaired by the 

London Borough of Merton Chief Executive. There is also a proposal 

to establish a joint Think Family & Transitional Safeguarding subgroup 

which will be accountable to the MSCP Executive Group and the 

MSAB Board. 

 

From April 2023, the MSCP governance has therefore been 

agreed as follows: 

 

 
 

“As the outgoing Young Scrutineer, I’m really pleased that the 

MSCP has both developed and matured in youth voice 

inclusion. It is crucial to maintain this through improving 

accessibility, specifically for disabled and marginalized children 

across the Borough, as this ensures that we continue to provide 

informed insights on children’s safeguarding concerns. 

I am grateful for the time I have spent working with the MSCP 

and Sarah Lawrence, the Independent Scrutineer, and proud of 

the work we have achieved.” 

 

Halima Mehmood, Young Scrutineer, MSCP 

P
age 15

https://www.vkpp.org.uk/publications/publications-and-reports/reports/independent-scrutiny-and-local-safeguarding-children-partnership-arrangements-august-2022/
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/publications/publications-and-reports/reports/independent-scrutiny-and-local-safeguarding-children-partnership-arrangements-august-2022/


 

8 

 

Scrutiny Activity 
 

The MSCP’s Independent Scrutineer and Young Scrutineer 

work to a jointly owned workplan and report regularly to the 

Executive.  The workplan uses best practice models for Independent 

Scrutiny including the ‘Checklist for Independent Scrutiny’ published 

by Vulnerability Knowledge and Practice Programme (VKPP) and 

the ‘Six Steps to Independent Scrutiny’.  

 

“What can MSCP do to prevent the adultification of black children in 

Merton?” 

During 22-23, the Scrutineers undertook their annual thematic 

review based on the above question. This followed learning identified 

in the Child Q LCSPR in Hackney, national research and local work 

focused on disproportionality in the justice system by the Youth Crime 

Prevention Executive Board.  

Importantly, our Independent and Young Scrutineer spoke 

directly to young people living and learning in Merton to understand 

their experience of adultification and how to improve the 

Partnership’s response to the issue. This included focus groups with 

children in secondary schools, special schools/colleges, 

conversations with children working with the Youth Parliament and 

Our Voice children in care council. Children told them about lots of 

examples of adultification and how this had negatively affected 

them, and other children: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The review also included a survey, and meetings with 

practitioners that work with children in the borough including those 

working in schools and colleges, police, health and local authority, 

including children’s services and community safety.   

 

At the MSCP’s Full Partnership meeting in March 2023, our scrutineers 

presented the findings of their adultification scrutiny. Key themes 

identified were: 

• Race and Racism 

• Children's safety, children's rights and vulnerability 

• Disproportionality & Bias 

• Attitudes and Language 

• Expectations and Pressure 

• Trust in Services. 

In follow-up, the Executive made a commitment to respond to the 

recommendations including a Task & Finish group and to build on 

existing work to address racism across the partnership. Going 

forwards into 2023-24, our Young Scrutineer will also lead the 

presentation of the findings to other forums, including the Youth 

Crime Prevention Executive Board, Children’s Trust and delivering 

workshops at the Race Equality in Schools Conference. 

 

Recommendations from the scrutiny work continue to be 

incorporated into the Partnership’s ongoing workplans. Some 

examples of these include (this is not an exhaustive list):  

• Developing and delivering adultification training to the 

partnership to raise awareness and help professionals to guard 

against it in their practice. 

• Incorporating learning from the adultification scrutiny into the 

refresh of the substance misuse in schools’ procedure. 

“We are automatically 

labelled as aggressive for 

making a point” 

“Whenever anyone 

mentions drugs they 

always look at us black 

children first…” 

 

“You don’t realise its 

racism because you're 

used to it” 

“In sports we are 

expected to be better, 

and get criticised if we 

aren’t the best” 

 

P
age 16



 

9 

 

• Incorporating learning from the sexual harassment and 

violence in schools & colleges scrutiny into the refresh of the 

harmful sexual behaviour policy. 

Further Independent Scrutiny activity undertaken in 22-23  

 

• Work with the Full Partnership and sub-groups to ensure focus 

on children’s and families voices in all MSCP activity.  

• Chairing an annual Section 11 (of the Children Act) peer 

review session of partner duties, to scrutinise partners progress 

in taking actions to improve from previous review. 

• Research, feedback and challenge to partners on issues 

raised nationally – including learning from cases via the 

National Child Safeguarding Review Panel, and reviews such 

as the Care Review. 

• Disseminating learning from previous scrutiny on sexual 

violence and harassment in schools and colleges, including via 

visual summary poster (see below). 

• Presenting annual report to Overview and Scrutiny Panel, 

responding to debate and raising awareness of key 

safeguarding issues. 

• Review and input to 21-22 MSCP Annual Report, ensuring a 

focus on assessing impact on children.  

 
 

Reflections from Independent Scrutineer & Young Scrutineer 

 

“Our joint work with children, practitioners and with the MSCP during this year has 

provided us with some very rich information enabling us to assess how well the partners 

work together to safeguard children in Merton.   

In this year we heard from over 45 children about their lived experience of adultification 

and racism, how this impacted on their safety, and their ideas that can bring about 

change. Their insights were powerful and very hard to hear. Children gave many 

examples of the harm and negative impact of adultification – often complex and 

detailed, examples can be found in our findings document. What was striking to us, and 

a recurrent theme not only for Merton to consider, was the sense that racism and 

adultification happens to black children every day, in all aspects of their lives – in 

relationships, in school, in the community, at home.  In one child’s words;  

“This is part of my ’normal life’, it happens every day” 

P
age 17



 

10 

 

Children told us that their negative experiences are exacerbated where intersecting 

issues exist, for example because of their gender, special educational need or disability 

and / or their status as a care giver or young parent. For example; 

“As a young black parent, I am treated like an adult, no exceptions….You 

are expected to know everything straight away” 

Learning from our engagement with children has shaped the recommendations we made 

to the MSCP. We are aware of the next steps planned in response to the scrutiny locally 

and will be supporting this work and, with MSCP, will seek assurance of progress 

throughout the coming year. We want to take this opportunity to thank the children for 

their honesty and trust in us in this process.  We also want to express our gratitude to 

the many practitioners that engaged with us in this work, including those that work with 

Our Voice, Youth Parliament and Merton schools and colleges for enabling independent 

and open engagement with children that they work with.   

Our wider reflections on the MSCP, and local leadership of safeguarding services this year 

are predominantly positive.  Attendance at strategic and political meetings has shown to 

us that safeguarding is a priority in the borough, and we are encouraged by the 

commitments made to develop safeguarding services at this high level. Partners 

demonstrated their ability to adapt to changing needs of families in feedback to each other 

at MSCP meetings.  We therefore feel confident that MSCP can act on ‘stubborn’ 

safeguarding issues and has prioritised them in future planning for multi-agency work.  

While we have identified learning and improvement that is needed through scrutiny, 

including co production, accessibility, and engagement with children, we feel confident that 

the MSCP is a mature and developed safeguarding partnership that can continue to 

respond to ever present challenges that face children and families at this time.   

 

Sarah Lawrence 

Independent Scrutineer MSCP 

Halima Mehmood  

Young Scrutineer MSCP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Work with Merton Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

The MSCP continued to work closely with the Merton 

Safeguarding Adults Board (MSAB) during 22-23, including delivering 

activities together and attendance of key representatives to link the 

MSCP Exec and Full Partnership to the MSAB Board. The MSCP and 

MSAB continued to share an Independent Chair, including via interim 

cover, which further supported this. 

 

 
 

In March 2023, the MSCP delivered a second joint conference 

with the Merton Safeguarding Adults Board on Domestic Abuse 

Safeguarding: “Learning from the Lived Experience of Trauma from 

Child to Adult”. These themes were jointly agreed by representatives 

from the MSCP Policy and Training sub-group and the MSAB Learning 

and Development sub-group. The post-event evaluation highlighted 

the event was well received as per the above chart. 

 

P
age 18



 

11 

 

Feedback from participants included: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The MSCP also commissioned training on Mental Capacity 

Act and Deprivation of Liberty for children and young people, which 

was identified as part of joint work with MSAB around 

implementation of Liberty Protection Safeguards. 

 

As noted in the earlier governance section, plans have been 

agreed during 22-23 to further strengthen existing links between the 

two partnerships through establishing two new groups during 23-24: 

 

 

Reviewing and Developing Practice 
 

Learning Reviews  
 

During 22/23, there were three serious incident notifications, 

one of which led to a local child safeguarding practice review 

(LCSPR) for Franklyn.  

 

Given the publication of three LCSPRs (Jason, Baby Grace, and 

Ananthi), and two partnership reviews (Eddie, and SUDI review) during 

the previous year 2021/22, there was also continued focus on sharing 

and embedding the learning from these children’s cases. 

 

All our learning review full reports and 7 minute learning 

briefings can be found on our website at the relevant webpages. 

 
Review & link Published Themes 

Jason LCSPR 
Jun 2021 

Contextual Safeguarding; 

Child Criminal Exploitation  

Baby Grace LCSPR 

Aug 2021 

Non-Accidental Injury;  

Support with crying babies;  

Domestic abuse 

Ananthi LCSPR 

Nov 2021 

Parental health; 

Impact of Covid-19 - health 

services and school closure; 

Use of interpreters  

Eddie Partnership 

Review 

Nov 2021 Contextual Safeguarding;  

CYP Mental Health/trauma 

informed approaches 

SUDI Review Feb 2022 Housing/homelessness, professional 

curiosity, safe sleeping 

Franklyn LCSPR May 2023 Trauma-informed practice; 

Clarity of services for families; 

Disproportionality; family voice;  

Commissioning care packages  

 

•Chaired by LB of Merton Chief Executive and 
co-chaired by SW BSU Chief Superintendent

•Provide senior oversight of the MSCP and 
MSAB, including annual reports, priority 
setting and key themes

Strategic 
Safeguarding Group

•Chair to be agreed

•Delivery of activity around key themes for 
both partnerships, including but not limited to 
Think Family, transitional and contextual 
safeguarding, housing conditions

Think Family & 
Transitional 
Safeguarding 

Subgroup

“Attending this event will help me be 

more professionally curious, listen to 

the voice of the child more, and 

think family and more systemically.” 

“Sandra story - having 

people with lived 

experience brings so 

much more meaning 

and learning - with 

them bringing a 

perspective and details 

that professionals can't 

possibly bring.” 

“That lead councillors attended and 

showed their passion for the work and what 

the council are working on to improve 

services for the residents of Merton.” 

P
age 19

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/guidance-policies-procedures/local-and-national-child-safeguarding-practice-reviews-and-scrs/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/training/7-minutes-briefings/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/training/7-minutes-briefings/


 

12 

 

Child L / ‘Franklyn’ – LCSPR  

 

Franklyn was a baby born with a life-limiting disability and 

complex health needs. He died in hospital aged four-and-a-half 

months old, after suffering an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, in June 

2022. At the time of his death, Franklyn had been subject to a Child 

Protection Plan for seven weeks due to concerns around domestic 

abuse and parental substance misuse. 

The Franklyn review was approved in early 2023, and learning 

was shared within the partnership including at the March 2023 Full 

Partnership meeting. The final report was published in May 2023, 

following Police investigation concluding, allowing for lunch & learn 

and wider sharing of learning to take place during 23/24. 

 

Rapid reviews 

 

There were two serious incidents which the rapid review panels 

concluded did not require a further LCSPR - for Child M and Child O6. 

Some of the themes raised within these reviews included: trusted 

relationships & attempts to achieve positive engagement; 

collaboration, child’s voice in safety planning, timely information 

sharing and use of escalation processes; school attendance and 

creative approaches, and prioritisation of safeguarding first 

approach. 

 

During 2022-23, the MSCP also contributed to a Surrey rapid 

review for a young person who had previously been open to Merton 

children’s social care. This also did not proceed to LCSPR. Learning 

was shared with the MSCP networks. 

 

 

 

 
6 Decision reversed for Child M following national panel feedback and 

review by our Independent Chair. LCSPR to be undertaken during 2023-24. 

What we did in response to the reviews 

 

The MSCP took a range of actions in response to the reviews 

outlined above. In addition to final reports for each review, the chair 

and lead author for each review helped develop learning materials 

for dissemination across the partnership, which are published 

alongside the full reports on the MSCP website.  

 

  
 

We continued with our well-received ‘Lunch and Learn’ events, 

launched in 21/22, to share the learning from our reviews and audits. 

These provide an opportunity for report writers and practitioners to 

explore the themes and recommendations from the reviews and 

embed the learning into their future work and practice. The MSCP also 

worked with agencies to embed learning from reviews into multi-

agency and single agency training and events such as delivering 

presentations at the Youth Crime Prevention Executive Board, 

Strategic Multi-Agency Child Exploitation Panel (MACE) and Children 

Schools and Families’ Practice Week and Learning & Improvement 

Board.  

P
age 20

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/guidance-policies-procedures/local-and-national-child-safeguarding-practice-reviews-and-scrs/


 

13 

 

 

The MSCP’s Section 11 audit 2021/22 identified that 

disseminating and embedding learning from reviews was a particular 

strength for the Partnership, demonstrating the impact of this work.   

 

Learning from the practice reviews has also directly impacted 

on the strategic work of the MSCP and its training programme. During 

22-23, the MSCP continued to implement its contextual safeguarding 

strategy and action plan, as highlighted in the below contextual 

safeguarding section to respond to issues raised in the Jason and 

Eddie reviews, as well as two rapid reviews during the current year.   

 

 
Image from MSCP contextual safeguarding strategy 

 

The actions from the 2022-23 rapid reviews are being overseen 

by the Quality Assurance & Practice Review subgroup. In addition, 

due to contextual safeguarding and criminal exploitation themes, the 

Strategic MACE panel has embedded actions from one rapid review 

into their own workplan. 

 

Local reviews continue to highlight the importance of trauma-

informed practice (e.g., Franklyn), although positively there was 

evidence of good practice around this seen alongside areas for 

improvement. Multiple agencies have an internal offer around 

trauma-informed practice, however the MSCP has agreed to include 

a trauma-informed practice course as part of the core MSCP training 

programme to enhance consistency. The 2022-23 Joint Conference 

with MSAB included a keynote speech on trauma-informed practice. 

 

Learning from Child O rapid review has been shared with 

Children Missing Education panel membership to ensure it is 

considered within panel decisions and actions, and secondary 

behaviour leads. There will also be a move towards strengthened 

attendance tracking based on DfE requirements during 2023-24. 

 

In response to 2022-23 reviews, the Section 11 audit for 2023-24 

will be amended to provide assurance from agencies around: 

• Trauma-informed practice (Franklyn) 

• Safeguarding First approach (Child O, Child M) 

• Equality, diversity & inclusion policies (Franklyn, Child O) 

• Think Family approach (Franklyn, Child M, alongside various 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews and LCSPRs from previous years) 

The MSCP also delivered training to embed learning from reviews 

from previous years, for example: 

• Baby Grace: the MSCP has commissioned and launched the 

ICON programme across the partnership, which shares 

important messages with new and expectant parents about 

coping with crying. More details are highlighted in the Early 

Help & Neglect section. The MSCP also commissioned Inner 

Strength Network (ISN) to deliver multi-agency training on 

Having Difficult Conversations.    

• Jason: No Recourse to Public Funds training was 

commissioned and delivered. 

 

P
age 21



 

14 

 

Learning from national reviews  

 

There continued to be considerable learning for safeguarding 

partnerships nationally, following the 2022 publication of the Child 

Protection in England report on the tragic deaths of Arthur and Star.  

Work continued into 2022-23 including the launch of two refreshed 

MSCP documents: Bruising in Non Independently Mobile Infants and 

Children policy and  Pre-Birth Protocol and Assessment Tool. 

 

In March 2022, the concerning case of Child Q in Hackney 

reminded us of the ongoing concerns around the adultification of 

Black children and the importance of professional challenge across 

partnerships. The MSCP chose this theme for the 2022-23 scrutiny topic 

led by Independent and Young Scrutineers, alongside commissioning 

training from Listen Up, delivered in part during 2022-23. The training 

was commissioned jointly with Wandsworth and Croydon 

safeguarding children partnerships. Plans for 2023-24 include 

developing a local training course that can be delivered across the 

three partnerships routinely. 

 
Independent scrutiny 2022-23 – quotes from children

 

 
7 Safeguarding children with disabilities in residential settings - GOV.UK 

 

Merton has contributed towards and considered the 

recommendations of the national review into safeguarding children 

with disabilities in residential settings7. In Merton, the Phase 1 audit of 

two children that met criteria was completed by children’s social care 

with oversight from MSCP Executive.  

 

The review highlighted good relationship-based practice with 

the young people. All the professionals working with the young people 

knew them very well and had developed significant and meaningful 

relationships. No significant concerns were raised through this review 

however there were areas identified to strengthen practice as a multi-

agency partnership, including strengthening transitions pathways 

between children’s services and adults and developing monitoring of 

children’s placements. Learning was shared with the QAPR subgroup 

with areas for improvement picked up by relevant services. A focus 

on implementing the national recommendations from Phase 2 will be 

a key priority in 2023-24. 

 

The relevant MSCP subgroups also considered learning from 

the national panel reports published on the management of bruising 

in non-mobile infants and multi-agency safeguarding and domestic 

abuse, including incorporating findings into relevant policies under 

review.  

 

The national panel published their annual report detailing 

themes from LCSPRs alongside rapid review examples, which were 

reviewed by the QAPR Subgroup and the Full Partnership. The themes 

outlined in the report were considered during development of the 

refreshed MSCP business for 2023-25, to ensure that the MSCP was 

focusing appropriately on nationally important themes alongside 

local priorities. 

 

 

P
age 22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078488/ALH_SH_National_Review_26-5-22.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078488/ALH_SH_National_Review_26-5-22.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Bruising-Guidance-Final-.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Bruising-Guidance-Final-.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Pre-birth-Guidance-final-1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-with-disabilities-in-residential-settings


 

15 

 

Child Death Overview Panel (Summary of Caseload 2022-23) 

 

The Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership works alongside 

the Child Death Overview Panel, which reviews all child deaths in 

Merton. A full report of activity of the Child Death Overview Panel can 

be found in the CDOP annual report. The Child Death Review process 

is a systematic process whereby the circumstances surrounding the 

death of a child under the age of 18 are reviewed and analysed to 

identify any actual or potential opportunities for prevention and 

improvement in health and other agencies to prevent similar deaths 

in the future. 

 

The panel commenced reporting on feedback activity with 

the SW London Patient Safety Surveillance group in 2022-23 based on 

shared learning from SW London Child Death Overview Panel reviews 

as part of the CDOP’s contribution to the organizational response to 

child deaths in the integrated care system (ICS).     

 

As part of the upcoming National Patient Safety Strategy, the 

purpose is to provide professionals with a resource of learning and 

recommendations from child death reviews. Child death reviews can 

contribute to collaborative learning, for better health, public health, 

social care, and safety provision during the reporting year to reduce 

child deaths.   

 

The report covers statistical information from the 6 South West 

London boroughs of Merton, Sutton, Kingston and Richmond upon 

Thames, Croydon, and Wandsworth. As of 1st April 2023, there were 

64 new notifications of child death and 97 open cases. Child death 

notifications have returned to pre-COVID-19 levels of child deaths per 

annum.  In 2021-22 there was a reduction of 16 deaths which was 

attributed to the social distancing and public health measures 

implemented by the regulations of the response to the COVID-19 

Pandemic. For the 2022-23 reporting year:  

• Fifty-four (54) Child death reviews were completed. 

• There were fifty-four local Child Death Review Meetings 

completed at SW London Hospitals, three at other tertiary level 

hospitals outside the local area, and eight Child Death 

Overview Panel Meetings under the new working 

arrangements for Child Death Reviews.  

• In 2022-23, 81% of child deaths had no modifiable concerns 

which was more than the previous year at 78% of child deaths 

in SW London.   

• For unexpected deaths notified across SW London during the 

2022-23 reporting year, twenty-six Joint Agency Response 

(JAR) meetings were initiated. 

• 48% of child death reviews were completed in six months, with 

52% completed up to 12 months from notification. As a result 

of delays in obtaining post-mortem reports and coroners’ 

inquests, 20% were over one year old at the time of review. 

 

Local Authority Designated Officer service (2022-23 overview) 

 

The Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership works alongside the 

LADO service. The service manages concerns and allegations against 

professionals and volunteers working with children in Merton. A full 

report of activity of the LADO can be found in the LADO annual 

report.  The LADO post within Merton is a permanent role covered by 

one full-time LADO.  Since February 2023, the LADO service expanded 

to include a part time LADO who covers 1.5 days per week.  

 

• This additional capacity has enhanced the ability of the service 

to manage the increase in contact with the service which has 

risen by 33%, from 271 contacts in 2021-22 to 360 in 2022-23. 

• Early years and education settings have the most contact with 

the service, accounting for 55% of all contacts. 

• Concerns about physical harm continue to be the primary 

reason for contacting the LADO with 35% of all contacts 

P
age 23



 

16 

 

relating to concerns about physical harm. This is a slight 

increase from last year’s figure of 30%. 

• Children with additional needs are referred in high numbers 

(56%). This is a broad category and includes pre-school 

children, children with special educational needs and/ or 

disabilities, children looked after by the local authority and 

children subject to child protection and child in need plans.  

Most consultations do not progress to allegations meetings which 

suggests that advice is being sought around issues that could be dealt 

with as complaints or practice issues with LADO oversight, rather than 

allegations against individual staff members. 

 

The establishment of a regular training programme and work to 

enhance the profile of the role within Merton are contributing factors 

to the increase in contacts over the last year.  The LADO continues to 

provide training via the MSCP, reaching 32 multi-agency delegates 

during 2022/23, and has delivered bespoke training to local settings.  

Awareness raising of the role and training remained a key priority for 

2022/23. 

 

The LADO has worked with the MSCP and another local authority 

to produce a set of leaflets aimed at schools, parents/ carers and 

after school provision.  The leaflets are aimed at keeping children safe 

in after school activities and are being circulated across the borough 

(see Safer After School campaign on MSCP website). 

 

 
 

The LADO continues to liaise with regulatory bodies and to 

make referrals when there are concerns about potential risk of harm 

and the suitability of that individual within the children’s workforce. 

 

The LADO service has sought feedback from a range of 

settings.  The feedback has been positive however the responses 

have come mainly from the education sector. We need to ensure that 

our next evaluation includes more views from our colleagues in the 

wider statutory and voluntary sector.  Some comments from referring 

agencies have been provided below. 

 

 
 

What do you think we do that is 
good?

“Being very quick to respond to concerns and to 
offer guidance and support every step of the way”.

“The outcome and advice was comprehensive and 
I was able to share with all parties easily”. 

“LADO is easily accessible; happy to discuss 
concerns and offer advice”

“Easy service to access, quick to respond and very 
knowledgeable” (Education setting). (Placement)

What do you think we could do 
better?

“Perhaps offer more frequent training to 
community groups”? 

“Training/CPD sessions have been valuable; please 
can we have more of these please”.

“Timelines when outside agencies are involved 
such as police- this can be problematic”. 

“Perhaps updates on ongoing situations although 
this was fairly good”. 

P
age 24

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/parents/safer-after-school/


 

17 

 

Learning from audit 
 

During 22-23, the MSCP continued to establish the multi-

agency audit programme aligned with its commitment to continuous 

improvement, and to ensure the MSCP meets expectations set out in 

Working Together 2018 to learn from multi-agency audits. 
 
Section 11 

 

The MSCP undertakes bi-annual Section 11 audits, in line with 

the Working Together guidance, to help organisations in Merton 

undertake their own quality assurance processes to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children. More information on the previous 

21-22 audit can be found in our Section 11 learning summary.  

 

To ensure actions had been progressed and learning was 

being implemented effectively from the 21-22 audit, the MSCP held 

a ”One-Year-On” Peer Review session in January 2023.  

 

The 16 organisations who submitted an audit response were 

invited and this was chaired by our Independent Scrutineer and 

Young Scrutineer. Examples of progress included: 

• To strengthen voice of the child strategically, Young 

Scrutineer attended the 5 sub-groups and the Full Partnership 

to explore this and share findings of the Young Residents 

Survey. Participation and the child's voice is further 

embedded into 2023-25 business plan with each subgroup 

required to agree activity for their workplans around this.  

• Regular promotion of the Escalation Policy and several 

sessions held on having 'difficult conversations' to support with 

healthy professional challenge. 

• Commissioned wider training opportunities on mental health 

and wellbeing, in particular self-harm and suicide, Kooth 

mental health resources.  

• Scrutineers contributed to review of MSCP Learning and 

Development strategy. 

• Child-friendly version of St George’s Mental Health Trust 

safeguarding policy developed, and a section written by 

young people. 

 

Multi-agency audits  

 

During 2021-22, the MSCP developed a modest audit 

programme, with a rotating chair to share ownership across partners, 

and overseen by the QA sub-group. All audit briefings are published 

on our website to support dissemination of learning.  

 

During 22-23, the MSCP led a multi-agency audit on 

contextual safeguarding, which concluded:  

 

 
 

•Good inter-agency communication and 
information sharing.

•Voice of the child – routinely captured alongside 
voice of their family, even where engagement had 
been difficult to achieve.

•Evidence of work to build positive relationships.

What is 
working well?

• Information and decisions could have been 
shared more quickly after key meetings and 
across agency boundaries

•Although services championed the use of 
trusted adults, further support could be offered 
to help with building of strong, positive 
relationships between young people and 
professionals supporting them.

Themes for 
improvement

P
age 25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Section-11-2021-22-Findings.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/about-us/mscp-qa-and-learning-and-development-framework/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/about-us/mscp-qa-and-learning-and-development-framework/


 

18 

 

The findings were shared widely, including at the MSCP Full 

Partnership, relevant subgroups and the Strategic MACE panel. 

 

Actions that have taken place as a result include: 

- MSCP training programme reviewed by Policy & Training 

subgroup to ensure professional curiosity is picked as key theme 

across relevant courses. 

- Development of relationship-based practice training for multi-

agency audience, to build up knowledge of children’s social 

care practice within the partnership (to launch in 2023-24) 

- 2023-24 audit theme will focus on national review into murders of 

Arthur Labinjo-Hughes and Star Hobson to further review core 

multi-agency safeguarding practice. 

- Plans for a multi-agency roundtable to consider and propose 

approaches to improve information sharing following key 

meetings. 

- Cross-boundary working is key theme within 2023-24 LCSPR for 

Child M with engagement from Sutton and Croydon where 

further learning will be explored on this.  

The recommendations from the audit are being overseen by 

the QAPR sub-group, and relevant actions have been added to the 

workplan for the PPYP subgroup which focuses on contextual 

safeguarding.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning and Development  
 

Training Programme 2022-23 
 

The MSCP training programme is overseen by the quarterly 

Policy and Training sub-group. The MSCP offered 63 sessions of 36 

separate courses/events in 22-23, reaching 792 multi-agency 

delegates through the year. Feedback indicated that the option to 

access training remotely enabled more partners to participate and 

therefore, the MSCP continued to deliver most courses virtually.  

 

The training programme is mostly delivered in house, by a 

range of partners across the MSCP. Courses and training themes are 

derived from sub-group work plans and recommendations (via Policy 

& Training Sub-Group), as well as from learning from case reviews. The 

training programme for 22/23 included training modules on three of 

our thematic priorities (Domestic Abuse, Early Help via Effective 

Support for Families, and Contextual Safeguarding), as well as a range 

of core safeguarding training. It also included a wide range of courses 

to respond to ongoing or emerging concerns:   

 

 

Adultification

Mental Capacity 
Act and 

Deprivation of 
Liberty for CYP

Through the Kids 
Eyes

Having Difficult 
Conversations 

ICON - Train the 
Trainer

No Recourse to 
Public Funds

Myth of Invisible 
Men Seminar 

Key Principles in 
Responding to 
Sexual Violence 

P
age 26



 

19 

 

In the previous year, the MSCP introduced ‘Lunch and Learns’ 

to share bitesize learning from emerging themes from our learning 

reviews, which have continued to be successful in engaging higher 

numbers of delegates from a wider range of partners.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This year we expanded this to pick up other key pieces of 

partnership activity, such as the launch of new guidance and toolkits, 

as highlighted in the diagram below:  

 

  
 

To support with sharing learning and partnership updates with 

professionals and children, young people and families, the Policy & 

Training subgroup approved funding of visual summaries of the 2021-

22 annual report (see below) and the sexual violence in schools & 

colleges scrutiny (see Scrutiny section). These were positively received 

and it has been agreed to develop similar visual summaries in future. 

 

 
 

Impact of our Training Programme 

 

During the 2022/23 period, the MSCP offered 63 occurrences 

of 36 separate courses/events. We offered a total of 1,726 training 

places; we had 1,125 bookings and 792 attended, an attendance 

rate of 70% of total bookings. This has dropped slightly compared to 

last year`s attendance rate of 74%. However, as the chart below 

MSCP 
Lunch & 
Learns 

2022-23

ICON - support 
with crying babies 
(new programme 

rollout)

Anti-Bulling 
Toolkit (launch 

event)

Supporting YP 
Who Experience 
Suicidal Ideation 

or Self-Harm 
(policy launch)

Sudden 
Unexpected Infant 

Death (learning 
from review)

Mental Health 
with Kooth 
(advice on 
resources)

“I enjoy the lunch and learn sessions, 

they provide essential information and 

allow for multi-agency discussions.” 

P
age 27



 

20 

 

shows, there has been a small increase in total numbers since last year 

and has continued to be above pre-pandemic training attendance. 

 

 
 

The services with the highest number of attendees at MSCP 

training events during 2022/23 were London Borough of Merton 

Children Schools and Families (Children’s Social Care and Youth 

Inclusion), Education (Schools, Colleges & Nurseries), Central London 

Community Healthcare Trust, South West London St. George`s Mental 

Health Trust (SWL STG MHT). Compared with last year, attendance by 

SWL STG MHT has improved significantly. Attendance by Police 

colleagues has also improved, increasing from 1 registered attendee 

last year, to 10 during 22-23. We are continuing to prioritise increasing 

this further. The Policy and Training sub-group monitors attendance at 

training by agencies regularly and follows up with agencies where 

take up is lower.  

 

Evaluation 

 

  Improving the rate of return for evaluation forms was a priority 

during 2022-23.  To date, 103 evaluation forms were returned via the 

Learning Management System. This is a significant improvement from 

last year (56 forms returned).  The MSCP provides summaries of 

evaluation feedback to trainers, to inform the development of the 

training programme. It continues to be a priority to increase the 

evaluation response rate.  

 

Feedback forms are distributed to participants via the Phew 

online platform. This year, feedback from participants resulted in the 

following average scores: 

 

• How relevant to your current role do you think this topic is?   

(1, `not at all`, to 4, `extremely`) – 3.49 average, out of 4

 

 

• The training facilitator's skills were... (from 1, `poor` to 4, 

`excellent`) - 3.70 average 

 

• Rate to what extent you agree that Equal Opportunities and 

Anti-Discriminatory practice were integrated (from 1, `not at 

all`, to 4, `extremely`) - 3.44 average, out of 4 

 

Although the average ratings were similar, there was a slightly 

lower score given for anti-discriminatory practice and equal 

opportunities (3.44). This is fed back to trainers to ensure they are 

sufficiently incorporating this in design of their course.  

 

We also use pre-event and post-event forms. By asking the same 

questions before and after training, the MSCP assesses improvement 

in attendee knowledge and confidence. The two “learning gain” 

questions are assessed on a scale of 1 (low) to 5 (high): 

P
age 28



 

21 

 

 
 

The above chart highlights an average “learning gain” increase 

of 1.2, almost double last year`s increase of 0.66. This reflects an 

improvement in attendee confidence and knowledge. 

 

Quotes from our training courses are shared throughout the 

report, including highlighting the positive impact attendees felt the 

training will have on their practice with children and families.  

 

The theme and content of the MSCP training programme and the 

sub-group workplans is informed by multi-agency data and its 

analysis alongside the quality of multi-agency practice from audits 

and learning reviews. Each of the sub-groups conduct performance 

monitoring as standing items on their agenda to ensure that trends 

and themes identified are better developed, understood and 

responded to. Where training gaps are identified, the Business 

Support Unit works with the Policy and Training sub-group to source 

suitable courses. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

MSCP-MSAB conference 

 

The annual joint conference was attended by over 160 multi-

agency delegates. It provided an opportunity to share practice 

between children and adults’ practitioners, particularly focused on 

domestic abuse safeguarding (children and adults), trauma-

informed practice.  

 

Two young people bravely shared their lived experience, after 

involvement in a Safeguarding Adult Review following their mother’s 

death, with powerful messages for all partners in attendance. Some 

of the feedback from delegates about the event and how it would 

support their practice can be found in the MSAB and the Domestic 

Abuse & Think Family sections. 

 

Communicating with the Partnership 

 

Alongside training and events, the MSCP continued to share 

learning and relevant updates with the wider Partnership during 22-

23 through various routes. This has included: 

• maintaining the MSCP website to ensure content for 

professionals is up to date, accurate and reflects best 

practice, including addition of new pages such as ICON / 

Abusive Head Trauma in response to local reviews 

• A bi-monthly news bulletin to help share local, regional and 

national safeguarding news and best practice with partners, 

alongside promotion of the MSCP training programme.  

• A mailing list to share relevant updates more quickly and 

encourage sign-ups to training programme where spaces 

remain available. 

 

Partners have fed back that they find these methods helpful, 

particularly for keeping up to date with the MSCP’s training offer and 

to understand learning from learning reviews and audits. 

  

P
age 29

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/abusive-head-trauma-and-icon/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/abusive-head-trauma-and-icon/


 

22 

 

Early Help and Neglect 
 

One of the MSCP’s priorities for 2022-23 was Early Help and 

Neglect.  A dedicated sub-group, comprising a range of 

partnership agencies progressed actions to improve our early 

help offer and response to neglect.  

 

What have we achieved this year? 
 

After launching our Early Help Strategy and Effective 

Support for Families Model in 2021,  focus continued on delivery 

and ensuring the new model was effectively embedded. 

Following a major focus on training and wider communications 

in 2021-22, we agreed a core offer of quarterly training sessions 

available to the multi-agency workforce. 

 

During 2022/23, a multi-

agency task & finish group led the 

rollout of the ICON programme, 

chaired by the Designated Nurse 

for Safeguarding Children (SWL 

ICB), in response to Baby Grace LCSPR. ICON is a public health 

programme designed to help those caring for babies to cope 

with crying and reduce Abusive Head Trauma in infants. 

Development of materials, training and awareness raising took 

place in advance of and during the launch in December 2022, 

involving key agencies such as midwifery and health visiting 

alongside wider partners such as Children’s Centres. Voluntary 

organisations, faith groups and Community Champions.  

 

During 2022-23, the Insights to Intervention Project 

continued to be overseen by the Early Help & Neglect 

subgroup. Funding was secured from the Supporting Families 

programme towards improving business intelligence and data 

maturity, to help build a more detailed picture of Merton’s 

residents, better understand their needs and indicators of risk 

and vulnerability. The project aims to support services to more 

easily identify emerging trends to support delivery of early help 

to improve outcomes for children and families and prevent 

escalation of risk and high-cost statutory interventions. From 

2023-2024, the next phase will focus on developing data lake 

further and integrating a range of data sets including anti-social 

behaviour, children missing education and substance misuse 

data. 

 

Activity to increase school attendance has been 

monitored closely by the Early Help & Neglect subgroup. An 

example of the work in the last school year was the 

development of an excellent tool to support schools to make 

sure that children with mental health issues affecting their 

attendance can receive help. A borough-wide plan is in place 

to improve attendance and a new national strategy will be 

discussed with the DfE at a challenge/support meeting in 

autumn 2023.  

 

Merton Council was successful in 

securing funding through national DfE Family 

Hub Transformation (TF1) from November 

2022 until March 2024. A Family Hub is a 

system-wide model of providing high-

quality, whole-family, joined up family 

support services. Planning began quickly for 

Merton delivery against the three main 

requirements: More Accessible, Better Connected and 

P
age 30

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/merton-safeguarding-children-partnership-early-help-strategy/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/effective-support-for-families-in-merton/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/effective-support-for-families-in-merton/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/abusive-head-trauma-and-icon/


 

23 

 

Relationships-Centered. This work will be overseen by the 

Prevention & Early Intervention Subgroup during 2023-24, 

alongside other key partnership forums in the early help space. 
 

The MSCP commissioned a course on “Introduction to 

support options for people with No Recourse to Public Funds 

(NRPF)”, following our local child safeguarding practice review 

for Jason, which took place in February 2023. Attendance was 

targeted to leads across the multi-agency partnership to ensure 

messages could be disseminated back to relevant workforces. 

This included anti-social behaviour service and 

voluntary/community sector representatives. 

 

LBM’s Head of Housing Strategy reported to the June 

2022 Full Partnership meeting regarding legislation around 

housing in the borough. The housing presentation was shared 

with all partners and published online to continue to raise 

awareness. Housing and Children’s Services colleagues have 

provided assurances through ongoing joint working as 

presented in the above. Further training sessions for single 

agencies are being delivered on request by Housing following 

their offer to the partnership. Housing were also part of the 

targeted attendance at our No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 

training commissioned noted above. 

 

The MSCP’s Neglect Strategy and toolkit supports 

partners to identify and recognise neglect of children and 

young people. After launching in February 2022, the focus 

during 2022-23 was to raise awareness across the partnership 

and ensure the toolkit was being used effectively. Following 

exploration of internal offer with an external trainer, the MSCP 

has agreed to fund development of a Neglect training course 

during 2023-24. 

 

 

What difference have we made? 
 

During 2022-23, there was a reduction in the rate of children with 

a child in need (CIN) plan in Merton per 10,000 children 

alongside an increase in the rate of children subject to child 

protection plans (CPP). For both indicators, Merton rates 

remained below London and national averages. Thresholds are 

scrutinised closely by the multi-agency partnership to ensure 

that they are being applied appropriately throughout the 

child’s journey.  

 

 
 

Re-referrals to children’s social care were also monitored by the 

group which were 18.3% during 2022, in line with London 

average (18%) and remaining below national (21.5%). 

 

Family Wellbeing Service (targeted early help) case audits 

findings were reported into the subgroup, with an overview of 

P
age 31

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/working-with-children/neglect-strategy/


 

24 

 

actions in response to areas for improvement. The audit 

highlighted: 
 

 
 

The Insights to Interventions project has helped deliver SEND 

inclusion profiles, which will be rolled out to schools in Merton 

during 2023-24 academic year. 

 

In December 2022, we rolled out ICON across Merton with the 

support of over eight key partners, including Public Health, 

Police, Children’s Social care, Voluntary Sector, Community 

Health services including Health Visitors, General Practitioners, 

CAMHS, Drug and Alcohol Services, Epsom & St Helier and St 

George’s Maternity and Acute services, Merton Safeguarding 

Adults Board, Merton Libraries. We ran two MSCP “Launch & 

Learn” events, attended by 31 multi-agency partners, and 

delivered bespoke sessions for providers including Children’s 

Centres (now Family Hubs). We provided materials, including 

leaflets and posters, for partner agencies to display in their 

workspaces and use with expectant and new parents/carers. 

As a result of this training and awareness raising: 

• Over 200 professionals trained in ICON to deliver the 

messages to new and expectant parents, including 

“Train the Trainers”. 

• ICON message embedded into Baby Early Learning 

Together 0-6 months and baby Massage course run by 

all children’s centres (now family hubs). 

School attendance in Merton is better than national and outer 

London comparators in Primary, Secondary and the Pupil 

Referral Unit. Attendance in our special schools is below 

national and outer London. However, attendance is 2-3% below 

pre pandemic levels of attendance and Persistent Absence 

(those below 90%) is double the level it was in 2019 (similar 

nationally). Therefore, improving school attendance remains a 

key focus for the partnership.  

 

Highlights from the annual Children Missing Education (CME) report 

for 2022-23 include: 

• There was a significant fall in the number children in care 

who were vulnerable to CME; a percentage drop of 2%.  

• There were no young people who had offended off roll in 

the year and only 5 who were vulnerable to CME. This is 

the lowest this figure has been which is 

a significant achievement.  

• Ongoing rise in children with ECHPs identified as off roll 

pending placement to 31 (from 16 in 2017-18), caused 

by a lack of specialist placements (locally & nationally). 

• However, we have seen a fall in the number of children 

with EHCPs on roll who became vulnerable to CME from 

•Evidence of service users voice, wishes and 
feelings

•Family plans are clear and concise

•Timeliness at all points of the case work

•Consent across the multi agency network 
to gather and share information

• Initial contacts agree taking place in 
timescales (within 5 days of allocation)

•Provides context for data/performance

What's working 
well?

•Consistency around the audit process i.e 2 
per month per managers

•Supervision frequency (varies across 
different managers)

•Closure summaries

Areas for 
improvementP

age 32



 

25 

 

80 in 2018-19 to 52 in 2019-20, whilst still a high number this 

a significant fall. 

 

The Children Missing Education (CME) Dashboard compares 

performance to the previous year, which highlighted more 

children are now off roll and on roll but not attending school. 

This is in line with national data. However, work by the CME 

panel and partnership in Merton has led to improvements in the 

time taken to get children back into school - more children with 

“complex” cases are back in school within 140 days; this was 

previously 185 days. 

 

We delivered 4 “Effective Support for Families” sessions to the 

Partnership, to 29 attendees from a wide range of partners. This 

reduction in numbers attending was expected, following 9 

sessions with over 100 attendees in 2021-22 for the launch year. 

This continues to be monitored to ensure we are reaching the 

correct partners and delivering an appropriate number of 

courses through the year. Feedback from the course continued 

to be positive and encouraging, as highlighted below: 

 

 
 

What will we do next? 
 

Under the refreshed business plan, the Early Help priority 

will be overseen by the Prevention & Early Intervention 

Subgroup, and Neglect priority will be overseen by the Effective 

Safeguarding & Support Subgroup. 

 

Priorities for 2023-24 will be: 

• To continue to promote the Effective Support for 

Families Model and review alignment with pan-London 

threshold matrix.  

• Refreshing and launching the new Early Help Strategy 

and corresponding multi-agency performance 

framework, aligned with Supporting Families Outcomes 

framework 

• Strengthening promotion of the Neglect toolkit, 

including through adding a neglect course to our core 

MSCP training offer 

• Continue to develop our multi-agency early help 

approach further, using resource secured through grant 

funding, e.g. Supporting Families, Reducing Parental 

Conflict and delivery of Family Hubs. 

• Continue to develop our Data Maturity work through 

the Insights to Intervention Project. 

• Continue to work with partners to improve school 

attendance, including implementing systems to 

achieve new government requirements. 

• Continue to promote the ICON programme across 

Merton’s safeguarding system and evaluate impact of 

first year. 

  

“I feel a lot more 

confident in my 

ability to signpost 

families and in 

my ability to assist 

families since the 

training.” 

P
age 33



 

26 

 

Domestic Abuse & Think Family  
 

The MSCP’s Domestic Abuse and Think Family sub-group has 

oversight of work on domestic abuse from across the Partnership. This 

includes regular reporting from representatives from the Multi-

Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and Violence Against 

Women and Girls (VAWG) Boards. Merton's multi-agency MARAC 

panel coordinates the partnership’s response to the most 

complex/high risk domestic abuse cases using a range of statutory 

and non-statutory agencies. 

 

What have we achieved this year? 
 

The subgroup has continued to oversee: 

• Communications around domestic abuse pathways and 

support services. Including routine sharing of information from 

the VAWG & MARAC Lead with the partnership via the mailing 

list and bi-monthly news bulletin. 

• Driving forward of actions from the MSCP’s ‘Baby Grace’ 

LCSPR, which featured learning on identifying and addressing 

risk of domestic abuse and promotion of Clare’s Law. 

• Drafting of Think Family guidance for raising awareness of the 

principles and how to apply to practice across the 

partnership. This will be finalised and shared in 2023-24.  

• Dedicated multi-agency performance dashboard to monitor 

outcomes on a quarterly basis, including MARAC data.  

• Well-established Domestic Abuse multi-agency training 

• New course added to the core MSCP training programme: 

Evidence Based Interventions to support Parents experiencing 

conflict in their relationships' and delivered by Early Help 

Development Manager. This was offered three times during 

2022-23.   

 

In December 2022, Merton launched its new 

strategy for 2022-25 to help prevent all forms of 

violence against women and girls (VAWG) and 

domestic abuse in the borough. The partnership 

strategy brings in departments across the council 

as well as external partners such as the police. 

The strategy is formed of five key priorities as 

highlighted below and was informed by various 

pieces of work across the partnership, including 

the MSCP’s sexual violence in schools and 

colleges scrutiny. Objective 5 has been a major focus following the 

murder of women such as Sarah Everard, Nicole Smallman and 

Bibaa Henry and Sabina Nessa in 2021, and a specific Women and 

Girls task group has been set up in the borough to look at this issue.   

 

Merton Council achieved 

White Ribbon accredited status in 

November 2022, demonstrating 

the commitment in the borough 

to ending violence against 

women and girls by men and 

boys. As part of this, Bystander 

Training has been offered to partners and residents which is 

promoted by the MSCP. Campaigns have been led by Safer Merton 

raising awareness of Domestic Violence and Abuse and VAWG 

among our partners and the community – for example the 16 Days 

Against Domestic Violence and Abuse Campaign in November and 

December 2022 – which the MSCP has helped promote to children’s 

safeguarding partners. 

 

A successful bid was submitted to the Home Office for the 

Perpetrator Programme. This will involve 7-boroughs and each 

borough will have an attached Perpetrator Intervention Worker and 

IDVA. The IDVA will focus on the partner and children to ensure their 

P
age 34

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/documents/baby-grace-child-safeguarding-practice-review/
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/documents/baby-grace-child-safeguarding-practice-review/
https://www.merton.gov.uk/system/files/Mertons%20VAWG-Strategy%202022%20to%202025.pdf
https://www.merton.gov.uk/system/files/Mertons%20VAWG-Strategy%202022%20to%202025.pdf


 

27 

 

voice is heard.  Perpetrator Intervention Workers will also work with 

the victims to ensure no escalation occurs in the home. 

 

The DA Act Officer has compiled a directory for child victims, 

available on various websites. Training with MARACs took place 

around Clare’s Law, and there are aims as part of the Police project 

to offer this across the partnership during 2023-24 via the MSCP. 

 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 brought in some significant 

changes including a statutory definition of domestic abuse for the 

first time and explicit recognition of children as victims of domestic 

abuse. The MSCP has continued to work with Safer Merton to raise 

awareness of the changes and implications for practice, including a 

directory of services for children as victims and highlighted during 

training that children are victims in their own right.  

 

The sub-group also identified child and adolescent to parent 

violence and abuse as a key area of focus through regular 

discussions on our performance data. This prompted partners to bid 

for funding from MOPAC Violence Reduction Unit to support families 

better where CAPVA is present. In 23-24, we found out our bid was 

successful and will be taking this work forward in the coming year. 

 

What difference have we made? 
 

In 2022/2023 the MARAC discussed 592 high risk and complex 

cases involving domestic abuse, 564 children were identified as part 

of these discussions. There has been a continued increase in the 

number of cases discussed at MARAC since 2020 and during the 

pandemic we saw a 90% increase in cases being discussed.  The rise 

in repeat cases being seen by MARAC across the three reporting 

years has also continued and we believe this was due to the 

pandemic where more domestic abuse was reported but also 

professionals and agencies have better identified repeat victims and 

survivors and referred them back to MARAC. 

Figure 1: An overview of MARAC cases 2019/20 – 2022/23  

Year Number of 

Cases 

Discussed 

Number of 

Repeat 

cases 

% repeat 

cases 

Number of 

children in 

the 

household 

2020-21 576 234 41% 557 

2021-22 636 301 47% 639 

2022-23 592 259 44% 564 

 

Independent Domestic Violence Advocates [IDVAs] 

 

The work of Merton’s IDVAs continued throughout 2022/23. 

Having introduced a case worker within the Children and Families Hub 

(previously MASH - Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub) the three IDVAs 

in the community and Complex Needs IDVA have seen an increase 

in case referrals. This arrangement remains under review and reports 

regularly to the Domestic Abuse and Think Family sub-group. 

 

The IDVAs role includes sourcing safe/emergency 

accommodation, referrals to Safeguarding and/or MARAC, 

accompanying service users to court, information provision around 

criminal justice system, signposting for legal advice including clients 

with no recourse to public funds, and emotional support. It is 

recognised that the IDVA role plays a pivotal role in supporting and 

managing domestic violence issues.  

 

The One Stop Shop confidential weekly drop-in service for 

people experiencing domestic abuse has been re-opened since 

November 2021, after operating on a virtual basis during the 

pandemic. Numbers accessing have continued to rise. 

 

The IDVA service received 626 referrals between April 2022 and 

March 2023 (compared to 769 the previous year), of which 256 were 

high risk. 54 of the total referrals came from Social Care services. In 

addition, the MASH DVA Caseworker (who took up post in June 2022): 

P
age 35

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


 

28 

 

“The course was up to date 

with its information and 

included how technology can 

be used to track people, the 

difficulties that people face in 

leaving, and where people, 

both clients and professionals 

can access help.” 

 

Referrals during April 2022 to March 2023 

Intensive support 

The MASH DVA Caseworker 

provided 21 clients with 6 or 

more significant contacts e.g., 

appointments, joint 

appointments, telephone-based 

RIC and ISSP completion. 

Medium support 

The MASH DVA Caseworker 

provided 27 clients with 2-5 

significant contacts. Single 

contact and advice provision 

was provided to 14 clients by 

the MASH DVA Caseworker. 

 

Domestic Abuse Disclosure Scheme – Clare’s Law 

 

Clare's Law is a Police policy giving people the right to know if 

their current or ex-partner has history of violence or abuse. The aim is 

to help people to make a more informed decision on whether to 

continue a relationship and provide support when making that 

choice, or after separation. Learning from Merton’s Baby Grace 

Review suggested that Merton would benefit from increased 

promotion of Clare’s Law locally. As a result, the MSCP has delivered 

awareness raising activity, promoting the law in our news bulletin as 

well as raising awareness of local training coordinated by the Police.   

 

59 Clare’s Law requests have been made in Merton and of 

those 23 disclosures were carried out, the remaining numbers were 

either no DA history, disengaged or not authorised. 

 

Operation Encompass 

 

Following successful implementation at many schools in 

Merton, Operation Encompass continues to inform school settings of 

incidents of domestic abuse involving children on roll. This makes sure 

that Designated Safeguarding Leads and key staff are aware of this 

context when supporting and working with their children. However, a 

recent DHR has highlighted that Op Encompass should be reviewed, 

to provide assurance that all schools are using the secure system to 

see notifications. This will be a priority during 2023-24. 

 

Training 

 

 During 2022-23, the MSCP Training programme delivered four 

Domestic Violence and Abuse training courses, attended by 45 

participants. This is an improvement compared to the previous year, 

with double the number of sessions, a jump in attendance from 14 

attendees. Feedback from attendees was very positive, with all 

delegates saying they would recommend the course to a colleague.  

 

 
 

During 2022-23, the MSCP delivered three Evidence Based 

Interventions to support Parents experiencing conflict in their 

relationships courses, attended by 34 multi-agency participants. 

Positive feedback has been received within post-course evaluations 

and therefore the training will be continued in 2023-24.  

 

“[The training] made me 

look at interactions and 

behaviour I have witnessed 

in my past from a different 

viewpoint and I hope that 

it will enable me to be 

more proactive should 

those situations reoccur.” 

“I can tell the different therapists in my service 

about this course which they could then 

communicate with health visitors / school nurses.” 

P
age 36



 

29 

 

The subgroup’s awareness raising around Think Family helped 

lead to the joint conference focus alongside the proposal for a new 

Think Family & Transitional Safeguarding subgroup joint between the 

MSCP and Merton Safeguarding Adults Board. 

 

Members of the sub-group supported the planning of the Joint 

Conference. The Merton Lead for DA/VAWG and a Senior IDVA led a 

session on Understanding Childhood Experiences. They provided an 

overview of key indicators of domestic abuse, the importance of 

professional curiosity and used a case study to help attendees explore 

“How does understanding Childhood Trauma or experiences help us 

better understand and support the person in front of us?” 

• 91% of attendees found this Extremely or Somewhat Useful 

(remaining 9% chose Neutral).  

• Attendees were also asked the below question in the, and 

many noted Think Family as a key take-away: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What will we do next? 
 

Under the refreshed business plan, the Domestic Abuse 

Neglect priorities will be overseen by the Effective Safeguarding 

& Support Subgroup. Think Family will be a cross-cutting theme 

that all subgroups will be expected to deliver activities around, 

and the joint Think Family & Transitional Safeguarding subgroup 

with MSAB will provide further oversight. 

 

In 2023-24, the Effective Safeguarding & Support sub-group will: 

• Work with 6 boroughs to successfully implement 

Perpetrator Programme (led by Lambeth). 

• Deliver multi-agency Clare’s Law training (led by Police). 

• Implementation of grant funding for Child/Adolescent to 

Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA), including 

recruitment to new posts.  

• Work to better capture the voice of the child and family 

on their experience of domestic abuse support and 

services in Merton. 

• Support Safer Merton with White Ribbon, implementation 

of the new Merton Violence Against Women & Girls 

Strategy, including review of Operation Encompass and 

re-commissioning of Independent Domestic Violence 

Advisor (IDVA) service for July 2024 onwards. 

• Continue raising awareness and knowledge around 

local thresholds and referrals pathways for domestic 

abuse and implications of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

  

“What difference do you think attending this event will make to your 
work with children, young people and their families?” 

“Attending will help me 
be more professionally 

curious, listen to the voice 
of the child more, and 
think family and more 

systemically.”

“Encouraged re 
continuing to be holistic 
and to always consider 
family members with 
vulnerable adults.”

"Highlights the impact on 
the whole family and 

need to consider whole 
family needs .”

P
age 37



 

30 

 

Contextual Safeguarding 
 

The Promote and Protect Young People (PPYP) sub-group has 

led on the Partnership’s approach to contextual safeguarding, to 

facilitate effective understanding and response to young people’s 

experiences of significant harm beyond their families. 

 

What have we achieved this year?  
 

Following the launch of the multi-agency Contextual 

Safeguarding Strategy in the previous year, work included: 

• Delivery of regular training on contextual harm to safeguarding 

partners through 2022-23 reaching 67 multi-agency delegates, 

and our annual CSE awareness day.  

• Continuing to develop and promote online safety work, 

through training and promotion of our policy and resources. 

• Oversight of our Catch 22 Risk & Resilience Service, an 

integrated substance misuse, child exploitation and missing 

from home service, focused on mitigating risk and promoting 

resilience in young people in Merton.  

• A new protocol regarding Self-Harm and Suicidal Ideation was 

developed and launched, with 2 training sessions held in 

October 2023 reaching 30 partners. 

The subgroup also oversaw 

publication of an Antibullying Best 

Practice Toolkit alongside 

Guidance for Schools, with a 

launch event held in Q3. This 

incorporated best practice from 

national and local resources 

including case studies, alongside 

recommended tools and 

approaches. 

The MACE Panels in Merton are based on the Pan-London Child 

Exploitation Operating Protocol and help to ensure swift identification 

of children at risk using screening tools. Plans are put together and 

cases reviewed by a panel of local subject matter experts (Pre-MACE) 

alongside supporting leaders locally to understand trends in the 

borough (Strategic MACE), which are regularly reported to the PPYP 

for oversight. Work includes: 

• Patterns of Exploitation & Early Intervention for younger children 

at early risk of exploitation: the new contextual harm pathway 

explicitly recognises Early Help and Tier 1 and 2 aspects, and 

support can be sought from specialists for Tier 3 and 4 support 

in those early stages. This is clarified in the protocol pilot launch. 

• Pilot of joint Youth Integrated Offender Management/MACE 

panel from September 2022 to ensure there is no duplication or 

gaps between the panels. Feedback was overwhelmingly 

positive and this will be permanently embedded for 2023-24. 

• Promotion of multi-agency trigger plans ensuring joined up 

responses to our children at times of crisis. 

• Identification of key spaces and peer groups that are risky and 

supporting multi-agency responses to improve those spaces 

and disrupt or engage risky groups. 

• Supporting Child Exploitation training in schools, businesses, 

licensed premises & hotels (under MAKESAFE protocol) and for 

professionals all year and during National CE awareness week. 

In early 2023, Merton’s multi-agency Missing Panel meeting was 

reviewed to look at its effectiveness in assessing the risk for missing 

children. This included reviewing effective partnership working with 

key agencies. The panel moved from being online to key members 

attending in person and social workers giving feedback online. In 

addition to the Missing Panel itself, there is a Pre-Missing meeting 

agenda planning, where all missing episodes are reviewed and 

graded to ensure high risks are heard at panel. 

 

P
age 38

https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/MSCP-Supporting-Young-People-Who-Self-Harm-or-Experience-Suicidal-Ideation.-Merton-MultiAgencyPolicy-V3-July-2022.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/MSCP-Anti-Bullying-best-practice-toolkit-JULY-2022-Final-1.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/MSCP-Anti-Bullying-best-practice-toolkit-JULY-2022-Final-1.pdf
https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/documents/mscp-anti-bullying-guidance-for-schools/
https://cscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-London-Child-Exploitation-Operating-Protocol-2021-MPS.pdf
https://cscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-London-Child-Exploitation-Operating-Protocol-2021-MPS.pdf


 

31 

 

The partnership continued to respond to incidents and conflicts 

between groups and gangs in the borough and neighbouring 

boroughs. This involved detailed individual safety planning with 

families, working in partnership with professionals across the network, 

including police, social workers, youth justice workers, youth workers, 

neighbouring boroughs, schools and colleges. Senior officers also met 

routinely, to agree joined-up communications plans for schools and 

the community and to ensure additional senior police representation 

at key strategic and operational meetings. This included weekly multi-

agency meetings at points during the year, and Police multi-strand 

activity focusing on all opportunities to disrupt, divert and safeguard. 

 

Merton’s Youth Justice Service received the new ‘Turnaround’ 

grant from the Ministry of Justice. The grant, which is offered to Youth 

Offending Teams across England and Wales, is available over three 

years, and has a focus on early intervention and improving outcomes 

for children on the cusp of entering the youth justice system. Work 

began in 2022-23 to implement the project and the grant 

requirements within Merton.  

 

What difference have we made? 
 

During 2022-23, 58 contextual harm consultations were completed as 

per the pathway into the MACE panel (28 females and 30 males).  

 

 

Case studies have highlighted significant positive change – for 

example, the young person highlighted below. 

 

Case study 

Reduction in risk for young male seen over persistent, partnership 

approach to support him and his family. 

• Joined-up and relationships-based, trauma-informed support 

from partners including UTURN, Police Exploitation team, 

children’s social care, Off the Record counselling, Redthread, 

youth justice service. 

• Young person achieved employment, completion of youth 

justice order, accessed counselling and strengthened 

relationship with parents, who have also been engaged in 

safety planning and made progress in supporting and 

challenging him. 

 

 
 

 

Catch’s 22 Risk & Resilience annual report 2022-2023 also highlights 

key achievement during the year mitigating risk and promoting 

resilience in young people around substance misuse, child 

exploitation and missing from home. Highlights include: 

45

24

14

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Initial risk matrix -
April 2022

Review -
 March 2023

Review & children's social
care case closure -

 July 2023

Contextul Harm risk matrix
Score on CH Risk 

Matrix: 

 

10-32 = Early Help 

(Emerging) – 

getting 

help/advice 

 

33-64 = Targeted 

(Moderate) – 

getting more help 

P
age 39

https://www.catch-22.org.uk/resources/merton-risk-and-resilience-annual-report-2022-2023/


 

32 

 

• 925 people reached. Of these: 174 were engaged in care 

planned interventions with SMART and achievable goals 

agreed, 95 successfully exited the service, and 76 remained 

engaged at year end. 

• This year, the service achieved 97% positive outcomes for the 

young people engaged in these interventions. 

• 379 Return Home Interviews (RHIs) completed. 98% offered 

within 24 hours of notification, and 82% conducted within 72 

hours where young person consented and was available. 55 

missing from home “follow-on interventions” completed for 

young people where risk rating was red/amber. 

• 96% of young people under 18 (who completed treatment) 

had reduced their substance use and/or were drug free and 

met care plan goals at exit. 

 
 

The multi-agency MACE continued to enable partners to better 

understand practice and risk for young people, identifying key 

themes and patterns including children and risk of being exploited, 

Locations, Cross-Border Working/Intel, Borough Intel, Missing young 

people, Group and Peer Mapping, and Best Practice. We have: 

• Supported a dedicated multi-agency group working on 

identified group of young people at risk of exploitation and 

violence leading to multiple engagements, as well as arrests 

of linked adults. 

• Brought Clarion Housing into the MACE panel and engaging 

with their outreach work. Through both Pre-MACE & Strategic 

MACE, with funding support from Clarion Housing (member of 

the MACE strategic panel), U-Turn (the council’s contextual 

harm team) were able to offer a music project in one of the 

hot spot areas. 

• A particular park in the borough was identified as a key area 

of concerns for young people linked to robberies, violence and 

sexual offences. This generated a joint visit and inspection from 

the Contextual Harm Service, Designing Out Crime and 

Neighbourhood Policing and relevant property owners within 

the park. Youth outreach programme and proactive 

monitoring was put in place which has led to a decrease in 

anti-social behaviour in the park. 

• Across all London Boroughs it was noted that there was a 

decrease in referrals for CSE, both male and female. Following 

training refreshers there has been an increase in CSE referrals, 

including CSE and CCE links, CSE and Gangs, and CSE and 

Serious Youth Violence. The above data reflects this. 

 

The rapid reviews and contextual safeguarding audits undertaken 

during the year also identified good practice around contextual 

safeguarding as summarised earlier in the report. 

P
age 40



 

33 

 

 

During the year, two Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) courses were 

offered (CSA Awareness and Intra-Familial CSA) and attended by 33 

multi-agency participants in total. When asked “What difference do 

you think this training will make to your work with children, young 

people and their families?”, attendees noted: 

 

 

Feedback from our Anti-Bullying toolkit launch included: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What will we do next? 
 

Priorities for 2023-24 will be: 

• Finalise & launch refreshed young people’s substance 

misuse protocol and accompanying guidance for 

schools and community settings 

• Contribute to pan-London MACE review, including 

development of consistent process for multi-agency 

work around peer group mapping and safety planning. 

• Review & refresh multi-agency online safety policy 

• Refresh multi-agency harmful sexual behaviour, missing 

from home and care and online safety policies and 

raise awareness with partnership workforce. 

• Support the Adultification Task & Finish group to develop 

and deliver actions in response to scrutiny 

recommendations, including rollout of multi-agency 

adultification training. 

• Maintain strong oversight of the MACE panels and 

ongoing review of effectiveness in reducing risk and 

protecting children and young people from 

exploitation. 

• Planning for 2024 refresh of MSCP Contextual 

Safeguarding Strategy 

• Supporting the effective implementation of the Serious 

Violence Duty in Merton  

  

“Greater awareness 

and being able to use 

the indicators tool.” 

“As a newcomer to school social work, I feel I will be able 

to successfully complete work on restorative practice with 

children who are affected by bullying.” 

“I will feel more confident when 

speaking with a patient or their 

parent / guardian.” 

“Every agency involved with Child O showed genuine care and 

concern about him, recognising his young age and vulnerabilities, and 

wanted to ensure that he was safe and well and wondered how he 

could be diverted away from the significant risks he was experiencing 

outside of his family home.” 

 

“There have been, and continue to be, persistent efforts to support 

Child O and his mum by multiple agencies and services. At times, 

different professionals have been able to develop a positive 

relationship with Child O and his voice and his mother’s voice were 

heard clearly throughout the information supplied to the rapid review.” 

 

“There was evidence of strong collaboration and information 

sharing across the partnership.” 

 

Child O rapid review, February 2023 

P
age 41



 

34 

 

Looked After Children and Care Leavers 
 

When a child comes into care, the council becomes 

their ‘Corporate Parent’, the term means the collective responsibility 

for providing the best possible care and safeguarding for the children 

in our care. Children in Merton are less likely to be in care when 

compared to other boroughs. In 2022/23, 26 out of every 10,000 

children in Merton are in care, which remains in line with the previous 

year, and lower than national (70) and London (52) rates. 
 

Merton continues to buck the trend in increases of the number 

of children entering care nationally. The children-in-care population 

in Merton has been declining over the last five years. The number of 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking children in our care, had been 

declining over the past few years, but increased during 2022/23. Close 

oversight is maintained on thresholds and practice to ensure children 

who need to come into care in Merton are doing so. This has 

highlighted strong relationship-based practice in place and effective 

work to support children on the edge of care to remain with their 

families.  

 

Provisional data shows there continues to be more boys in care 

than girls with no change in distribution from last year (55.7% vs 44.3%). 

We also know that proportionally more Merton children enter care at 

a later age when compared to London and national averages.  

Provisional data for 2022/23 also shows Black/Mixed children are over-

represented in our care population. On 31st March 2023, the 

percentage of black/mixed-race is 46.3%; this compares with 24% of 

under-18s in Merton’s general population. By contrast, only 7% of our 

children in our care are from an Asian background. This compares to 

just under 20% of Merton’s under-18 population.  

 

There are many reasons why a child may become looked after, 

in Merton for 2022/23, the main reasons for entering care are abuse 

or neglect. This has remained static for the last 7 years. Absent 

parenting is the second biggest reason why a child became looked 

after in 2022/23.  

  
For care leavers, provisional data shows, as at 31st March 2023, 

91% of our care experienced young people between the ages of 19 

and 21 were ‘in touch’ with the Local Authority; this compares with 

92% nationally as of 31st March 2022. 89% of young people were in 

suitable accommodation at the end of 2022/23. Provisional 

calculations show performance remains in line with last year. 67% of 

our care experienced young people, according to provisional 

reports, were in education, employment or training during 2022/23.  

  
During 22-23, the Corporate Parenting Board oversaw a refresh 

of Merton’s Corporate Parenting Strategy for 2022-24. This strategy 

offers an overview of strategic multi-agency priorities for children in 

care and care leavers. To support this work, the MSCP also 

commissioned “Through the Kids Eyes” training, which was delivered 

by a care leaver on experiencing the care system. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During 23-24, the Corporate Parenting Board will be reviewing 

and refreshing its approach, with the support of care experienced 

young people, foster carers and practitioners, beginning with an 

Away Day in July 2023.   There will also be a focus on involving more 

young people with care experience in recruitment and training of 

professionals.

“The course has given me a clearer 

understanding of what is needed to 

be in place when welcoming a 

child or young person into our 

home, we set aside more time to 

really listen to the child and 

understand their emotions.” 

P
age 42

https://www.merton.gov.uk/system/files/Final%20Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy%202022%20-%2024%20%281%29.pdf


 

35 

 

Annex 1: MSCP Budget and Spend 2022/23 
 
 

MSCP Budget 2022-23 – Contributions by agency 

  

London Borough of Merton  84,750 

Merton ICB (previously CCG)  55,000 

Metropolitan Police 5,000 

Total  144,750 

  

    

MSCP Spend 2022-23  

 

 

Spend 

    

 

 
  

 Budget Variance 

Staffing:    

         Salaries  89,962 90,168 -206 

         Independent Posts  18,750 20,000 -1,250 

Training 14,216 18,710 -4,494 

Learning Reviews 4,000 3,890 110 

Supplies and Services (Office costs)  4,768 11,982 -7,214 

Total  131,696 144,750 -13,054 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Committee: All Scrutiny Panels 
Date: January 2024 
Wards:  

Subject: Cabinet Papers 15 January 2024 - Budget 2024/25 
and MTFS 2024-28 
Lead Director: Asad Mushtaq, Executive Director Finance & Digital 
Lead member: Cllr Billy Christie, Cabinet Member for finance & Corporate Services 
Contact officer: Asad Mushtaq, Executive Director Finance & Digital 

Recommendations:  
A. Panels to note and discuss contents. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1.1  The report provides a general update on all the latest information relating to 

the budget setting process for 2024-28 and an assessment of the 
implications for the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2024-28. 

2 DETAILS 
2.1.1 Cabinet papers dated 15 January 2024. 
2.1.2 This report is one of the budget updates through the financial year and will 

be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Panels and Commission in January 
2024 alongside the Member’s Information Pack which contains details of 
growth and savings agreed by Cabinet in November 2023 and which was 
subject to the scrutiny process in the November 2023 round of meetings. 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
3.1.1 None 
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
4.1.1 None 
5 TIMETABLE 
5.1.1 None 
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
6.1.1 None 
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
7.1.1 None 
8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



8.1.1 None 
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
9.1.1 None 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
10.1.1 None 
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 
•  

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
12.1. Members Information Pack 
 
 
Department Approval Name of Officer  Date of Comments 
Legal   
Finance   
Executive Director   
Cabinet Member   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 48



Page 7

Agenda Item 4

Page 49



Page 8

Page 50



Page 9

Page 51



Page 10

Page 52



Page 11

Page 53



Page 12

Page 54



Page 13

Page 55



Page 14

Page 56



Page 15

Page 57



Page 16

Page 58



Page 17

Page 59



Page 18

Page 60



Page 19

Page 61



Page 20

Page 62



Page 21

Page 63



Page 22

Page 64



Page 23

Page 65



Page 24

Page 66



Page 25

Page 67



Page 26

Page 68



Page 27

Page 69



Page 28

Page 70



Page 29

Page 71



Page 30

Page 72



Page 31

Page 73



Page 32

Page 74



Page 33

Page 75



Page 34

Page 76



Page 35

Page 77



Page 36

Page 78



Page 37

Page 79



Page 38

Page 80



Page 39

Page 81



Page 40

Page 82



Page 41

Page 83



Page 42

Page 84



Page 43

Page 85



Page 44

Page 86



Page 45Page 87



Page 46Page 88



Page 47Page 89



Page 48Page 90



Page 49Page 91



Page 50Page 92



Page 51Page 93



Page 52Page 94



Page 53Page 95



Page 54Page 96



Page 55Page 97



Page 56Page 98



Page 57Page 99



Page 58Page 100



Page 59Page 101



Page 60Page 102



Page 61Page 103



Page 62Page 104



Page 63Page 105



Page 64Page 106



Page 65Page 107



Page 66Page 108



Page 67Page 109



Page 68Page 110



Page 69Page 111



Page 70Page 112



Page 71Page 113



Page 72Page 114



Page 73Page 115



Page 74Page 116



Page 75Page 117



Page 76Page 118



Page 77Page 119



Page 78Page 120



Page 79Page 121



Page 80Page 122



Page 81Page 123



Page 82Page 124



Page 83Page 125



Page 84Page 126



Page 85Page 127



Page 86Page 128



Page 87Page 129



Page 88Page 130



Page 89Page 131



Page 90Page 132



Page 91Page 133



Page 92Page 134



Page 93Page 135



Page 94Page 136



Page 95Page 137



Page 96Page 138



Page 97Page 139



Page 98Page 140



Page 99Page 141



Page 100Page 142



Page 101Page 143



Page 102Page 144



Page 103Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 146



Committee: Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 25th January 2024 
Agenda item:  
Wards: All 

Subject:  Childhood Immunisations 
Lead officer:  Jane McSherry, Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and 
Families 
Lead member: Cllr Brenda Fraser, Cabinet Member Children’s Services 
Contact officers: Dr Mike McHugh, Consultant in Public Health (Interim) 
Ruth Eager, Head of Immunisations PMO and Planning, NHS South West London   

Recommendations:  
A. To note the content of this cover report and the detailed report from NHSE 

(London) Immunisation Commissioning Team.  

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1. To update the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on Vaccination and Immunisation 

uptake and work in SW London and Merton. 
2 DETAILS  

General Immunisation and Vaccination 
2.1 SW London has the highest uptake of immunisations in London although 

coverage is lower than the England average.  Merton has a general uptake just 
below the SW London average. This reflects the lower coverage found in urban 
areas which tend to have highly mobile populations and large immigrant 
populations.  Lower uptake is also observed in more deprived communities. 

2.2 Communications and engagement activities over Q3 has concentrated on 
vaccine uptake and focused on engaging local communities.  In Merton there 
has been targeted advertising at tram link stops, localised radio scripts for 
different target audiences, on street engagement activity with low uptake 
groups, promotion of the winter vaccination offers in low uptake areas and 
engagement with local partners at key meetings.  

Childhood Immunisations 
2.3 Childhood immunisations for Merton has a general uptake of 84.5% which is 

currently below the 95% national target.  This is in common with all London 
boroughs.  Merton performs lower that the SW London average with the 
exception being MMR1 at 24 months and 5 years where the Merton coverage 
exceeds SW London and London averages.  Please note the percentage of 
unvaccinated children for MMR 1 and MMR2 at age 5 has reduced in Merton by 
2% between Q1 and Q2 as a result of the Phase 1 MMR initiative. 

2.4 We have recently recruited two additional Childhood Immunisation Co-
Ordinators across SW London and dedicated resource will be allocated to 
Merton in late January 2024. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



2.5 We anticipate an announcement of a national measles incident following an 
increase in confirmed cases across the country.  London and the Midlands have 
seen the greatest number of cases, and we currently have two confirmed cases 
in SW London.  Our response to this will be an acceleration of current plans to 
improve uptake in all childhood immunisations but particularly MMR at all ages. 
Working with the National phase 2 polio/MMR programme we plan to:  

o Increase targeted patient engagement in geographic areas with low 
uptake and develop open community clinics as a walk-in offer. The 
focus will be on children’s centres with the lowest MMR uptake. 

o Develop MMR promotional videos in GP surgeries/community 
settings to promote the importance of the MMR vaccine and we will 
build on this to produce similar videos with community leaders as 
trusted voices to promote MMR. 

o Target our outreach activity to identified community groups with low 
uptake and host clinics in low uptake areas though alternate venues 
e.g. religious venues, organised community groups (i.e. parent and 
toddler groups), children’s centres and housing estates.  We will also 
increase our offer at wider health and wellbeing events.  

o Develop an Engagement and Outreach MMR MECC module through 
the SW London Training Hub to enhance practice engagement and 
delivery at every point of contact. Concentrating on staff not normally 
involved with vaccinations and immunisations e.g. allied HCP and 
non-clinical staff 

o Collaborate with health visiting service to offer vaccination, including 
their point of contacts with parents, e.g. ‘Well Baby’ clinics, post-natal 
groups, parenting support and breastfeeding clinics. 

 
3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
3.1. N/A 

 
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
4.1. N/A. 

 
5 TIMETABLE 
6.1 Work undertaken during the period September to December 2023 and 

proposed activity for January to March 2024N/A 
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
6.1. None. 

 
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
7.1. As outlined in the report. 

 

Page 148



8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. As outlined in the report.  
 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
9.1. As outlined in the report.  

 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
10.1. As outlined in the report.  

 
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 

WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 
Appendix 1 – Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of 
Merton 
Appendix 2 - Merton Immunisations Update January 2024 
 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report on Vaccination 
Services in the London 
Borough of Merton 
 
Prepared by: NHSE (London) Immunisation Commissioning Team, South West 
London Integrated Care Board & Merton Public Health Team 
 
 

Jan 2024 
 
 
 
 

 

Classification: Official 

 

Page 151



 

1  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Contents 
Aims ...........................................................................................................................2 

Background ................................................................................................................2 

Roles and responsibilities ..........................................................................................3 

Inclusion and Equity ...................................................................................................3 

National vaccination coverage ...................................................................................4 

Regional vaccination coverage ..................................................................................4 

Local vaccination coverage ........................................................................................5 
Routine childhood immunisation programme (0-5 years) ...................................5 
Vaccinations for school-age young people .........................................................8 

Data sources for local authority stakeholders ............................................................9 

Vaccination programme challenges .........................................................................10 

Actions to improve vaccination uptake .....................................................................11 
Childhood vaccinations .....................................................................................12 

Next Steps ...............................................................................................................14 

Appendix 1: Immunisation schedule ........................................................................16 

Appendix 2: NHSE current responsibilities & performance targets ..........................19 

Appendix 3: Data collection .....................................................................................20 

Appendix 4: Abbreviations .......................................................................................22 

Appendix 5: Contacts ...............................................................................................24 
 
 

Page 152



 

2  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Aims 
This paper provides an overview of Section 7a vaccination programmes in the London Borough of 
Merton.  It covers vaccine uptake and an account of what NHS England (NHSE) London region 
and system partners are doing to improve this.  
 
The paper focuses on childhood vaccinations, but data is included where pertinent on the wider 
schedule.  
  
Members of the Merton Health Scrutiny Committee are asked to note and support the work that 
system partners across London, including NHSE London, the Local Authority (LA), and the 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) are doing to increase vaccination uptake in Merton. 
 

Background 
The World Health Organisation (WHO) states that vaccinations are one of the public health 
interventions that have had the greatest impact on the world’s health. Vaccination is also one of 
the most cost-effective public health interventions. High immunisation rates are key to preventing 
the spread of infectious disease, protecting from complications and deaths. Childhood 
immunisation in particular helps to prevent disease and promote child health from infancy, creating 
opportunities for children to thrive and get the best start in life. 
 
Section 7a vaccination programmes are population-based, publicly funded immunisation 
programmes that cover the life course and include:  
  

• Routine childhood vaccination programme for 0-5 years 
• School-age (young person) vaccinations 
• Adult vaccinations (including in pregnancy and older age) 
• Seasonal COVID-19/flu vaccination programme  

 
The full immunisation schedule can be found in the Green Book and as a summary table here.  
Changes to this schedule are regularly reviewed and recommendations are made at the UK Joint 
Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI).  
 
The European region of the WHO currently recommends at least 95% of children are immunised 
against diseases preventable by vaccination and targeted for elimination or control, specifically, 
diphtheria, neonatal tetanus, pertussis, polio, Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib), hepatitis B, 
measles, mumps, and congenital rubella.  
 
There is an expectation that UK coverage rates of all routine childhood vaccinations up to 5 years 
of age achieve 95%. 
 

Page 153

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1060682/Greenbook-chapter-11-11Mar22.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule


 

3  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Roles and responsibilities 
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) provides national strategic oversight of 
vaccination policy in England, with advice from the independent JCVI and the Commission on 
Human Medicines. They also set performance targets.  
 
NHSE is responsible for commissioning national vaccination programmes in England under the 
terms of the Section 7a agreement, National Health Service Act 2006.  NHSE is accountable for 
ensuring that local providers of services deliver against the national service specifications and 
meet agreed population uptake and coverage levels. NHSE is also responsible for monitoring 
providers’ performance and for supporting providers in delivering improvements in quality and 
changes in the programmes when required.  A summary table of NHSE responsibilities can be 
found at appendix 2. 
 
The UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) undertakes surveillance of vaccine-preventable 
diseases and leads the response to outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases. They provide 
expert advice to NHSE immunisation teams in cases of vaccination incidents. 
 
Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) have a duty of quality improvement, and this extends to primary 
medical care services. ICBs provide opportunities for improved partnership working across NHSE 
(London), local authorities, voluntary and community sector partners to improve vaccination 
uptake and reach underserved areas and populations. NHSE (London), alongside ICBs, local 
authorities and others, will work to progress delegated commissioning for vaccination and 
screening.  
 
LA public health teams deliver population health initiatives including improving access to health 
and engagement and promotion of vaccinations overall.   

Pre-school and adult vaccinations are usually delivered by GP surgeries. They are commissioned 
through the NHS GP contract. Five core GP contractual standards have been introduced to 
underpin the delivery of vaccination services:  a named lead, provision of sufficient convenient 
appointments, standards for call/recall programmes and opportunistic vaccination offers, 
participation in nationally agreed catch-up campaigns, and standards for record-keeping and 
reporting.  One of the five Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) domains is childhood 
vaccinations and shingles vaccination, rewarding GP practices for good practice.  
 
School-age vaccinations are commissioned by the seven regional NHSE teams and delivered 
through school age immunisation services (SAIS).  
 
Vaccinations are also provided by maternity services, some outreach services, and community 
pharmacies. 
 

Inclusion and Equity  
The challenge is not just overall immunisation coverage but the variation in coverage across 
groups, which can increase the likelihood of preventable outbreaks locally. Groups with lower 
coverage include migrants, urban communities, more deprived communities, and certain ethnic 
groups.  

Page 154



 

4  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

People migrating to the UK may originate from countries that have different vaccination schedules 
or lower vaccination rates overall.  Individuals may also have missed vaccinations in the country of 
origin or missed opportunities for vaccination after arrival to the UK.  
 
National vaccine coverage varies geographically, with lower coverage in urban areas and London, 
compared to England as a whole.   
 
At a national level, there are some small inequalities by socioeconomic status, with coverage 
being slightly lower in lower socio-economic groups.  
 
For the routine childhood vaccinations, there is no simple relationship between ethnicity and 
coverage. The relationship varies by immunisation programme and by area. However, coverage in 
certain ethnic groups does appear to be lower than in white-British children, for example, black 
Caribbean, Somali, white Irish, and white Polish populations. Some ethnic groups, notably South 
Asian ethnicities, have broadly similar and sometimes higher vaccination coverage than white 
children. For MMR (measles, mumps and rubella) these relationships are less consistent, in that 
coverage in children of white ethnicity could be lower or the same as other non-white groups, 
thought to perhaps reflect differences with respect to awareness of the MMR controversy.   
 
Merton have undertaken a childhood immunisation joint strategic needs assessment1. This report 
shows some geographical areas (such as East Merton) having lower uptake compared with West 
Merton. It was also recognised that deprivation impacts vaccination uptake, which has many 
overlaps with ethnicity and socioeconomic factors. 
 

National vaccination coverage  
Overall, coverage for most vaccines in England is high and comparable with other high-income 
countries although there has been a small but steady decline in the last few years. Nationally, in 
2021-2022, vaccine coverage decreased by 0.2% to 1.1% depending on the vaccine. No vaccines 
met the 95% target. Coverage for the 6-in1 vaccine amongst children 5 years of age (measured at 
this age to allow time for ‘catch-up’ of missed doses earlier in life) decreased from 95.2% in 2020-
21 to 94.4% in 2021-22. 

 

Regional vaccination coverage  
Historically and currently, London performs lower than the national (England) average across all 
the immunisation programmes. Uptake in London has also fallen over the past 6 years and has 
fallen further than elsewhere in the country.  
 
Every borough in London is below the 95% WHO target.  For some vaccines such as MMR, all 
London boroughs have an uptake below 90%. Two-thirds of all measles cases in 2023 in England 
were in London. 
 
London has a highly mobile population, a large migrant population, and areas of high deprivation. 
In London, vaccine uptake is lower in areas of higher deprivation compared with areas of low 
deprivation across all ethnicities. 

 
1 Childhood Immunisation JSNA 2022/2023. London Borough of Merton, Start Well Childhood Immunisation and 
Newborn Screening 

Page 155

https://www.merton.gov.uk/system/files/childhood_immunisation_and_newborn_screening.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/vaccinations/6-in-1-infant-vaccine/


 

5  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

 
 

Local vaccination coverage  
The focus of this report is childhood vaccinations (for children 0-5 years old), but data is also 
included on key aspects of school-age, prenatal, older adult and seasonal programmes.   
 
 

Routine childhood immunisation programme (0-5 years) 
The routine childhood immunisation programme for 0-5 years can be found at appendix 1.   
 
Coverage data for the country, region, ICB and local authorities (LAs) within South West London 
(SWL) is presented in table 1. 
 
For almost all childhood immunisations Merton has higher coverage than the London average but 
slightly lower than the SWL average and below the England average. The exception being the first 
dose of measles mumps and rubella (MMR1) at 24 months and 5 years where Merton coverage 
exceeds SWL and London averages.  
 
In the most recent data for Quarter 2 2023/24 (July-Sept 2023) there was a slight decreasing trend 
in coverage across all childhood vaccinations as compared to Quarter 1 (2022/23) (except for 5y 
MMR1 and Hib/MenC). Decreases in uptake in children at the respective ages in Q2 is seen year 
on year.  These children are typically eligible for vaccination over the summer period when families 
may be less inclined or able to get children vaccinated.  Typically, this improves later in the year 
but is not reflected in this time limited snapshot.   Overall, there has been an increase in coverage 
at age 5 for MMR1+ MMR2 from Q1 to Q2 with the number of unvaccinated children in Merton 
reduced by 2%. 
 
The recent announcement of a National Measles incident is the result of an increase in confirmed 
cases in areas across England which include the London region.  There have been two confirmed 
cases in South West London.  We   will be working with all agencies to accelerate the catchup 
programme for MMR at all ages as well as promoting increased uptake for children as part of their 
scheduled immunisation programme. 
 

Page 156



 

6  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Table 1: Overview of ‘cover of vaccination evaluated rapidly’ (COVER) data for SWL ICB and LAs.  Source: UKHSA COVER quarterly data 
Cover of vaccination evaluated rapidly (COVER) programme 2022 to 2023: quarterly data - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
Monitoring 
Age 

Immunisat
ion  England  London  SWL  Kingston  Richmond  Merton 

Wandswort
h  Croydon  Sutton 

12 months  DtaP/IPV/
Hib (HepB)  91.3% 86.4% 88.4% 91.7% 92.1% 87.5% 90.2% 85.2% 92.0%
PCV1  93.4% 89.3% 88.4% 93.7% 77.4% 90.2% 91.0% 87.5% 93.3%

Rotavirus 
(2 doses)  88.2% 83.7% 84.6% 90.9% 75.7% 86.2% 88.0% 82.2% 88.7%
Men B (2 
doses)  91.0% 86.2% 88.2% 91.7% 92.5% 87.7% 90.3% 84.6% 91.2%

24 months  DtaP/IPV/
Hib 92.9% 88.8% 88.0% 94.3% 91.0% 88.6% 90.4% 86.4% 92.7%
MMR 1  89.4% 82.9% 81.8% 90.6% 76.5% 84.2% 85.7% 80.8% 87.8%
Hib/MenC  89.2% 82.3% 81.2% 89.4% 74.6% 83.4% 84.8% 80.7% 88.7%
PCV 
(Booster)  88.8% 81.7% 80.5% 89.3% 75.0% 82.8% 84.5% 79.5% 86.3%
Men B 
(Booster)  88.0% 80.8% 80.6% 87.4% 82.8% 82.4% 84.5% 77.6% 86.3%

5 years 
DtaP/IPV/
Hib /HepB 92.8% 87.3% 89.0% 88.3% 91.6% 88.4% 88.4% 87.5% 93.2%
DtaP/IPV 
(Booster)  82.7% 72.4% 72.7% 75.7% 72.0% 71.7% 69.9% 71.2% 78.8%
MMR 1  92.3% 85.6% 87.1% 86.8% 88.1% 88.4% 86.2% 84.2% 91.7%
MMR 2  83.8% 72.8% 73.7% 75.5% 71.3% 73.1% 74.7% 70.1% 79.6%
Hib/MenC  90.2% 83.3% 84.5% 83.5% 86.0% 85.0% 83.4% 82.4% 89.2%
Average 
Uptake 89.6% 83.1% 83.5% 87.8% 81.9% 84.3% 85.2% 81.4% 88.5%  

 
For almost all childhood immunisations Merton has higher coverage than the London average but slightly lower than the SWL average and below 
the England average. The exception being the first dose of measles mumps and rubella (MMR1) at 24 months and 5 years where Merton 
coverage exceeds SWL and London averages. .

P
age 157

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/cover-of-vaccination-evaluated-rapidly-cover-programme-2022-to-2023-quarterly-data


 

7  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Figure 1: MMR Schedule Completeness for Merton, SWL and London, October 2023 
 

 
 

  
London remains at high risk for the reintroduction of polio virus or a resurgence of measles. The 
Polio/MMR Phase 2 campaign has reached out to children who are likely to be missed for either a 
polio-containing vaccine or MMR vaccine. Using regional CHIS data from 01 October 2023, Figure 
1 shows the proportion of children aged 1-22 who are completely, partially or not vaccinated for 
MMR. Central red figure represents the percentage of zero dose (unvaccinated) children.  In 
Merton, 74% of children are fully vaccinated for MMR and 15% of children have not had any 
vaccinations and are therefore at high risk of catching measles.

Page 158



 

8  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Figure 1:  DTaP-IPV-Hib-HepB coverage (%) for Merton, London and England over time 
from 2013-14 to 2022-23.  Source: NHSE Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics. 

 
 
Figure 1 shows Merton coverage trends over time of the childhood primary immunisation course 
and booster at 5 years (yellow bar). Trends follow a similar patter to London. Merton, along with 
London and England shows an overall declining trend of coverage in primary and booster doses 
all below the 95% WHO international standard. The 5-year booster dose well below target in 
Merton, London and England.   
 
 

Vaccinations for school-age young people 
Vaccinations in this group consist of: 

• HPV vaccine offered to 12–13-year-olds (since September 2019 boys receive the vaccine 
as well as girls).  

• Tetanus, diphtheria, polio booster (teenage booster) at age 14/15  

• Meningitis ACWY at age 14/15. 

• Annual child ‘flu vaccination programme which in 2023/24 covers: 
o Reception to Year 6 in primary schools.   
o Children aged 2 or 3 years on 31 August 2023 (born between 1 September 2019 and 

31 August 2021) 
o Some secondary school aged children (Year 7 to Year 11) 
o Children aged 2 to 17 years with certain long-term health conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



 

9  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Local and regional data on the school aged routine schedule coverage is presented below in figure 
3. 
 

 
Figure 3: Percentage (%) eligible adolescents vaccinated September 2022 – August 2023 in 
Merton, SWL ICB and London. Source: UKHSA ‘ImmForm’2. 
 
 
Merton perform better on immunisations in this age group, as compared to the London average, 
though less well than SWL average as a whole. 
 

Data sources for local authority stakeholders 
• The vaccinations and screening Future NHS page provides a range of vaccination 

dashboards for local use and can be accessed here:  
https://future.nhs.uk/vaccsandscreening/view?objectID=42174992 

• In addition, there are interactive dashboards on the NHS Digital website on childhood 
vaccinations here: Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics, England, 2022-23 - NHS 
Digital  

 
2 ImmForm data is validated and analysed by the UKHSA to check data completeness, identify and query any 
anomalous data and describe epidemiological trends. 

Page 160

https://future.nhs.uk/vaccsandscreening/view?objectID=42174992
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-immunisation-statistics/england-2022-23
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-immunisation-statistics/england-2022-23


 

10  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Vaccination programme challenges 

System

• COVID-19: pausing some programmes, redeployment of workforce 
and introduction of the COVID-19 vaccination programme. 

• Complexities in data collection: some data is not recorded, not 
uploaded, not correctly cleansed, or the denominator population 
may not be up to date. 

• Access to appointments: wider pressures on GP services and 
limited workforce.  

• Inconsistent reminder systems- call/ recall.  

Community

• London’s high population mobility affects data collection and 
accuracy. There is a 20-40% annual turnover on GP patient lists 
which affects the accuracy of the denominator for COVER 
submissions. A 2017 audit showed that by the age of 12 months, 
33% of infants moved address at least once. 

• Large numbers of underserved populations who are associated 
with lower uptake of vaccinations than the wider population. 

• Large migrant population who may not be registered or have their 
past immunisation history accurately recorded. 

Individual 

• Lack of trust or confidence in vaccines or other health service or 
complacency. 

• Saturation of vaccine offer post the COVID-19 pandemic and 
COVID-19 vaccination programme. 

• Increasing disinformation 
• Lack of awareness of the immunisation schedule 

Page 161



 

11  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Actions to improve vaccination uptake. 
Increasing vaccination uptake is complex and requires a suite of interventions. Work is 
ongoing at a national, regional, system, and place level to increase uptake in Merton.  
 
A London-wide and SWL immunisations strategy have been agreed to both improve 
vaccination uptake and reduce inequalities. Multi agency action plans are being taken 
forward to support delivery of the strategy aims and are in the process of being refreshed 
following the publication of the National vaccination strategy.  More information on the 
oversight of this work in SWL can be found at appendix 3. 
 
The London Immunisation Board, Mayors Health Board, and ICBs have all agreed on the 10 
principles for London vaccination (figure 6). Action will now focus on developing this into a 
comprehensive delivery approach tailored to community needs and building on Borough-led 
health initiatives. 
 
 

 
 
Figure 6: 10 principles for London vaccination programmes. 
 
 
A range of cross vaccination programme actions are in place to maximise uptake in line with 
these principles including: 
 

• An ICB level operational working group regularly discusses delivery of all vaccination 
and immunisation programmes.   

Page 162



 

12  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

• NHSE London fund immunisation coordinators to support GP practices with a focus 
on those with the lowest uptake and community outreach work within their relevant 
boroughs as highlighted by performance dashboard. 

• A series of national immunisation webinars are available for Primary Care to support 
training and development. 

• Local SW London webinars to further support GP Practices around processes and 
good practice. 

• Training for NHS patient facing staff on having difficult conversations around 
immunisation and vaccination.  This has been expanded to Local Authority staff and 
the potential for wider deployment is being explored.   
  

Further actions targeted to specific programmes are outlined below. 
 

Childhood vaccinations 
A strong focus for Merton and SWL ICB and London is to increase childhood vaccination 
coverage overall to pre-pandemic levels and to identify the communities which are 
persistently missed from vaccination and other health services.  
 
A particular risk in 2023 is the sub-optimal childhood MMR1 and 2 coverage (below 95%) 
which increases the risk of preventable measles outbreaks. To reduce the risk of poliovirus 
transmission, focus also remains on identifying and supporting underserved communities of 
Merton and London.  
 
Actions to improve uptake include: 
 

• A national NHSE MMR vaccination call and recall service was implemented between 
September and December 2022. This promoted the take-up of the MMR vaccine 
amongst individuals between the ages of 1 to 25 years through letters and texts.   

• A new national call/recall service will start in January 2024 working through each 
vulnerable cohort, primary school aged, secondary school age and then 21–25-year-
olds. 

• A regional communications campaign took place across London in March 2023 to 
encourage the uptake of missed MMR doses. This included media, social media, 
health ambassadors, translated materials, and attendance at local events and 
community groups. 

• NHSE London commissioned UKHSA to deliver immunisation training to all 
vaccinators in London.  Vaccinators were trained to build and maintain trust, address 
parent concerns and queries and deliver a high-quality service.  

• Vaccinations have been added to the MECC London resource hub to facilitate using 
every available opportunity to engage with the public to increase vaccination. 

• A funded regional catch-up programme through the SAIS (for children aged 4-11) led 
by NHSE and GP practices (for children aged 0-4) led by ICBs is underway to provide 

Page 163

https://www.mecclink.co.uk/london/vaccinations/


 

13  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

DTaP, MMR, and full-schedule catch-up. This programme is focused on targeting 
under and un-vaccinated children.  We anticipate that the first quarter findings and 
uptake rates for London will be available by January 2024.  

• Completion of return to school letters for primary and secondary school pupil, 
outlining forthcoming vaccination programmes over next school year and reminders to 
ensure that their routine schedule is up to date. 

• MMR outreach delivery which will identify and target community groups with low 
uptake.  This will include opportunities for conversations and vaccination at 
community groups and children’s centres. 

• Alignment of the work of roving team together with local grass roots organisations 
enabling facilitated discussions to take place that address vaccine concern as well as 
promoting benefits of immunisations is being undertaken. 

• Enhanced access hubs within Merton offer locally registered patients’ additional 
access to childhood immunisation clinics in the evenings and at weekends.  This will 
include open community clinics with a general walk-in offer alongside health visitor 
clinics in Children’s Centres. 

• SWL has dedicated Immunisation Co-ordinators working across the borough with 
multiple stakeholders to increase immunisation uptake.  This post is funded by NHSE.  
A summary of the work they are currently doing is shown below:  

o Working with practices to support adherence to the GP Core Contractual 
Standards, ensuring they are running their call/recall effectively, addressing 
barriers to uptake with patients and supporting overall delivery. 

o Encourage all practice staff to feel confident in discussing childhood 
immunisations with their patient population (clinically appropriate to the role).  

o Supporting practices to support national and local agreed catch-up campaigns 
e.g. London polio phase 1&2 campaigns and national MMR campaigns. 

o Ensuring that practices have knowledge of resources available to support 
immunisation delivery and how to access them, including those in multiple 
languages. 

o Ensuring patient lists are up to date and accurate. 
o Encouraging attendance at UKHSA/NHSE webinars around childhood 

vaccinations and local webinars delivered by SWL ICB. 
o Ensuring practices are using the correct and most up to date IT templates to 

record vaccinations. 
o Facilitate good working relationships between the ICB, NHSE and GP 

Practice/Primary Care.   

Page 164



 

14  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Next Steps 

Both NHSE London and SWL have planned further vaccination uptake and broader strategic 
work in relation to vaccinations including: 

• Review of funding models with LAs offering funding streams that allow for greater 
integration. 

• Phase 2 polio/MMR programme is on track, and we anticipate completion of the 
campaign by Quarter 2 2024.  The future focus will include how to embed learning 
from this catch-up programme into business-as-usual vaccination services. 

• As part of Polio Phase 2, funding has been allocated to SWL ICB for additional 
activities that contribute to: 

o Comms/ engagement activities that raise awareness of the childhood 
vaccination schedule and the importance, individual and community benefits of 
vaccination. 

o Outreach activities for children aged 1-4 or geographical that make contact 
with those families whose children are un- or under-vaccinated for their age 
and offer a vaccination appointment/event. 

• This must be outside of existing functions, funding routes or mechanisms.  SWL ICB 
are currently drafting the plans for the utilisation of this funding in conjunction with 
local stakeholders.  

• The findings from the above analysis has informed the overall approach to 
inequalities in SWL with both the autumn/winter capacity and outreach plans 
incorporating learning from this analysis and reflecting this in the availability of local 
infrastructure as well as the way the offer is made to underserved groups. 

• Focused areas of work to address inequalities within underserved groups which we 
see across all vaccination programmes including: 
 
1) Community outreach and education via the SWL team as well as other health 
organisations 

o Develop culturally sensitive and multilingual educational materials about 
vaccines' safety and benefits. 

o Train community health workers to provide information, address concerns, and 
facilitate vaccine appointment. 

2) Vaccine Clinics in Underserved Settings 
o Continue to partner with community organisations, places of worship, and 

schools to host vaccine clinics. 
o Ensure that clinics are welcoming, culturally sensitive, and staffed by diverse 

healthcare professionals. 
3) Data Collection and Monitoring 

Page 165



 

15  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

o Continue to analyse vaccination data broken down by demographic factors 
(race, ethnicity, income, etc.) to identify disparities. 

o Continuously monitor vaccination rates and address disparities in real-time. 
4) Organise Tailored Campaigns: 

o Customise vaccination campaigns to address the unique needs and 
preferences of underserved communities, including visuals and messaging.  

5) Engage Trusted Messengers: 

7) Access and Inequality Funding  
o Plans provide commitment to address disparities in vaccine uptake by 

implementing the Access and Inequality (A&I) funding initiative, which aims to 
increase vaccination rates in deprived areas through working with our borough 
leads. 

In Merton this will include; 
 
Targeted patient engagement in geographic areas with low uptake 
Capitalising on the practice call and recall initiatives we will develop open community clinics 
to general walk-in offer. The focus will be on children’s centres with the lowest MMR uptake. 
 
MMR promotional video in GP surgeries/community settings 
Video to promote the importance of the MMR vaccine, utilising infographics and a GP who is 
representative of the local community – display in GP surgery waiting areas, websites, 
community settings. Build on this to produce similar videos with community leaders - trusted 
voice to promote MMR. 
 
Targeted outreach to identified community groups with low uptake. 
Host clinic in low uptake areas e.g. religious venues, organised community groups (i.e. 
parent and toddler groups), children’s centres and housing estates. Offer at wider health and 
wellbeing events. 
 
Engagement & Outreach MMR MECC module 
Through the SWL Training Hub we will develop an Outreach model that incorporates MECC 
principles to enhance practice engagement and delivery at every point of contact. 
Concentrating on staff not normally involved with vaccinations and immunisations eg allied 
HCP and non-clinical staff. 
 
Health visitors 
Collaborate with health visiting service to offer vaccination, including their point of contacts 
with parents, e.g. ‘Well Baby’ clinics, post-natal groups, parenting support and breastfeeding 
clinics. 
 

Page 166



 

16  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Appendix 1: Immunisation schedule 
 

 Routine childhood immunisations 
Age Due  Diseases 

protected against 
Vaccine given Trade name Usual Site  

Diphtheria, 
tetanus, pertussis 
(whooping cough), 
polio, Haemophilus 
influenzae type b 
(Hib) and hepatitis 
B 

DTaP/IPV/Hib/HepB Infanrix hexa or 
Vaxelis 

Thigh 

Meningococcal 
group B (MenB) 

MenB Bexsero Left thigh 

8 weeks  

Rotavirus 
gastroenteritis 

Rotavirus Rotarix  By mouth 

Diphtheria, 
tetanus, pertussis, 
polio, Hib and 
hepatitis B 

DTaP/IPV/Hib/HepB Infanrix hexa or 
Vaxelis 

Thigh 

Pneumococcal (13 
serotypes) 

PCV Prevenar 13 Thigh 

12 weeks  

Rotavirus Rotavirus Rotarix By mouth 

Diphtheria, 
tetanus, pertussis, 
polio, Hib and 
hepatitis B 

DTaP/IPV/Hib/HepB Infanrix hexa or 
Vaxelis 

Thigh 16 weeks  

MenB MenB Bexsero Left thigh 

Hib and 
Meningococcal 
group C (MenC) 

Hib/MenC Menitorix Upper arm/thigh 

Pneumococcal PCV booster Prevenar 13 Upper arm/thigh 

1 year  

Measles, mumps 
and rubella 
(German measles) 

MMR MMRvaxPro  or 
Priorix 

Upper arm/thigh 

Page 167

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/routine-childhood-immunisation-schedule/routine-childhood-immunisations-from-february-2022-born-on-or-after-1-january-2020#fn:2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/routine-childhood-immunisation-schedule/routine-childhood-immunisations-from-february-2022-born-on-or-after-1-january-2020#fn:3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/routine-childhood-immunisation-schedule/routine-childhood-immunisations-from-february-2022-born-on-or-after-1-january-2020#fn:3


 

17  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MenB MenB booster Bexsero Left thigh 

Eligible 
paediatric 
age groups 

Influenza (each 
year from 
September) 

Live attenuated influenza 
vaccine LAIV 

Fluenz Tetra Both nostrils 

Diphtheria, 
tetanus, pertussis 
and polio 

dTaP/IPV Boostrix-IPV Upper arm Three years 
four months 

Measles, mumps 
and rubella 

MMR (check first dose given) MMRvaxPro or 
Priorix 

Upper arm 

12-13 
years  

Cancers and 
genital warts 
caused by specific 
human 
papillomavirus 
(HPV) types 

HPV (2 doses 6 to 24 months 
apart) 

Gardasil Upper arm 

Tetanus, 
diphtheria and 
polio 

Td/IPV (check MMR status) Revaxis Upper arm 14 years  
Year 9  

Meningococcal 
groups A, C, W 
and Y 

MenACWY Nimenrix Upper arm 

     

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/routine-childhood-immunisation-schedule/routine-childhood-immunisations-from-february-2022-born-on-or-after-1-january-2020#fn:3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/routine-childhood-immunisation-schedule/routine-childhood-immunisations-from-february-2022-born-on-or-after-1-january-2020#fn:3


 

18  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

 
 
 

Adult Immunisation Programme  
65 years old Pneumococcal (23 serotypes) Pneumococcal 

Polysaccharide 
Vaccine (PPV) 

Pneumovax 23 

65 years of age and older Influenza (each year from September) Inactivated 
influenza vaccine 

Multiple 

70 to 79 years of age Shingles Shingles Zostavax3 (or 
Shingrix if Zostavax 
contraindicated) 

Pregnant women At any stage of pregnancy during flu 
season 

Influenza Inactivated flu 
vaccine 

 
From 16 weeks gestation Pertussis dTaP/IPV (Boostrix-

IPV) 

 
The complete routine immunisation schedule from February 2022 
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

Page 169



 

19  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Appendix 2: NHSE current responsibilities & 
performance targets 

 

 

  

Page 170



 

20  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Appendix 3: Data collection  
Data is uploaded into Child Health Information Service (CHIS) from GP practice records via 
a data linkage system. The CHIS provides quarterly and annual submissions to the UKHSA 
for their publication of statistics on 0-5s childhood immunisation programmes. This is known 
as Cohort of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) and these are the official statistics. 
Annual data is more complete and should be used to look at longer-term trends. 
 
COVER monitors immunisation coverage data for children in the UK who reach their first, 
second, or fifth birthday during each quarter. Children having their first birthday in the quarter 
should have been vaccinated at 2, 3, and 4 months, those turning 2 should have been 
vaccinated at 12/13 months and those who are having their 5th birthday should have been 
vaccinated before 5 years, ideally 3 years 3 months to 4 years.  
 
There are known complexities in collecting data on childhood vaccinations. Indeed, since 
2013, London’s COVER data is usually published with caveats, and drops in reported rates 
may be due to data collection or collation issues for that quarter.  
 
Production of COVER statistics in London involves a range of individuals and organisations 
with different roles and responsibilities. London has four CHIS Hubs – North East London 
(provider is North East London Foundation Trust, NELFT), South East London (provider is 
Health Intelligence), South West London (provider is Your Healthcare CIC), and North-West 
London (provider is Health Intelligence). These hubs are commissioned by NHSE to compile 
and report London’s quarterly and annual submissions to UKHSA for COVER.  
 
A ‘script’ or algorithm is utilised to electronically extract anonymous data from the relevant 
data fields to compile the reports for COVER within the caveats specified. For example, for 
the first dose of MMR, any child who had their MMR vaccination before their first birthday is 
not included and so appears unvaccinated.  
 
CHIS hubs are commissioned to check the reports run and are expected to refresh the 
reports before final submission to UKHSA. CHIS Hubs are also commissioned to ‘clean’ the 
denominator by routinely undertaking ‘movers in and movers out’ reports. This is to ensure 
the denominator is up to date with the children currently resident in London. They are also 
expected to account for the vaccinations of unregistered children in London. There are 
ongoing issues with CHIS hubs keeping up to date with movers in and out which is picked 
up in contract performance meetings with the NHSE (London) commissioners.  
 
Vaccination data is extracted from London’s GP IT systems and uploaded onto the CHIS 
systems. This isn’t done directly by the CHIS Hubs. Instead, data linkage systems provided 
by three different providers provide the interface between general practices and CHIS. Two 
of these providers – QMS and Health Intelligence – are commissioned by NHSE whilst 4 
boroughs in outer North-East London commission a separate system.  
 
NHS (London) Immunisation Commissioning Team receives data linkage reports from QMS 
and Health Intelligence. This provides a breakdown by general practice of the uptake of 
vaccinations in accordance with the COVER cohorts and cohorts for Exeter (for payments). 

Page 171



 

21  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

This information is utilized by the team as part of the ‘COVER SOP’, to check against the 
COVER submissions by CHIS to question variations or discrepancies.  
 
While data linkage systems provide an automated solution to manual contact between CHIS 
and General Practices, data linkage does not extract raw data. General practices must 
prepare the data for extraction every month. This will vary between practices how automated 
the process is, but it can be dependent upon one person to compile the data in time for the 
extraction by the data linkage system providers and should this person be on annual or sick 
leave, there will be missing data.  
 
General practices have to prepare data for four immunisation data systems – COVER, 
ImmForm (although this is largely done by their IT provider of Vision, EMIS or TPP 
SystmOne, all of whom are commissioned by their ICS), CQRS (the payments system run 
by NHS England for the payment of administration of the vaccine) and Exeter (payments 
system, whereby practices receive targeted payments for achieving 70% or 90% uptake of 
their cohorts – these cohorts are different to the COVER cohorts of children). Preparation of 
data for the systems again will vary between practices but this can be time and resource 
intensive.  
There is also an array of codes that can be used to code the vaccination (if a code different 
to what the data linkage system recognises is utilised, it results in the child looking 
unvaccinated) and there are difficulties with coding children who received their vaccinations 
abroad or delays in information on vaccinations given elsewhere in UK being uploaded onto 
the system in time for the data extraction.  
 
Whilst NHSE (London) commissioning team verify and pay administration of vaccines that 
are part of the Section 7a immunisation programmes, they do not commission GPs directly. 
Vaccination services, including call/recall (patient invite and reminder systems) are 
contracted under the General Medical Services (GMS) contract. This contract is held by 
primary care commissioning directorates of NHSE.  
 
For most newer vaccine programmes and for those targeting people older than 5 years 
vaccination and population data is extracted directly from general practice systems using 
ImmForm, an online platform.  

  

Page 172



 

22  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Appendix 4: Abbreviations 
Abbreviation Definition 

CHIS Child health information Service 

COVER Cover of vaccination evaluated rapidly 

DHSC Department of Health & Social Care 

dTaP/IPV Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, inactivated polio combined vaccine 

GP General practitioner 

Hib Haemophilus influenzae B 

HepB Hepatitis B 

HPV Human papillomavirus 

ICB Integrated care board 

ICS Integrated care system 

JCVI Joint committee on vaccination and immunisation 

LA Local authority 

MECC Making every contact count 

Men B Meningococcal group B  

Men C Meningococcal group C 

MMR Measles, mumps and rubella combined vaccine 

NHSE National Health Service England 

PCV Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine 

Page 173



 

23  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Abbreviation Definition 

PPV Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine 

PSB Pre-school booster 

Rota Rotavirus 

QOF Quality and outcomes framework 

SAIS School age immunisation services 

UKHSA United Kingdon Health Security Agency 

WHO World Health Organisation 

 

 

  

Page 174



 

24  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

Appendix 5: Contacts  

Name, Role Email 

Dawn Hollis, Head of ANNB Screening, 
Immunisations, CHIS, CARS & Digital 
Transformation  

NHS England - London Region  

dawn.hollis@nhs.net  

Una Dalton, Immunisations Lead 

NHS – South West London 
una.dalton@nhs.net 

Rehana Ahmed, Senior Immunisation 
Commissioning Manager  

NHS England – London Region  

rehanaahmed@nhs.net  

  

Susan Elden, Public Health Consultant – 
Immunisations  

NHS England – London Region  

susan.elden1@nhs.net  

  

Eleanor Walker-Todd, Commissioning 
Manager  

NHS England – London Region  

Eleanor.walkertodd@nhs.net  

Rafiq Alayaki, Commissioning Officer 

NHS England – London Region 

Rafiq.Alayaki@nhs.net  

 
 
 
 

Page 175

mailto:dawn.hollis@nhs.net
mailto:una.dalton@nhs.net
mailto:rehanaahmed@nhs.net
mailto:susan.elden1@nhs.net
mailto:Eleanor.walkertodd@nhs.net


 

25  |  Report on Vaccination Services in the London Borough of Merton 
 

NHS England
Wellington House
133-155 Waterloo Road
London
SE1 8UG

This publication can be made available in a number of alternative formats on request.

© NHS England 2023 |  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 176



Immunisations Update

 Merton 
January 2024

P
age 177



Immunisation Highlights

Covid
Highest uptake in London at 44.1% 
(London at 36.8%)

Flu
Highest uptake in London at 45.6% 
(London at 38.6%)

Childhood immunisations
Vaccination rates for routine immunisations 
have remained stable in Q1 since the last 
reported quarter (Q4) with a small decrease 
in MMR, particularly in Croydon. 

Review and Learning
• Clear national comms and finance as a 

requirement.
• Sufficient time to plan an effective campaign.
• Tech and data in place from day 1.
• Reduction in vaccine types used.

P
age 178



London ICB Covid Uptake to COP 7th January 2024

P
age 179



Covid uptake by Borough & Cohort - SW London Overview 7th January

Uptake figures taken 
from Foundry. 

P
age 180



London ICB Flu Uptake to COP 7th January 2024

P
age 181



Flu uptake by Borough & Cohort - SWL Overview 7th January 2024

Note – All unknown SAIS activity has been 
placed under unknown.  Borough uptake 
does not include all SAIS data as it is 
unavailable at borough level in Foundry.

P
age 182



Autumn Winter 23-24 Communications and Engagement Campaign

Communications Engagement Activity
The campaign is supported by three approaches backed using population data to identify 
areas of low uptake, high frailty and groups of specific concern – 
e.g. immunosuppressed. 

Face to Face Community outreach which focuses on working with 
communities disproportionally impacted by health inequalities and disparities.  Use of 
the winter engagement to fund street engagement through health 
ambassadors.   Messaging has been based on what we have heard through the insight 
led work and webinars in to address the real concerns of the populations in target areas. 

Digital pathways – face to face outreach is supported by a digital offering for those who 
are digitally and receptive to health messages.  This includes the use of community 
voices in different languages and resources in different languages including BSL and easy 
read.  Evidence is that these videos are being viewed in some Core 20+ areas including 
Roehampton, North Croydon, Carshalton and Mitcham. For those people that are not 
digital enabled we focus our face-to-face community outreach activity and ensure 
information is easily available in other formats. 

Signposting to key campaigns – Using other workstreams to share 
information about Imms and Vaccs to help people make an informed choice.  Making it 
an everyday conversation and signposting to access.  Use of our now much expanded 
community pharmacy estate for both flu and covid to promote “vaccinations on the high 
street”.

Over 30 engagement activities have been organised over 
the period September to November in collaboration with 
our borough engagement leads and local authority 
colleagues.  These have been a mix of webinar and face 
to face events with members of the public, practice, 
clinical staff and community leaders.

Events included groups from;
• Faith communities
• Perinatal, mother and infant group
• Women’s centre’s
• Night watch
• Focus groups for immunosuppressed patients
• Older age adults
• Local community partnership groups.

Street ambassadors were used in areas of low uptake.

P
age 183



8

So far, our digital campaign has been seen over 2 million times and reached approximately 489,580 
local residents. Advertising on our social media channels has generated 7,053 clicks to information 
about walk-in clinics. Our materials are borough-localised as we know this increases engagement.
 
We have now launched the second phase of the campaign which is more targeted, based on data 
about levels of vaccine uptake and focuses on engaging with local communities.
 
Key activities over the next month will include:
 
 Outdoor advertising in key areas in our six boroughs – this will include phone box posters across 

South West London and advertising on the Croydon tram 
 Street ambassadors – teams of people engaging with local residents in high foot fall areas offering 

information about vaccines
 Radio and Spotify advertising – localised radios scripts for different target audiences
 Targeted paid digital advertising in postcodes of low uptake – all adverts are borough-specific 

which we know increases engagement
 Voluntary led engagement events – events funded through our winter engagement fund small 

grants scheme will begin taking place in December, focusing on engagement with communities 
experiencing health inequalities

 

 

 

Communications and Engagement

P
age 184



9

Communications & Engagement – Merton Highlights

• Outdoor advertising – via the Croydon Tram link stops in Merton.
• Radio and Spotify advertising -  localised radios scripts for different target audiences
• Our on street engagement activity is aligned to our data around low uptake groups – in particular, we 

are promoting around our roving team vaccination offer and community pharmacies in some of our low 
uptake areas, including Wimbledon Library, Cricket Green, Merton Civic Centre and Colliers wood 

• Community engagement at local partnerships meetings and community groups such as Merton 
Community Voice Forum, Merton and Wandsworth Communications and Engagement Group, Merton 
and Wandsworth long term conditions community empowerment steering group and Merton social 
prescribing steering group.

• We received over 200 applications for our Winter Engagement Fund, 100% increase from last year. We 
are the process of shortlisting and activities will start in December. 

P
age 185



Roving Team Activity - Update to End of December 
Housebound
Since the start of the Autumn / Winter Campaign the Roving team 
have Held 113 Housebound sessions and provided a total of 1,293 
covid vaccinations and 36 Flu vaccinations to this patient cohort.  

84 of these sessions were held in Sutton. 

Pop up Activity
A further 230 pop up clinics have been held delivering 2,327 
covid vaccinations and 278 flu vaccinations.  84 of these sessions 
were held in areas of higher deprivation (487 covid and 49 flu 
vaccinations were given).  On 15th November the team in 
collaboration also provided over 30 Hep A vaccinations to pupils 
and staff at Nursery school in Croydon following an outbreak. 

Future activity
The team have planned a further sessions during January providing both Covid and Flu to 31 st January and Flu to 31st 
March.  Aside from their regular pop ups they are attending a variety of additional events such as Football Fireworks in 
Sutton, Health Event in Wandsworth, Knives not Lives in Croydon, homeless and refugee events in Kingston and Croydon 
and Mencap in Richmond. The roving team are supported by the SWL Workforce Management team and approx 300 
bank staff, including registered and unregistered vaccinators, and admin.

P
age 186



Sites currently offering Covid vaccinations in Merton 

Fixed Sites
• AP Chemist
• Harland Chemist
• Hilton Pharmacy

Pop up venues
• Merton Civic Centre (20th Dec and 17th Jan)
• Mitcham Library (23rd Jan)
• Wimbledon Guild of Social Welfare (23rd Jan)
• Age UK  Mitcham (25th Jan date TBC)
• Pollards Hill Library (Currently in discussion TBC)

P
age 187



MMR and SAIS activity

Vaccination rates for all routine immunisations have declined 
in Q2 for children turning 12m-5yr between July to 
September.

• In Q2 (COVER data), a total of 4,094 out of 4,993 children 
have been vaccinated with 2 doses of MMR by 5yrs. 899 
children remained unvaccinated in SWL.

•  Funding for the MMR campaign has been 
approved. Submissions for how the MMR funding will 
be utilised has been completed.

• There will be a focus on maximising capacity outside of 
GPs for MMR.  

COVER Data - Cover of vaccination evaluated rapidly (COVER) programme 2022 to 2023: quarterly data - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)

Table highlights total denominator of children eligible by 5yrs who have and have not received 
any dose of MMR by 5yrs based off Q2 COVER data.  

• HRCH are providing MMR/Polio vaccination in priority schools and community clinics across 5 boroughs.
• Where possible, the polio imms team has been attending schools to administer MMR/Polio on the same day as the SAV teams 

administering flu to minimise disruption to the schools.
• The call centre has been calling parents of unvaccinated/under vaccinated children to offer a clinic appointment.
• Uptake of vaccinations remains poor.
• In total 144 children have been vaccinated this term in clinics and schools. 114 MMR and 101 vaccines containing polio administered.

Q2 - July to September
Denominator 

(5yrs)Vaccine MMR Uptake % Vaccinated Unvaccinated

SWL

4,810MMR1 by 2yrs 82% 3944 866
4,993MMR1 by 5yrs 87% 4094 899
4,993MMR2 by 5yrs 74% 4094 899
4,993MMR1+MMR2 80% 4094 899

Kingston 6,05MMR1+MMR2 91% 496 109
Richmond 658MMR1+MMR2 77% 540 118
Merton 654MMR1+MMR2 84% 536 118
Wandsworth 1,104MMR1+MMR2 86% 905 199
Sutton 651MMR1+MMR2 88% 534 117
Croydon 1,328MMR1+MMR2 81% 1089 239

P
age 188

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/cover-of-vaccination-evaluated-rapidly-cover-programme-2022-to-2023-quarterly-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/cover-of-vaccination-evaluated-rapidly-cover-programme-2022-to-2023-quarterly-data


Covid Winter/Autumn Programme - After Action Review

Pre Campaign
• Start date was brought forward at short notice.
• EOI process was released for any community pharmacy to 

take part.
• Frontload of vaccine for sites was done with insufficient 

notice to provide proper consideration for clinic planning.
• Tech readiness for new sites was not in place.
• Finances were changed and then changed again.

Operational
• Training and assurance was not released at the same time
• Vaccine types were switched mid campaign
• Vaccine delivery does not work for everyone despite 

increased frequency
• Significant increase in number of sites taking part
• National algorithms do not take into account local booking 

systems or walk ins

Communications and Engagement 
• Early communications were not clear with changes to the 

start date for both the public and providers
• Local communications campaigns very good
• National campaign not launched until November
• A lot of local engagement with community groups carried 

out

Lessons Learned
• Look at how to manage the increased number of sites, are 

they all necessary going forward
• Needs to be a change to vaccine delivery system
• More time to add local knowledge to national front load 

suggestions
• Communications from national need to be clearer
• Increasing access/sites doesn’t increase uptake in areas of  

vaccine hesitancy. Need to do something different to target 
these groups?

P
age 189



Governance and Local Immunisation Committees

P
age 190



Immunisations – a look ahead

January Onwards
• Covid Legal Framework ends 31 January 2024
• MMR Phase 2 campaign.
• Planning for Spring – awaiting JCVI decision 
• Infant Second Covid doses continue
• Newly immunosuppressed under PSD

Spring Covid Campaign – Current thinking – awaiting confirmation 
• April 15th Start for Care homes with others to follow the week after.
• Cohorts the same as Spring 23
• Vaccine - Cominarty

To be confirmed 
• RSV
• Chicken pox

P
age 191



Immunisations – a look ahead

• New National Strategy published in December 2023
• Refreshed SW London Strategy and Borough plans by April 2024 
• Using the Roving Team March-April to support immunisation uptake 
• Roving team joining Health Visiting/School Nursing teams 
• Immunisations Facilitators starting January/February 2024 
• Training for front line Local Authority staff to support conversations with parents 
• Training for Primary Care staff
• Changes to the ICS Immunisations staffing structures 

P
age 192



Questions P
age 193



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 25th January 2024 

Wards: All Wards 

Subject:  Condition and Maintenance of Local Playgrounds 

Lead officer: Dan Jones, Executive Director of Environment, Civic Pride and Climate 

Lead member: Councillor Natasha Irons, Cabinet Member for Local Environment, 
Greenspaces and Climate Change 

Contact officer: Andrew Kauffman, Head of Parks Services 

Recommendations:  

A. Provide the Children and Young Peoples Overview and Scrutiny Panel with the 
current condition of playgrounds in Merton and the councils maintenance regimes 
and funding in place for the future maintenance of the borough's playgrounds  

B. Provide the Children and Young Peoples Overview and Scrutiny Panel with an 
update on recent and future improvements for playgrounds in Merton 2023-27 
through an extensive Capital Growth Playground Improvement Program approved 
by council in April 2023. 

C. Provide the Children and Young Peoples Overview and Scrutiny Panel with a 
summary of specific playground improvements within Merton park playgrounds that 
have considered elements of Natural Play, Eco Friendly safety surface, more 
accessible equipment and incorporating playground equipment made from 
sustainable materials.  

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. The below report outlines the council’s Greenspaces Teams responsibility in 
developing and managing a diverse range of play facilities across the borough of 
Merton’s parks and open spaces.  

1.2. Outlining the current condition and annual maintenance operations children’s 
playgrounds within Merton’s Parks and Open Spaces. See full park playground 
listing can be found on the council’s website All play areas | Merton Council. 

1.3. Highlight councils commitment to the future of playgrounds in Merton and councils 
strategic improvement plan 2023-27 onwards. 

2 DETAILS 

2.1. The council’s Greenspace Team is at the forefront of developing and managing a 
diverse range of play facilities across the borough. With the responsibility of 44 
formal play areas in Merton’s Parks The team ensures that these spaces cater to 
different community needs, reflecting a deep understanding of the evolving 
landscape of recreational spaces in urban environments. 

2.2. These play facilities, each with its unique history and purpose, range from long-
standing areas like Joseph Hood to those introduced as part of broader initiatives 
such as housing developments and school expansions. The diversity in the origin 

Page 195

Agenda Item 8

https://www.merton.gov.uk/leisure-recreation-and-culture/parks-and-open-spaces/play-areas/all-play-areas


of these playgrounds illustrates the council's adaptability and responsiveness to 
community needs over time. For instance, Dundonald Rec was developed in 
response to school expansion, while Rowan Park's facilities were added to meet 
the needs arising from housing development. 

2.3. The council's commitment to investing in these facilities has been consistent, as 
demonstrated by the significant Play Pathfinder funding received in 2010-12. 

2.4. Merton Council was one of just 30 councils in the UK to successfully bid for 
pathfinder status – meaning it scooped a total of £2.5 million from the government’s 
Children, Schools, and Families department (DCSF) to pay for new play 
equipment. The project saw significant upgrades to 8no Merton Park Playgrounds 
between  
 

 PARK UPRADE Funding   

Donnelly Green 2011 £100K  

Dundonald 
Recreation 
Ground  

2011 £100K  

Edenvale Rec 2011 £100K  

Garfield Rec 2011 £100K  

Mostyn 
Gardens  

2012 £100K  

Oakleigh Way 2012 £100K  

Sir Joseph 
Hood Memorial 
Playing Fields  

2012 £100K  

Tamworth Farm 
Rec 

2012 £100K  

Table 1: Merton Park Upgrades through DCSF Pathfinder Funding 2011-12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 196



Park & Playground Category Photographic Image 

  

DCSF Pathfinder upgrade saw the playground increase from LEAP to NEAP and provide 
another destination facility for the East of Merton. Addition of sand and stone features to the play 
spaces provided a great play experience for playground users and features like the GL Jones round-
about provided great DDA accessibility to the current playground.  

Table 2: Dundonald Recreation Ground Pathfinder Improvement 2011 

3 CURRENT POSITION  

3.1. Despite annual investment and notable funding above, it's noteworthy that some 
areas now require considerable investment for upgrades. But despite the aging 
infrastructure and changing safety standards, the playgrounds in Merton continue 
to offer valuable play experiences, validated by thrice-weekly inspections by 
Idverde and annual independent RoSPA inspections.  

3.2. In 2023 the council Greenspace Team using the current ROSPA Annual Inspection 
Finding to build a more strategic picture of the Playground Infrastructure of Merton 
and prepare a Capital Growth Bid for future strategic investment to improve the 
Playground Infrastructure in Park between 2023-27 which lead to the council 
confirming this with a £1.75 million pound investment in play moving forward.  

3.3. In terms of categorisation, playgrounds are identified as LAPs (Local Area for Play), 
LEAPs (Local Equipment Area for Play), and NEAPs (Neighbourhood Equipped 
Area for Play). This classification system guides the planning and development of 
these areas to meet specific community requirements.  

 

• LAPs are designed for young children (up to age 6) and are ideally situated within 
a minute's walking distance along well-used pedestrian routes. They feature low-
level equipment and have a minimum activity zone of 100m2, often with seating for 
parents and carers.  
 

• LEAPs cater to children who are beginning to play independently, located within 5 
minutes' walking distance. They provide a variety of play experiences with at least 
three distinct play items and have a minimum activity zone of 400m2.  
 

• NEAPs are aimed at older children, located within 15 minutes' walking distance. 
They offer challenging play opportunities with at least five different play items, 
alongside an area for younger users. The minimum space for a NEAP is 1000m2, 
including provisions for activities like 5-a-side football.  

Page 197



 

LAP LEAP NEAP 

Brenley 
Park 

Abbey Rec Colliers Wood 

Pitt 
Crescent 

All Saints Rec Donnelly Green 

Lavender 
Park 1 

Armfield Rec Dundonald 

Wimbledon 
Park 1 

Canons Rec Joseph Hood Recreation Ground 

 Colliers Wood Rec Lavender Park 2 

 Colliers Wood Rec Shared Long Bolstead Recreation Ground 

 Cottenham Park London Road PF 

 Durnsford Colliers Wood 

 Durnsford Rec Shared Donnelly Green 

 Edenvale Dundonald 

 Garfield Joseph Hood Recreation Ground 

 Haydons Road Lavender Park 2 

 Joseph Hood Recreation Ground Long Bolstead Recreation Ground 

 King Georges  

 Lewis Road  

 Miles Road  

 Morden Park  

 Moreton Green  

 Mostyn Gardens 2  

 Oakleigh Way  

 Pollards Hill  

 Rock Terrace 1  

 Ravensbury Park  

 Rowan Road Park  

 Rowan Road Rec  

 Sherwood  

 Stanford Road  

 Wandle Park  

 Wimbledon Park 2  

Table 3: Merton Council 44 Playgrounds designations 
 

3.4. These playgrounds not only serve as play areas but also as vital community hubs, 
fostering social interaction and physical activity among children of various ages. 
While all playgrounds offer unique benefits, some, like Wimbledon Park and 
Dundonald Rec, have gained higher popularity due to additional features that 
engage families for extended periods. 

3.5. The Greenspaces Team has been proactively engaged in maintaining and 
developing playgrounds across the borough. Most recently, this has been best 

Page 198



demonstrated by the investment in the Multi-use Sports Areas (MUSA) and the 
redesign and investment in our traditional paddling pools with a view to broaden 
accessibility and appeal during both the summer period and throughout the year. 
 

• Haydons Road Recreation Ground MUSA Upgrade 

• Morden Recreation Ground MUSA Upgrade 

• Colliers Wood Recreation Ground MUSA Upgrade 

• Colliers Wood Recreation Ground MUGA Upgrade 
 

Refer Appendix:  Borough wide Multi Use Sports Area (MUSA) Improvements 
2023-24 

 
3.6. Thematic upgrades to paddling pools at several locations. These enhancements 

not only improve the physical infrastructure of the playgrounds but also add unique 
attractions that appeal to a broader audience and the ramped access and path 
surface improvements ensured that DDA accessibility to the facility was improved.  

3.7. The team have also worked with the London Tree Officer Association (LTOA) to 
ensure the waste water from the Paddling Pools can be used to irrigate the 
boroughs New and Replacement Tree planting seasonally to make the facilities 
more sustainable moving forward. Colliers Wood Recreation Ground Themed 
Paddling Pool 

• King Georges Recreation Ground Themed Paddling Pool 

• Sir Joseph Hood Memorial Playing Fields Themed Paddling Pool 

• Rowan Recreation Ground 3D Themed Paddling Pool 
 

Refer to Appendix Borough-Wide Themed Paddling Pool Improvements delivered 
between 2022-24 
 
PLAYGROUND MAINTENANCE 

3.8. Playgrounds within the borough are subject to rigorous maintenance schedules. 
Each playground receives thrice weekly inspections by service contractors from 
Idverde UK, who are trained in ROSPA Visual Inspection, this ensures that any 
immediate safety concerns are promptly addressed.  

3.9. In addition to these daily inspections, the borough conducts independent, detailed 
assessments of playground safety annually through Independent Annual ROSPA 
to ensure the long-term safety of the site, equipment, and ancillary items. This will 
also meet legal and insurance responsibilities as well as complying with the 
requirements of the British and European Playground Safety Standards. 

3.10. To support these ongoing maintenance efforts, the council has formulated a 
monthly playground maintenance plan in collaboration with service providers from 
Idverde. This plan is financially backed by two key funding source’s set out in table 
below. 

Annual Playground Maintenance Program 

Funding Source Funding Value  

Idverde annual maintenance program contribution £45K 

Merton Parks Investment Fund contribution (1/3 of overall budget)  £90K 

Table 4: Playground Maintenance Budget 
 

Page 199



3.11. This financial investment underscores the council's dedication to maintaining the 
boroughs important playground facilities.  

3.12. Please also refer to Section 11 of the report that outlines the councils Financial 
Resources invested in the future of play for playgrounds in Merton. 

3.13. From the ROSPA Annual Inspection a report is generated for each site listing all 
items within the play area (including supporting furniture such as benches and 
seating), each item’s is given an appraisal and an associated risk score is given, 
based on a traffic light system.  

3.14. Any items identified as Red are addressed with immediate effect and any 
remaining items are addressed in order of priority on a sliding scale. Please note 
that risk is inherent in any playground, because without it, it limits the child’s 
development opportunities both in terms of motor and cognitive skills. Where a risk 
is identified because of a physical defect it will be remedied accordingly, however, 
the same risk score can be allocated to a more challenging item. 

Refer to Appendix EXAMPLE ROSPA Annual Playground Inspection Report 
Durnsford Road Recreation Ground. 

 
PLAYGROUND DEVELOPMENT 

3.15. Understanding the importance of engagement, the council acknowledges that 
while playgrounds are being maintained to a high standard, there has been limited 
engagement activity specifically targeting these areas.  

3.16. To address this, the council is actively working to develop more facilities in 
collaboration with Park Friends and Residents Associations, linked to the councils 
Civic Pride Investing in Neighbourhoods Fund. 

3.17. Notable successes using the above co-design approach in the last few years have 
included the below co-designed community play spaces linked to the Merton 
Council Neighbourhood CIL  

 
Merton Council Neighbourhood CIL Playground Community Co-designed Improvements 

Site 
 

Groups Involved Funding 

Colliers Wood Shared Use 
Playground  

Colliers Wood Residents 
Association, Friends of Colliers 
Wood Rec, Single Gate Primary 
School 

£65,000.00 

Garfield Recreation Ground MUGA 
Area Improvement. 

Friends of Garfield Rec, Garfield 
Primary School, and Make Space 
for Girls. 

£75,000.00 

Morden Park Junior Playground and 
Adventure Trail  

Friends of Morden Park, Kids First 
(Disablement Charity) Merton 
College  

£65,000.00 

Moreton Green Outdoor Gym Friends of Moreton Green, GLL 
Better Leisure Partnership Team 

£20,000.00 

Table 5: Neighbourhood CIL Co-designed Playspace Improvement Projects  

 
Refer to Appendix Design and Photographic Improvements of the above 
Neighbourhood CIL Improvements. 
 

3.18. This collaborative approach aims to enhance the appeal of playgrounds and 
encourage more young people and wider community to get involved co-designing 
these spaces. 

Page 200



3.19. Another particularly innovative playground engagement project was the National 
Heritage Lottery-funded playground at Canons House and Grounds, where the 
design process involved local children working with Studio Hardey, fostering 
community involvement and ownership in the new Canons House Playground. 

3.20. The playground designers, Studio Hardie, ran four workshops to engage with 
children and parents about what they would like to see in the playground and to 
teach the community about how innovative playground design works.  

3.21. One set of workshops was delivered at Cranmer Primary School with students and 
parents from Cranmer Primary and St. Peter and St. Paul Primary, while the 
second set was delivered with the Peer Mentors at the SHINE programme. 

3.22. Visit Studio Hardie Project Page The Canons Playground - Studio Hardie - Studio 
Hardie 

     

Images School Workshop 
Engagement at Cranmer Primary and St Peter and St Pauls Primary  

   

 

Images: Canons House Playground    Final Outcome from Childrens Imaginations  

 

FUTURE PLAYGROUND DEVELOPMENT 2023-27 
3.23. After a successful Capital Growth Bid in 2023 for Playground Improvements linked 

to the most recent ROSPA Annual Inspection a £1.75 Million pound future 
investments in the Merton’s park playground was secured in April 2023 and over 
the next 5 years the council will be investing £350K per year in some of the 
boroughs ailing playground infrastructure, including both complete playground 
overhauls as well as improvements to Priority 1 playground equipment 
replacements & improvements to accessible play . 

3.24. Please visit the Merton Playground and Paddling Pool Upgrade page on the 
councils website to see the visuals and consultation findings from the first 3 
Playground Improvement Consultations held between August-October 2023 which 
over 150 children and families attended.  

Page 201

https://www.instagram.com/studiohardie/
https://www.studiohardie.com/project/the-canons-playground/
https://www.studiohardie.com/project/the-canons-playground/


Playground and paddling pool upgrades | Merton Council 

3.25. See table 6 below for the consultation dates and project commencement dates 
confirmed so far. 

Year 1 Playground Upgrade Program 

Park Consultation Project Commencement 

Rowan Recreation 
Ground 

31st August 2023 4th March 2024 

Miles Road Recreation 
Ground  

1st September 2023 22nd April 2024 

Lewis Road Recreation 
Ground  

27th October 2023 TBC: Scheme is being updated 
based on Consultation feedback  

Table 6: Year 1 Playground and Paddling Pool Upgrade community consultation events  

 
Image: Playground community engagement events @ Rowan Rec / Miles Road and Lewis Road 
 

Refer to Appendix Playground Designs and Consultation Feedback Boards for 
Rowan Rec, Miles Road Rec, and Lewis Road Rec 
 

3.26. The popularity of playgrounds varies, with some locations like Wimbledon Park, 
Dundonald Rec, Canons House and Grounds, Cottenham Park, and Pollards Hill 
attracting more visitors. 

3.27. This variation is primarily due to additional features that these playgrounds offer, 
which keep families engaged for longer periods. These key playgrounds have 
become focal points for community activity, reflecting the council's success in 
creating spaces that are not just play areas but also community hubs.  

Image: Wimbledon Park Destination Park for west of Merton 
 

     

 
Image: Tamworth Rec Splash Pad Canons Heritage Lottery Upgrade Destination Parks for East of Merton 

Page 202

https://www.merton.gov.uk/leisure-recreation-and-culture/parks-and-open-spaces/upgrades


USE OF NATURAL MATERIALS 

3.28. The Playground industry is very conscious of its affect on the environment and 
sustainability is now well represented in the numbers of product lines that utilise 
materials from sustainable sources, like the use of recycled car tyres in the 
production of the Play-Smart Jungle Mulch product that Merton Council now 
specify for its sustainable surface solutions in its playgrounds or the FSC Certified 
Timber that Merton have adopted in its Vince Adventure Trails.   

3.29. The councils declaration of a Climate Emergency in July 2019  and the councils 
Climate Strategy and Action Plan adopted in 2020 and the Year 3 Climate Delivery 
Plan is listing how the councils Strategies including recently adopted Tree Strategy 
and Procurement Strategies ensures that sustainable practices and procurement 
is used to lessen the councils impact on the environment as well as ensuring the 
impact of climate change is mitigated against in councils developments. 

3.30. Two good examples of these Climate Mitigation Strategies in Merton’s Parks 
include the 2021-23 Wimbledon Park Lake Safety Project where the de-culverting 
of the Wimbledon Park Brook created an open channel in Wimbledon Park which 
was incorporated into the landscape of the park which was incorporated into the 
popular 18 hole Crazy Golf facility that now boasts an open stream with 2no 
recycled plastic bridges with swathes of conservation grass and meadows that 
have booth improved the landscape while protecting the surrounding properties 
from 1-150 year flood events    

              Image: Wimbledon Park Crazy Golf was integrated into the Wimbledon Park Lake Safety Projects 

3.31. Secondly linked to the adoption of the boroughs first Tree Strategy in June 2023 
the council were successful in a £15K external funding grant to the Mayor of 
London Cool Spaces Grant which saw the council plant 30 standard trees in the 

Page 203



boroughs Parks and Open Spaces to create Cool Spaces in the boroughs Parks 
and Street, which was part of a wider planted in 2022-23 as we seek to enhance 
the boroughs canopy cover. 

3.32. Other Natural Features that the council has incorporated into its Parks Playground 
and Playscapes include Climbing Boulders like you will see at Ravensbury Park, 
Durnsford Rec and Sir Joseph Hood Memorial Playing Fields. Planting   

 

 

Image: Trees for Streets and Cool Spaces In 
Parks  

 

 

 

 

Image: Art in Merton Parks and Playscapes  

 

4 NEW SAFETY SURFACES FOR PLAYGROUNDS 

4.1. Due to the shrinkable clay in Merton, much of the early wet pour surfacing used by 
the Greenspaces service historically using concrete kerb edging and infill with wet 
pour EPDM Rubber has suffered from the clayshrinking and rubber being pulled 
away from the concrete curbs and creating trip hazard.  

4.2. In 2022 the Greenspaces Team have trialled the use of recycled Jungle Mulch 
trowel down safety surface that can be laid without concrete edging at Sir Joseph 
Hood Memorial Playing Fields and Mostyn Gardens playground and we have been 
very happy with the results so far (pictures below). 

4.3. The council Greenspaces Team will continue to monitor the Play Smart Jungle 
Mulch product with the added advantage that the product is tis made from recycled 
car tyres making it an environmentally friendly surfacing solution for our playground 
in Merton 

Page 204



  

Image: Play-smart recycled jungle mulch at multiple Merton Parks Playgrounds 

5 MORE ACCESSIBLE EQUIPMENT FOR CHILDREN WITH ADDITIONAL 
NEEDS 

5.1. Where possible the council will always aim to ensure accessibility in all new 
playground schemes. The main obstacle we find it physically being able to access 
equipment within play facilities. As with Morden Park we are ensuring that gate and 
supporting footpath infrastructure is sufficient to enable those with limited mobility 
to navigate the site.  

5.2. There are certain items that we can and do consider for play facilities such as flush 
access roundabouts which we currently have at 8no park playground locations 
across Merton including Dundonald Rec, Durnsford Rec, Morden Park, 
Ravensbury Park and basket swings (which are easier for individuals to be 
transferred from their day chair to the apparatus) for which we have at 8no play 
locations across Merton including Canons House and Grounds, Garfield Park, 
Colliers Wood Rec shared use playground, Morden Park and Abbey Recreation 
Ground.  

 

    

 

Image: Flush mounted DDA roundabout, Inclusive basket swing and swing seat, sound play 

5.3. We have recently refurbished a number of the councils paddling pools; part of these 
developments involved creating new sloped access ramp to all Paddling Pools 
enabling wheelchair users and those with limited mobility the opportunity to both 
access and now enjoy the facility too. 

Page 205



     

Images: Ramps created in all paddling pools combining tactile wet pour paths and interactive graphics 

6 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1. Not applicable for this report 

7 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

7.1. Not applicable for this report 

8 TIMETABLE 

8.1. Not applicable for this report 

9 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The Greenspaces Capital Investment Programme is focused on three key areas: 
enhancing civic pride, building a sustainable future, and developing a Borough of 
Sport. These initiatives contribute to improving the quality of life for residents. The 
programme outlines the ambitious investment plans for our valued parks, 
playgrounds, and greenspaces.  

The programme outlines a total investment of £4,879,862 in various projects 
relating to the development of parks, playgrounds, and sports facilities for the 
benefit of children and young people. Key projects involve new water play features, 
park enhancements, sports drainage improvements, and multi-use sports areas. 
Investments also cover playground upgrades, green flag improvement 
programmes, and park security measures to help make sure these sites are 
protected. These planned investments reflect the Council's commitment to meeting 
current community needs while preparing for the future.

Page 206



 

Capital Investments 
Budget 
2023-24 

Budget 
2024-25 

Budget 
2025-26 

Budget 
2026-27 

Budget 
2027-28 

Budget 2028-
29 

Parks Investment 
 £273,530   £300,000   £300,000   £300,000   £300,000   £1,473,530  

New water play feature Wimb Pk 
 £87,430   £-     £-     £-     £-     £87,430  

Paddling Pool Borough Wide 
 £33,390   £-     £-     £-     £-     £33,390  

Morley Park Enhancements 
 £19,370  

  
 £-     £-     £19,370  

Sports Drainage 
 £66,970   £222,000   £-     £-     £-     £288,970  

Multi Use Sports Areas 
 £140,690   £-     £-     £-     £-     £140,690  

Green Spaces Bridges and Structures 
 £115,000   £81,000   £80,000   £-     £-     £276,000  

Playground Priority Upgrades Prog £350,000   £300,000   £300,000   £300,000   £300,000   £1,550,000  

New Green Flag Improvement Prog £76,430   £130,000   £100,000   £-     £-     £306,430  

Existing Green Flag Impr Prog £50,000   £75,000   £50,000   £-     £-     £175,000  

Parks Security - Illegal incursions £95,000   £30,000   £50,000   £-     £-     £175,000  

Morden Park Playground £75,530   £-     £-     £-     £-     £75,530  

Durnsford Road Recreation Ground £44,770   £-     £-     £-     £-     £44,770  

Garfield Rec MUGA refurb £120,000   £-     £-     £-     £-     £120,000  

Green Gym for Moreton Green £31,252   £-     £-     £-     £-     £31,252  

Cannizaro Park Safety £82,500   £-     £-     £-     £-     £82,500  

      
 £4,879,862 

Page 207



 

10 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. Not applicable for this report 

11 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS 

11.1. Not applicable for this report 

12 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

12.1. Not applicable for this report 

13 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1. Not applicable for this report 

14 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED WITH 
THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

Appendix Name Appendix Details  

Borough wide multi use sports area 
improvements (MUSA) 2022-23 

Improvements made to Haydons Road 
Rec, Colliers Wood Rec, and Morden 
Rec 2022-23 

Borough wide themed Paddling Pool 
Improvements 2023-24 

Improvements made to Colliers Wood, 
Sir Joseph Hood Memorial Playing 
Fields, King Georges Rec, Rowan 
Recreation Ground 2023-24 

ROSPA Annual Inspection Report 
Example 

Durnsford Road Recreation Ground 
January 2023. 

Design and Photographic 
Improvements to Neighbourhood CIL 
Schemes 2023-24 

Colliers Wood Rec Shared Use 
Playground Garfield Road Rec, Morden 
Park, Moreton Green Outdoor Gym  

Playground Improvement Program 
2023-27 

Playground Design and Feedback 
Boards from consultation at Rowan Rec, 
Miles Road, and Lewis Road 

 

15 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

15.1. Not applicable for this report 

Page 208



Haydons Road Rec MUSA: Before and After

P
age 209



Colliers Wood 
Rec MUGA: 
Before and 
After

P
age 210



Morden Rec MUGA: Before and After

P
age 211



Colliers Wood 
Rec central 
MUGA 
Before and 
After 

P
age 212



Colliers Wood Rec Paddling Pool

P
age 213



Sir Joseph Hood Memorial Playing Fields Paddling Pool

P
age 214



King George’s Playing Fields Paddling Pool

P
age 215



Rowan Rec Paddling Pool

P
age 216



Morden Park Paddling Pool

P
age 217



Joseph Hood Rec Paddling Pool

P
age 218



Tamworth Rec Splash Pad

P
age 219



Wimbledon Park Splash Pad

P
age 220



Colliers Wood 
Rec Shared-Use 
Playground

P
age 221



Colliers Wood Rec Shared-Use Playground

P
age 222



GAREFIELD Recreation 
Ground NCIL Project

Multi Use Play Area and 
Space for Girls 

BEFORE 

AFTER

P
age 223



GAREFIELD Recreation Ground 

Multi Use Play Area and Space for 
Girls 

P
age 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



 

Page 228



P
age 229



P
age 230



 

1 
 

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 25 January 2024 
Wards: All  

Subject:  Departmental Update 
Lead officer: Jane McSherry, Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and 
Families 
Lead member(s): Cllr Brenda Fraser, Cabinet Member Children’s Services, and Cllr 
Sally Kenny, Cabinet Member Education and Lifelong Learning 
Contact officer: Tim Wallder – Interim Head of Performance, Improvement and 
Partnerships 

Recommendations:  
A. Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report 

 
1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The report provides members of the panel with information on key 
developments affecting the Children, Lifelong Learning and Families (CLLF) 
Department, and not covered elsewhere on the agenda. It focuses on those 
aspects of particular relevance to the department. 

2 DETAILS 
  CHILDREN, LIFELONG LEARNING & FAMILIES 

2.1 Since my last update in November we welcome two new heads of service. 
2.2 We were sad to see the departure of Rachel Bowerman as head of School 

Improvement but her replacement, Clare Dudman, has already started. Clare 
comes with a wealth of senior experience, most recently in Gloucestershire 
and Lambeth. 

2.3 Secondly, Jo Ross, the new permanent Head of Family Support and 
Safeguarding is due to start in Merton on 22 January. Jo comes with a lot of 
experience from her time holding similar positions in Wandsworth and 
Croydon. A big thank you goes out to Rorie Ovens and Kay Dove who have 
been acting up from their Service Manager positions to cover the vacancy 
since October. 

2.4 The rest of this report highlights some of the Department’s key activity since 
the last report in November 2023. 
Joint Targeted Area Inspection 

2.5 From 20 November to 8 December 2023 Merton received a Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection of our safeguarding partnerships response to Serious Youth 
Violence.   

Page 231

Agenda Item 9



 

2 
 

2.6 Inspectors fed back that they had seen a strong and effective partnership 
working to safeguard and support children affected by serious youth violence 
in Merton but have also highlighted some areas for improvement to help us 
strengthen this further and ensure a consistent multi-agency response to 
some of our most vulnerable children through their journey.  

2.7 Our letter of findings will be published on 12th February 2024, after which we 
will respond with a plan of action on how we will keep working to improve our 
offer 

Schools 
School Ofsted inspections 

2.8 The inquest into the death of headteacher Ruth Perry from Caversham 
Primary in Reading, concluded on the 7th December 2023, issuing a 
‘Prevention of Future Deaths Report’. This stated that the Ofsted inspection 
was a contributory factor in Mrs Perry’s death. The coroner gave the 
inspectorate until the 7th February to respond in writing about the actions it 
will take to reduce the likelihood of a similar incident occurring. As a result of 
this ruling, schools were able to decline an Ofsted inspection during the last 
week of the autumn term. All inspections have been suspended until the 
22nd January whilst inspectors have training in identifying signs of 
headteacher distress during inspections.  

2.9 Since the start of this academic year, we have had four inspections in 
Merton, with one report published since the last committee. Cranmer Primary 
has been judged to be good.   

School Attendance   
2.7 Rates of school attendance in Merton continue to be better than national and 

outer London averages in primary and secondary schools, and in the Pupil 
Referral Unit. Autumn term indicative data shows Merton’s attendance is 
improving but it is still approximately 2% below pre pandemic levels. Improving 
attendance remains a key strategic priority for the Council, with an overarching 
approach that ‘Attendance is Everybody’s Business’, ensuring that there is a 
multi-agency approach to the issue.   

2.8 Merton’s plan to improve attendance is monitored by the Prevention & Early 
Intervention subgroup of the Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership. The 
subgroup has overseen a multi-agency attendance self-assessment. This self-
assessment was scrutinised by a Department of Education Attendance Advisor 
who spent a whole day in Merton in November. Feedback from this visit 
highlighted many examples of best practise in how we are tackling this issue 
reflecting post-pandemic challenges. Feedback also reflected positively on the 
way we constantly challenge ourselves to achieve more. Follow up meetings 
have been undertaken with the Education Welfare Service and the Virtual 
School to look at how they work to support groups of vulnerable children.  

2.9 We are developing an action plan to further reduce the number of lessons that 
children are missing and support children and families to thrive in school 

Stanford Primary School 

Page 232



 

3 
 

2.10 The Secretary of State has made the finalised decision to close Stanford 
Primary School at the end of the summer term (August 2024). The decision to 
seek permission from the Department for Education was taken by PACE 
Academy Trust due to a consistent and significant decrease in pupil numbers 
that has made the school financially unsustainable. The council understands 
this has been a very difficult decision by the Trust. 

2.11 Merton Council has an important role in facilitating alternative school places for 
the children and we are determined to do all we can to make this transition as 
easy as possible for families. The council has been working closely with 
Stanford School and will continue to work with the school and parents to ensure 
alternative school places are made available for all pupils presently on roll. 
Stanford Primary School has an ARP (Additional Resource Provision for 
children with special educational needs). We have agreed with the governors 
of Liberty Primary School that they will open a new ARP for the start of term in 
September 2024 to ensure these children presently at Stanford Primary School 
can be offered a directly comparable school place. 

Secondary school admissions  
2.12 Secondary school offer day is 1 March 2024. Officers now have the preference 

information and, despite the cohort of children from primary schools being a 
lower number, we are seeing an increase in preferences to our secondary 
schools, reflecting the increased parental confidence in the quality of our 
secondary school. We therefore expect secondary numbers to remain at a 
stable high number for September 2024. 

Early Years  
2.13 National campaigns have been launched in the New Year to promote the new 

early education and childcare entitlements from April 2024.  Parents must apply 
for their code via the HMRC this term, for securing their free place from April. 
This has been promoted via the resident email, through our own internal 
communications for staff, via the Family Hub Facebook page and via our 
professional networks. We will continue to promote during the roll out phase of 
the next 18 months.   

2.14 In December we shared a childcare survey with residents, via the resident 
email, to gain views on the suitability and availability of childcare in Merton. 
Findings will be used to inform 2024 Sufficiency Assessment of the local 
childcare market and following on action plan.   

2.15 In addition to the childcare survey for residents, we shared a survey with local 
early years providers to gain an understanding of their preparedness and ability 
to deliver the new entitlements. Findings of this survey will also inform the 2024 
sufficiency assessment and action plan. 

Early Help  
2.16 The funding for the transformation programme for Family Hubs has now been 

extended until end of the summer term 2024. This means we can continue to 
embed and develop our approach, whilst planning for the cessation of the 

Page 233



 

4 
 

programme from September.  This will involve ensuring the legacy of the 
transformation through the ongoing reshaping of current arrangements so that 
we can deliver and sustain a Family Hub approach within local communities.  

 
Supporting Vulnerable Children  
Supporting Vulnerable Children with Education, Health and Care Plans  
2.17 As at the 31st December 2023, Merton maintained 2563 Education, Health and 

Care Plans (EHCPs), an increase of 92 in comparison with the same time last 
year. A smaller growth in the number of EHCPs the Local Authority  maintains 
is being continued from previous years, as a result of the robust decision-
making processes that have been implemented since 2022 and the work being 
undertaken in the Post 16 EHCP Team regarding ceasing plans where 
appropriate. 

2.18 In this calendar year (January to December 2023), the Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities Integrated Service (SENDIS) has received 464 requests 
for an Education Health and Care Needs Assessment (EHCNA), representing 
a small increase in comparison with the previous year.   

2.19 The EHCNA process should be completed within 20 weeks. Over the course of 
the calendar year, and excluding exceptions, 55% of EHCNAs were issued 
within the statutory 20 weeks. This is a decrease in timeliness in comparison 
with last year, but Merton performance remains above the latest national 
average (51%). As outlined in previous reports, this lower local performance is 
due to a combination of factors which include delays in receiving professional 
advice; challenging staffing issues across education, health and social care 
(mirroring a national issue); and the increase in demand for EHCNA’s. A robust 
action plan has been developed to address the factors impacting on timeliness. 

2.20 In the calendar year 2023, 78 children and young people with an EHCP have 
moved into Merton and their plan has been adopted; a greater number (150) 
moved out of the Borough.  

2.21 In the calendar year 2023 the Local Authority has discontinued 408 EHC Plans, 
including the 150 referenced above, where young people have moved out of 
the Borough.  

2.22 The SEN Team are now undertaking data cleansing of all 2023 data in 
preparation for submitting the Government’s SEN 2 Return which is the Special 
Educational Needs Survey submitted yearly by all Local Authorities to the 
Department for Education.  SEN2 collects data about children for whom the 
local authority has responsibility for the management of the SEN processes, 
under the 1996 Education Act and the 2014 Children and Families Act. The 
information collected via the annual SEN2 survey form provides the major 
source of data collected on children and young people with Education, Health 
and Care (EHC) plans. It is the only source of data on the totality of EHC plans 
maintained by individual local authorities. 

 

Page 234



 

5 
 

Safety Valve and Special School provision 
2.23 The DfE has announced the High Needs budget allocations for 2024/25 – the 

uplift is only 2% compared to the previous year. This will make managing the 
High Needs budget more challenging next year than expected. 

2.24 The DfE announced approval for the new special free school in Merton on 23rd 
August 2023. There are two preferred trust providers and we have been 
invited to participate in the interview process although the final decision on the 
choice of provider rests with the DfE. The agreement to a suitable site is still 
ongoing. 

Children Social Care & Youth Inclusion.  
2.25 Regarding the national reforms to Children’s Social Care (Stable Homes Built 

on Love) the DfE have published ‘Children’s Social Care National Framework’ 
which is statutory guidance setting out the purpose, principles for practice and 
expected outcomes of children’s social care. They have also published 
information on the indicators which will make up the new National Children’s 
Social Care Dashboard. They are holding briefings on the new guidance over 
the coming weeks and discussions will be held regionally and locally around 
what this guidance means for services locally and how we can start to adapt. 
Merton currently has a bid submitted to take part in the 2nd round of pathfinders 
which we will be notified of at the end of January.  

2.26 Following a review of our In House Fostering Out of Hours Service, we have 
amended it to provide a better service to our foster carers. The most significant 
change is enabling fostering social workers to carry out visits to support foster 
homes in moments of crises which will provide greater stability to our children 
in care.  

2.27 There were a number of events for care experienced young people leading up 
to the new year. To celebrate National Care Leavers week in November, staff 
took a group of care experienced young people out for a meal at Spice Village 
in Tooting, and for their festive celebration they went to Wimbledon Cinema to 
see the award-winning film – Charlie and the Chocolate Factory. Our foster 
carers also celebrated the festive season with their annual Christmas dinner at 
Merton Registry Office, which was a big success. The Metropolitan Police 
provided us with gifts to distribute to children in need and who are on child 
protection plan. These were then wrapped and delivered by social work teams. 
Christmas cards from staff and Councillors were also delivered to all Care 
Experienced Young people.    

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 25th January 2024 
Wards: All 

Subject: Performance Report   
Lead officer: Jane McSherry, Executive Director of Children, Lifelong Learning and 
Families 
Lead member(s): Cllr Brenda Fraser, Cabinet Member Children’s Services, and Cllr 
Sally Kenny, Cabinet Member Education and Lifelong Learning 
Contact officer: Tim Wallder, Interim Head of Performance, Improvement and 
Partnerships 

Recommendations:  
A. Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1. This report summarises the performance information for 2023/24, up to 30th 
November 2023, as set out in the accompanying document, the Children & Young 
People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Performance Index 2023/24. 
1.2. As reported at June’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel, the Performance Index 
has been updated with some additional/amended target measures, as well as a 
selection of new indicators for care experienced young people.   

 

2 DETAILS 
Exception Report 

2.1. The following indicators are marked as amber or red.  
No Indicator Rating Service Commentary 
3a 
& 
3b 

% of Education, 
Health and Care 
(EHCP) Plans 
issued within 
statutory 20 week 
timescale  

R This indicator is RAG rated Red with 56% 
of EHCPs issued within 20 weeks against 
a new target of 65% (increased from 60% 
in 22-23). However, our performance 
remains above the national average in 
this area (in 2022 the England average 
was 50.7%). Nevertheless, we continue 
to scrutinise this data regularly and work 
with partners to address variability in 
performance.   

8 % of children 
subject of a CP plan 
who had a CP visit 

R This indicator is Red as performance at 
November was 86% compared to our 
target of 90%. However, this is back on 

Page 237

Agenda Item 10



within timescales in 
the month 

an upward trajectory from the October 
performance.   

13 Average number of 
weeks taken to 
complete Care 
proceedings against 
a national target of 
26 weeks 

R Performance improved in quarter 1 
increasing from 25 weeks from 52 to 38 
weeks. The data for September 2023 had 
not yet been released when this report 
was being prepared. See further 
contextual information in the commentary 
section below. 

17 Stability of 
placements of 
Looked After 
Children (aged 
under 16) - length of 
placement (in care 
2.5 years, 
placement 2 years) 

R The target for this indicator was 
increased to 71% from 65% following 
performance consistently above target 
during 2022/23 and to bring in line with 
regional performance at 71%. Currently it 
is RAG rated Red following a dip in 
performance in June. Performance has 
improved from 63% to 68% and the 
trajectory is good. 
This indicator relates to a small cohort, 
as such, small variances can often result 
in a seemingly high % change. 
Placement stability is tracked in weekly 
oversight meetings.  

28 Secondary school 
surplus places 

R 2023/24 school census information is not 
yet available so 2022/23 is still provided. 
This is red as the level of surplus places 
for Year 7 is so low but is expected to 
change in future years as lower numbers 
flow through from primary schools. 

33a % of care leavers 
(aged 19-21) in 
suitable 
accommodation 

A The indicator is currently RAG rated 
Amber as performance is at 93%, just 
below the 95% target. Merton’s current 
performance is better than the national 
and regional averages. 
Merton has a monthly NEET panel to 
track this group of care leavers. 

33b % of care leavers 
(aged 19-21) not in 
education, 
employment or 
training (NEET) 

A The indicator is currently RAG rated 
Amber as performance is at 33% 
compared to a 32% target. However, 
Merton’s current performance is better 
than the national average and is on an 
improved trajectory, achieving amber for 
the first time this reporting year. 
Merton has a monthly NEET panel to 
track care leavers not in ETE. 

 

Page 238



Commentary 
Indicator 13: Average number of weeks taken to complete Care proceedings against 
a national target of 26 weeks 
2.2. Nationally, the duration of care proceedings has increased. This is a result of 
court closures during the pandemic. 
2.3. A range of influences impact on the duration of court proceedings – some of 
which are outside of the authority’s immediate control. These include court 
availability, the availability and timeliness of expert witness input, and the desire to 
engage effectively with the wider family network to explore alternatives (where 
appropriate and safe to do so).  

2.4. The service has monthly court and PLO tracking meetings including legal 
representatives. On a quarterly basis, representatives from the   Children and 
Families Court Advisory Services (Cafcass) attend. These meetings allow the 
authority to raise concerns about timeliness. A permanent court progression officer 
is now in place with positive anecdotal feedback on her impact.  

2.5. Merton continues to receive positive feedback from Merton’s link judge on the 
Council’s PLO work.  
 

3 AMENDMENTS, CORRECTIONS AND DATA CAVEATS 
 

Amendments, Corrections and Data Caveats 
 
3.1. We are currently unable to report against the following indicators: 

No Indicator Service Commentary 
 6 % of quorate attendance 

at CPP conferences 
Following amendments to the system 
workflow, as part of the Mosaic Repair 
Project, a report has now been built to 
extract this data and we are currently in 
the process of user acceptance testing. 

23 % outcome of School 
Ofsted inspections good 
or outstanding (overall 
effectiveness) 

The publication schedule for School 
Ofsted inspections fits around the 
academic year and is not currently 
available. Updated outcomes will be 
available for the next report.    

29 Youth services 
participation rate 

This data is no longer collected 
nationally, and the indicator is on hold 
until new guidance is published later this 
year. 

   
Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and 
form part of the report 

• Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Performance Index 2023/24.  

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel - Performance Index 2023/24

No. Performance Indicators Frequency
Target 

2023/24
2022/23 England London Year Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Assessments 

21/22 5 16 9 24 22 18 14 13 12 6 16 10

22/23 6 8 15 11 14 12 13 21 19 12 19 10

23/24 17 22 12 17 10 15 18 21

21/22 97% 92% 85% 66% 87% 85% 93% 94% 90% 99% 94% 90%

22/23 91% 94% 92% 97% 94% 94% 94% 93% 89% 82% 90% 96%

23/24 97% 99% 91% 98% 95% 93% 93% 95%

21/22 62% 56% 74% 42% 79% 87% 100% 76% 100% 100% 100% 78%

22/23 67% 67% 67% 60% 95% 82% 92% 92% 100% 100% 69% 56%

23/24 74% 41% 64% 38% 62% 61% 41% 29%

21/22 63% 61% 64% 61% 63% 66% 68% 69% 71% 100% 100% 89%

22/23 81% 76% 75% 71% 77% 77% 79% 80% 81% 100% 79% 69%

23/24 70% 63% 63% 59% 59% 60% 58% 56%

Child Protection

21/22 37.1 36.3 32.5 30 30.8 27.8 28.1 26.8 24.9 22 22 34.8

22/23 21.2 24.1 23.3 21.6 24.7 25.3 26.4 25.3 26.6 27 31.6 34.8

23/24 35.4 33.5 35.2 34.6 33.9 32.7 33.5 33.1

21/22 176 172 154 142 146 132 133 127 119 105 105 166

22/23 101 115 111 103 118 121 126 121 126 129 151 166

23/24 169 160 168 165 162 156 160 158

21/22 N/A N/A N/A N/A

22/23 N/A N/A N/A N/A

23/24 N/A N/A

21/22 100% 97% 95% 94% 95% 98% 100% 100% 97% 100% 100% 98%

22/23 98% 94% 95% 96% 97% 98% 98% 98% 94% 91% 95% 96%

23/24 92% 88% 88% 95% 94% 99% 97% 99%

21/22 97% 97% 95% 93% 99% 91% 89% 96% 82% 90% 94% 96%

22/23 94% 86% 90% 91% 88% 95% 90% 93% 91% 94% 87% 93%

23/24 90% 88% 86% 84% 76% 90% 82% 86%

21/22

22/23

23/24 17% 0% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 11%

21/22 16% 14% 16% 13% 14% 14% 13% 12% 11% 12% 14% 25%

22/23 14% 19% 24% 24% 25% 24% 25% 25% 24% 28% 26% 25%

23/24 26% 22% 23% 23% 22% 21% 19% 20%

Looked After Children

21/22 30 30.6 31 30.6 30 29.7 29.1 28.9 27.6 26.4 26.4 25.6

22/23 26.4 26.2 25.1 25.6 25.8 25.8 25.3 26.2 25.3 25.8 26 25.6

23/24 26 26.2 26.8 27 27.6 27 27.9 29.1

21/22 142 145 147 145 142 141 138 137 132 126 126 122

22/23 126 125 120 122 123 123 121 125 121 123 124 122

23/24 124 125 128 129 132 129 129 139

21/22 23 21 20 19 19 22 22 23 23 18 19 19

22/23 19 19 19 20 19 23 22 22 23 22 24 25

23/24 26 26 28 27 26 28 25 27

95% 100%

19.8%

(DfE 2022/23)

91.6%  

(DfE 2022/23)

11.2% 

(EOY D2I dataset 

2022/23)

10% 

(Q2 D2I dataset 

2023/24)

Unavailable

82% 

(Q2 D2I dataset 

2023/24)

88.1% 

(DfE 2022/23)

23.6%

(DfE 2022/23))

85.4%

(DfE 2022/23)
2

3a

4

54.7%

(DfE: SEN2 Jan 

2023 for the 2022 

calendar year)

Not a 

target 

measure 

43.2
54.3

(DfE 2022/23)

48.8 

(DfE 2022/23)

54.7%

(DfE: SEN2 Jan 

2023 for the 2022 

calendar year)

Unavailable Unavailable

Rate of Child Protection Plans started per 10,000 children 

aged 0-17 (Monthly)
Monthly

3b
% of Education, Health and Care (EHCP) Plans issued within 

statutory 20 week timescale (YTD Calendar Year)  
YTD 65%

81% 

(2022 calendar 

year)

50.7%

(DfE: SEN2 Jan 2023 

for the 2022 

calendar year)

5

% of Children that became the subject of a Child Protection 

Plan for the second or subsequent time (within 2 years)
Monthly <20% NEW indicator

% of Children subject of a CP Plan who had a CP visit within 

timescales in the month
Monthly 90% 96%

158

6

9a

Unavailable

% of Single Assessments authorised within the statutory 45 

days 

7

8

% of Children that became the subject of a Child Protection 

Plan for the second or subsequent time  (Ever)
Monthly <20% 25.1%

1

50.7%

(DfE: SEN2 Jan 2023 

for the 2022 

calendar year)

% of Education, Health and Care (EHCP) Plans issued within 

statutory 20 week timescale (Monthly)  
Monthly 65%

81% 

(2022 calendar 

year)

Unavailable

Unavailable

Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan -  as at 

end of month
Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

9b

Benchmarking

% of quorate attendance at child protection conferences Quarterly 95% N/A Unavailable

Number of Looked After Children as at end of month Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

123 Unavailable Unavailable

Number of Early Help Assessments undertaken by the 

Authority  
Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

165

% of reviews completed within timescale for Children with 

Child Protection Plans 
Monthly

Monthly 91% 96.8%
82.5%

(DfE 2022/23)

10

11

12

Rate of Children looked-after per 10,000 children aged 0-17 

(snapshot) (Monthly) 
Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

26
70.5

(DfE 2022/23)

51.2

(DfE 2022/23)

Number of UASC children and young people Monthly

48 

(Agreed 

Quota)

26
No benchmarking 

available

No benchmarking 

available

P
age 241



No. Performance Indicators Frequency
Target 

2022/23
2022/23 England London Year Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

21/22 42 69 39 41

22/23 57 64 25 52

23/24 38 N/A

21/22 99% 96% 94% 94% 97% 96% 96% 96% 98% 98% 97% 94%

22/23 94% 94% 96% 96% 98% 96% 97% 98% 97% 99% 98% 94%

23/24 85% 90% 48% 87% 86% 100% 95% 96%

21/22 94% 88% 91% 100% 83% 73% 88% 86% 90% 94% 100% 87%

22/23 100% 80% 93% 92% 91% 100% 100% 100% 74% 100% 77% 100%

23/24 90% 80% 100% 100% 75% 88% 95% 100%

21/22 14.9% 12.7% 11.4% 10.3%

22/23 7.5% 7.3% 5.8% 6.6%

23/24 4.7% 7.0%

21/22 48% 64% 70% 68%

22/23 66% 71% 71% 70%

23/24 63% 68%

21/22 63% 58% 62% 67%

22/23 57% 61% 60% 61%

23/24 61% 62%

21/22 1 2 2 2

22/23 1 2 1 2

23/24 4 6

21/22 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

22/23 0 0 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3

23/24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

21/22 0 1 0 1

22/23 0 0 1 1

23/24 2 2

Childrens Centres and Schools

21/22 12% 24% 25% 32%

22/23 39% 46% 52% 47%

23/24 85% 66%

21/22 95% 95% 95% 95%

22/23 95% 95% 95% 95%

23/24 95% N/A

21/22 <5 <5 <5 <5 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

22/23 0 0 0 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

23/24 0 0 0 0 N/A 0 0 0

21/22 <5 5 13 13 N/A 1 2 2 3 3 3 5

22/23 5 6 7 7 N/A 1 4 9 11 12 16 19

23/24 19 21 22 22 N/A 2 0 3

21/22 19.3%

22/23 19.2%

23/24

21/22 8.7% 11.1% 10.8% 11.6%

22/23 11.6% 11.6% 9.7% 9.8%

23/24 9.8% 9.8%

10%

(DfE 2022/23)

10%

(DfE 2022/23)

Unavailable Unavailable

95% 87% (30/04/2022)

Benchmarking

18

19

Stability of placements of Looked After Children (aged under 

16) - length of placement (in care 2.5 years, placement 2 

years)

Quarterly 71%

% of Looked After Children in foster placements who are 

placed with in-house foster carers 

Unavailable

Number of Looked After Children for whom agency Special 

Guardianship Orders were granted (YTD) 
Quarterly

Not a 

target 

measure 

1

Number of in-house foster carers recruited Quarterly
2 per 

quarter
6 Unavailable

Unavailable

Unavailable

70% Unavailable

21

Unavailable

Unavailable

61%

(Q2 D2I dataset 

2023/24)

14

15

16

% of Looked After Children cases which were reviewed 

within required timescales 
Monthly 96% 94%

Number of Looked After Children who were adopted (YTD) Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

3

Quarterly 60% 59%

Stability of placements of Looked After Children - number of 

placements (3 or more in the year)
Quarterly 9% 7%

Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

92%
% of Looked After Children participating in their reviews in 

month (excludes children aged 0 - 4)

20

17

13
Average number of weeks taken to complete Care 

proceedings against a national target of 26 weeks
Quarterly 26 weeks 53

Number of Secondary* permanent exclusions (Number YTD 

Academic year)

Unavailable

94%  

(30/04/2022)

27

22

23

24

25

Annual 65% 47% Unavailable Unavailable

% outcome of School Ofsted inspections good or 

outstanding (overall effectiveness)
Quarterly 95%

26

% of total 0-5 year estimated Census 2011  population from 

areas of deprivation (IDACI 30%) whose families have 

accessed children's centre services (cumulative)

Number of Primary* permanent exclusions  (Number YTD 

Academic year)

Persistent absenteeism - All Schools (10% or more sessions 

missed)

% of Reception year surplus places***

(calculated October and January)

0.8% (National 

exclusion statistics 

for AY 2019/20)

Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

19

28.5% (National 

exclusion statistics 

for AY 2019/20)

14.6% (National 

exclusion statistics 

for AY 2019/20)

Quarterly 5-10%

Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

0

4.9% 

(National exclusion 

statistics for AY 

2019/20)

Annual

Unavailable

9.8% Unavailable Unavailable

21% NEW indicator

22.3%                                

(DfE AY Aut-Spr 

2021/22)

18.8%                                

(DfE AY Aut-Spr 

2021/22)

44  

(CAFCASS Avg Q1 

2023/24)

Unavailable
95% 

(Q4 2022/23)

Unavailable

P
age 242



No. Performance Indicators Frequency
Target 

2022/23

2022/23 

(Provisional)
England London Year Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Young People and Services 

21/22 5.6% 5.6% 3.0% 3.2%

22/23 3.2% 3.2% 2.4% 2.3%

23/24 2.3% 2.3%

21/22 1.3% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 0.9% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.0% 1.0%

22/23 1.0% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 1.2% 0.6% 1.1% 1.5% 1.2% 1.2% 1.1% 1.1%

23/24 1.1% 1.1% 1.2% 1.3% 1.4% 1.1%

21/22 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.6% 1.1% 12.8% 2.2% 1.2% 1.1% 0.9% 0.9%

22/23 1.2% 1.4% 1.2% 1.5% 1.5% No Data 11.3% 2.6% 0.8% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8%

23/24 0.8% 1.4% 1.3% 1.2% 1.5% n/a 1.5% N/A

21/22 3 4 8 10 13 14 16 18 20 23 24 28

22/23 0 2 4 5 8 10 11 12 17 18 18 23

23/24 1 1 1 8 12 14 23 24

21/22 45.50% 45.50% 40.00% 52.90%

22/23 27.30% 28.60% 53.80% 38.10%

23/24 22.2% 22.2%

21/22 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

22/23 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

23/24 94% 95% 94% 93% 96% 95% 93% 93%

21/22 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

22/23 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

23/24 38% 36% 35% 37% 40% 41% 38% 33%

21/22 28% 37% 35% 34%

22/23 34% 36% 29% 26%

23/24 25% 22%

21/22 14 15 13 12 12 13 13 13 13 12 13 13

22/23 14 15 14 13 14 12 13 11 10 11 13 14

23/24 15 15 15 16 15 15 15 14

23
144 (rate per 

100,000, 2022)

2.3% Unavailable Unavailable28
% of Secondary school (Year 7) surplus places *** 

(calculated  October and January)

Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

2.1%

5-10% 

Benchmarking

29

30

% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) not in education, employment or 

training (NEET) 

% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) education, employment or 

training status ‘not known’ 

Monthly 1.2% 1.1% 2.6%  (2021/22) 1.5%  (2021/22)

N/A

Quarterly 41.8%

33% 

(Provisional 

Annual)

31.2%                            

(2021/2022              

YJB pub)

2.2%  (2021/22) 1.9%  (2021/22)

Quarterly 22.7% 26%

17.1%

(DfE Census Sept 

2022)

24.3%

(DfE Census Sept 

2022)

Monthly

41.8%

(2020/2021  

YJB pub)

14.5

(DfE Census Sept 

2022)

95% 92%
88% 

(DfE 2022/23)

88% 

(DfE 2022/23)

Monthly 32% 28%
38% 

(DfE 2022/23)

33% 

(DfE 2022/23)

35

Average total caseload for social workers (working with 

looked after children and/or children subject of child 

protection plans) (total caseload including non LAC and CPP 

cases as at end of month)                                                                                                                           

Monthly

Not a 

target 

measure 

14

16.6                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

(DfE Census Sept 

2022)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

31

32

33a

33b

34

Number of First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth Justice 

System aged 10-17 (cumulative)

Rate of proven re-offending by young people in the youth 

justice system  - quarterly / annual (annual is 21/22)

% of care leavers (aged 19-21) in suitable accommodation

% of care leavers (aged 19-21) not in  education, 

employment or training (NEET)

% agency social workers (HR data)

Quarterly

Monthly 50

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel  -  Work Programme 2023/2024  

 
This table sets out the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel work programme for 2023/24; the items listed 
were agreed by the Panel at its meeting on 21 June 2023. This work programme will be considered at every meeting of the 
Panel to enable it to respond to issues of concern and incorporate reviews or to comment on pre-decision items ahead of their 
consideration by Cabinet/Council. 

 
The work programme table shows items on a meeting-by-meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre-decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended 
outcomes. 
 
Chair: Councillor Usaama Kaweesa 
Vice-chair: Councillor Chessie Flack 
 

 

Scrutiny Support 
For further information on the work programme of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel please contact: -  
Octavia Lamb, Policy and Scrutiny Manager 
Tel: 020 8545 4728; Email: Octavia.lamb@merton.gov.uk 

 

For more information about overview and scrutiny at LB Merton, please visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 

 
 

P
age 245

A
genda Item

 12



Meeting date: 20 September 2023 (Deadline for papers: 12pm, 11 September 2023) 
 
Item/issue How Lead member and/or 

lead officer 
Intended outcomes 

Departmental update  Written Report Jane McSherry, Executive 
Director Children Lifelong 
Learning and Families 

Review priority work streams within 
the Children, Lifelong Learning and 
Families Department. 

Pupil Place Planning Strategy 
 

Written Report Elizabeth Fitzpatrick, 
Assistant Director of 
Education and Early Help 

Review approach to managing 
school places. 

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators  Maisie Davies, Head of 
Performance, 
Improvement and 
Partnerships 

To review the basket of indicators  

Work programme 2023/24 Written Report Councillor Usaama 
Kaweesa, Panel Chair 

To review the work programme and 
agree any changes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 246



Meeting date:  27 November 2023 (Deadline for papers: 5pm 16th November 2023)  
 
Item/issue How Lead member and/or 

lead officer 
Intended outcomes 

Budget/business plan 
Round 1 

Written Report Councillor Billy Christie, 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Corporate 
Services 

To discuss and make recommendations 
to forward to Commission 

School Meals in Merton Written Report Elizabeth Fitzpatrick, 
Assistant Director of 
Education and Early 
Help 

Review provision of meals at all phases 
of education 

Youth Services Written Report Keith Shipman, Head of 
Education Inclusion 

Review service and gaps in current 
provision 

Youth Task Group - Report 
and Recommendations  

Written Report Cllr Max Austin, Task 
Group Chair. 

Agree the recommendations and for 
report to go to Cabinet. 

Departmental Update Written Report Jane McSherry, 
Executive Director 

Review priority work streams within the 
Children, Lifelong Learning and Families 
Department. 

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators  Maisie Davies, Head of 
Performance 

To review the Basket of indicators and 
highlight items of concern 

Work programme 2022/23 Written Report Councillor Usaama 
Kaweesa, CYP Panel 
Chair 

To review the work programme and agree 
any changes 

 
 

P
age 247



Meeting date: 25 January 2024 (Deadline for papers: 5pm 16th January 2024)  
 
Item/issue How Lead member and/or 

lead officer 
Intended outcomes 

Budget/business plan 
scrutiny  

Written Report Councillor Billy Christie, 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Corporate 
Services 

To discuss and make recommendations to 
forward to Cabinet 

Merton Safeguarding 
Children Partnership  Annual 
Report  

Written Report Tom Procter,  Review services over last 12 months. 

Local playgrounds Written Report John Bosley, Assistant 
Director of Public 
Space Contract and 
Commission 

Review of provision and how they ensure 
children and young people remain healthy 

Childhood Immunisations Written Report NHS England  Review uptake of immunisations.  

Departmental update report  
 

Written Report Jane McSherry, 
Executive Director 

An overview of the key issues within the 
Children, Lifelong Leaning and Families 
Department. 

Youth Task Group - Report 
and Recommendations  

Written Report Cllr Max Austin, Task 
Group Chair. 

Agree the recommendations and for report 
to go to Cabinet. 

Performance monitoring Basket of 
indicators 

Head of Performance, 
Improvement and 
Partnerships 

To review the Basket of indicators and 
highlight items of concern 

Work programme 2023/24 Written Report Councillor Usaama 
Kaweesa, CYP Panel 
Chair 

To review the work programme and agree 
any changes 

 

P
age 248



Meeting date: 11 March 2024 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 28 February 2024) 
 
Item/issue How Lead member and/or 

lead officer 
Intended outcomes 

Corporate Parenting  
 

Written Report David Michael, 
Assistant Director 
Children’s Social Care 
and Youth Inclusion 

Review service performance 
 

Education Standards 
Report 

Written Report Elizabeth Fitzpatrick, 
Assistant Director of 
Education and Early 
Help 

Review overview of performance in schools  

Healthy Child Programme 
Report 

Written Report Public Health Merton Review services including those to tackle 
childhood obesity 

0-19 Health Update Report to the Panel Public Health Merton Review services in for children aged 0-19 

Departmental update 
report 

Written Report Jane McSherry, 
Executive Director;  
Children, Lifelong 
Learning and Families. 

An overview of the key issues within the 
Children, Lifelong Learning and Families 
Department. 
 

P
age 249



Performance monitoring Basket of indicators  Maisie Davies, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance 

To review the Basket of indicators and 
highlight items of concern 

Topic suggestions for 
2023/24 

Written Report Councillor Usaama 
Kaweesa, CYP Panel 
Chair 

To identify topics for the 2023/24 work 
programme 

 

P
age 250


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report
	Subject:  Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report
	1	Purpose of report and executive summarY
	1.1.	This report provides an overview of the Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership (MSCP) Annual Report which covers the period April 2022 to March 2023. The full report can be found in Appendix 1 alongside a visual summary in Appendix 2.

	2	Background
	2.1.	The MSCP is required to produce and publish a report annually on actions taken by statutory partners and relevant agencies to safeguard children and promote their welfare and outline how effective those arrangements have been in practice. The MSCP has commissioned a one-page visual summary poster to sit alongside the detailed report, in response to positive feedback from our Young Scrutineer and the partnership on the 2021-22 version.

	3	Details
	3.1.	Whilst there remained continued pressures on safeguarding systems following the pandemic and exacerbated by the cost-of-living crisis, safeguarding partners in Merton have worked together to continuously improve our safeguarding systems and strengthen the voice of the child in our Partnership.
	3.2.	During the reporting period, the partnership continued to be supported by our Young Scrutineer, Halima Mehmood, who worked in partnership with our Independent Scrutineer, Sarah Lawrence, and Independent Chair, Aileen Buckton. Our Independent Chair also chairs Merton Adults Safeguarding Board (MSAB) and both chairing roles were covered on an interim basis by Nicola Brownjohn during the report period, providing continuity during a period of sickness. Sharing an independent chair and holding our second Joint Safeguarding Conference in March 2023 has supported us to progress joint working with adults’ colleagues including around “Think Family” and embedding learning from local adults and children’s learning reviews.
	3.3.	Our Executive Group remained stable during the reporting period. We have since welcomed Ian Cameron as our Met Police representative, replacing Andrew Wadey.
	3.4.	During 2022-23 work was progressed against our three thematic priorities; Early Hep and Neglect, Domestic Abuse and Think Family, and Contextual Safeguarding. The appended report provides further details about activity in these areas and the difference this has made to safeguarding practice locally. Our Independent Scrutineer and Young Scrutineer led a thorough piece of scrutiny on “What can MSCP do to prevent the adultification of black children in Merton?”, which included focus groups with children and young people to hear directly about their experiences. The MSCP also further strengthened our training and audit programmes and followed up on actions from the previous year’s Section 11 safeguarding audit.
	3.5.	During 2022-23, the partnership oversaw the publication of one local child safeguarding practice review (LCSPR) for Franklyn. In addition, the partnership undertook two further rapid reviews for Child M and Child O following serious incident notifications submitted to Ofsted. The MSCP annual reports sets out some of the steps the partnership has taken to respond to these reviews and how learning has been embedded across the Partnership.
	3.6.	Members may be particularly interested in exploring the learning from the MSCP’s local child safeguarding practice reviews, partnership reviews, and audits, which are all available on the MSCP’s website� https://www.mertonscp.org.uk/. Seven-minute briefings are available to be widely disseminated among all professionals working to safeguard children and young people in Merton.
	3.7.	Members may also be interested in the MSCP’s training offer which is available free of charge to all MSCP member agencies, the voluntary sector and independent sector agencies working with children, young people and their families in Merton. Places can be booked via the following link: Merton Safeguarding - Learning Management System.

	4	Alternative options
	4.1.	N/A

	5	Consultation undertaken or proposed
	5.1.	The MSCP annual report has had input from all statutory partners as well as local agencies and the MSCP sub-group chairs. The draft was considered by the MSCP Full Partnership in October 2023, the Strategic Safeguarding Group in November 2023 and received formal sign off from the MSCP Executive partners in January 2024. The MSCP’s Independent Chair, Scrutineer and Young Scrutineer have had the opportunity to review and comment. The Annual Report will also be considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 23rd January and Cabinet in February.

	6	Timetable
	N/A
	7	Financial, resource and property implications
	7.1.	None.

	8	Legal and statutory implications
	8.1.	As outlined in the report.

	9	Human rights, equalities and community cohesion Implications
	9.1.	As outlined in the report.

	10	Crime and Disorder implications
	10.1.	As outlined in the report.

	11	Risk management and health and safety implications
	11.1.	As outlined in the report and the MSCP’s Business Plan 23-25, available on the MSCP website.

	12	Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report
	13	Background papers
	None


	Appendix 1 - MSCP Annual Report 2022-23 FINAL
	Appendix 2 - Visual Summary - MSCP Annual Report 2022-23

	6 Budget/Business Plan - Latest Cabinet Paper
	1	Purpose of report and executive summary
	1.1.1	The report provides a general update on all the latest information relating to the budget setting process for 2024-28 and an assessment of the implications for the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2024-28.

	2	Details
	2.1.1	Cabinet papers dated 15 January 2024.
	2.1.2	This report is one of the budget updates through the financial year and will be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Panels and Commission in January 2024 alongside the Member’s Information Pack which contains details of growth and savings agreed by Cabinet in November 2023 and which was subject to the scrutiny process in the November 2023 round of meetings.

	3	Alternative options
	3.1.1	None

	4	Consultation undertaken or proposed
	4.1.1	None

	5	Timetable
	5.1.1	None

	6	Financial, resource and property implications
	6.1.1	None

	7	Legal and statutory implications
	7.1.1	None

	8	Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications
	8.1.1	None

	9	Crime and Disorder implications
	9.1.1	None

	10	Risk management and health and safety implications
	10.1.1	None

	11	Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report
	12	Background papers
	12.1.	Members Information Pack

	Cabinet Paper 15 Jan for Scrutiny Panels

	7 Childhood Immunisations
	Subject:  Childhood Immunisations
	1	Purpose of report and executive summarY
	1.1.	To update the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on Vaccination and Immunisation uptake and work in SW London and Merton.

	2	DETAILS
	3	Alternative options
	3.1.	N/A

	4	Consultation undertaken or proposed
	4.1.	N/A.

	5	Timetable
	6.1	Work undertaken during the period September to December 2023 and proposed activity for January to March 2024N/A
	6	Financial, resource and property implications
	6.1.	None.

	7	Legal and statutory implications
	7.1.	As outlined in the report.

	8	Human rights, equalities and community cohesion Implications
	8.1.	As outlined in the report.

	9	Crime and Disorder implications
	9.1.	As outlined in the report.

	10	Risk management and health and safety implications
	10.1.	As outlined in the report.

	11	Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report
	12	Background papers
	None


	Immunisations Appx 1 CYPScrut Jan 24
	Aims
	Background
	Roles and responsibilities
	Inclusion and Equity
	National vaccination coverage
	Regional vaccination coverage
	Local vaccination coverage
	Routine childhood immunisation programme (0-5 years)
	Vaccinations for school-age young people

	Data sources for local authority stakeholders
	Vaccination programme challenges
	Actions to improve vaccination uptake.
	Childhood vaccinations

	Next Steps
	Appendix 1: Immunisation schedule
	Appendix 2: NHSE current responsibilities & performance targets
	Appendix 3: Data collection
	Appendix 4: Abbreviations
	Appendix 5: Contacts

	Immunisations Appx 2 Scrut Jan 24

	8 Local playgrounds
	A1 Playgrounds Report CYP Scrutiny Jan 24 .pdf (p.1-14)
	Appendix 1 - Haydons Road Rec MUSA (1).pdf (p.15)
	Appendix 2 Colliers Wood Rec MUSA.pdf (p.16)
	Slide 1: Colliers Wood Rec MUGA: Before and After

	Appendix 3 Morden Rec MUSA.pdf (p.17)
	Slide 1: Morden Rec MUGA: Before and After

	Appendix 4 Colliers Wood Central MUGA.pdf (p.18)
	Slide 1

	Appendix 5 Paddling Pool Improvements.pdf (p.19-26)
	Slide 1: Colliers Wood Rec Paddling Pool
	Slide 2: Sir Joseph Hood Memorial Playing Fields Paddling Pool
	Slide 3: King George’s Playing Fields Paddling Pool
	Slide 4: Rowan Rec Paddling Pool
	Slide 5: Morden Park Paddling Pool
	Slide 6: Joseph Hood Rec Paddling Pool
	Slide 7: Tamworth Rec Splash Pad
	Slide 8: Wimbledon Park Splash Pad

	Appendix 6 Colliers Wood Rec Shared Use Playground.pdf (p.27-28)
	Slide 1: Colliers Wood Rec Shared-Use Playground
	Slide 2

	Appendix 7 Garfield Rec NCIL Project 2023-24.pdf (p.29-30)
	Slide 1
	Slide 2

	Appendix 8 ROSPA Safety EXAMPLE Durnsford Road Rec .pdf (p.31-34)
	Appendix 9 Rowan Rec Community Engagement Feedback.pdf (p.35)
	Appendix 10 Lewis Road Rec Community Engagement Feedback.pdf (p.36)

	9 Departmental update
	Subject:  Departmental Update
	1	Purpose of report and executive summary
	1.1	The report provides members of the panel with information on key developments affecting the Children, Lifelong Learning and Families (CLLF) Department, and not covered elsewhere on the agenda. It focuses on those aspects of particular relevance to the department.

	2	Details
	CHILDREN, LIFELONG LEARNING & FAMILIES
	2.1	Since my last update in November we welcome two new heads of service.
	2.2	We were sad to see the departure of Rachel Bowerman as head of School Improvement but her replacement, Clare Dudman, has already started. Clare comes with a wealth of senior experience, most recently in Gloucestershire and Lambeth.
	2.3	Secondly, Jo Ross, the new permanent Head of Family Support and Safeguarding is due to start in Merton on 22 January. Jo comes with a lot of experience from her time holding similar positions in Wandsworth and Croydon. A big thank you goes out to Rorie Ovens and Kay Dove who have been acting up from their Service Manager positions to cover the vacancy since October.
	2.4	The rest of this report highlights some of the Department’s key activity since the last report in November 2023.
	Joint Targeted Area Inspection
	2.5	From 20 November to 8 December 2023 Merton received a Joint Targeted Area Inspection of our safeguarding partnerships response to Serious Youth Violence.
	2.6	Inspectors fed back that they had seen a strong and effective partnership working to safeguard and support children affected by serious youth violence in Merton but have also highlighted some areas for improvement to help us strengthen this further and ensure a consistent multi-agency response to some of our most vulnerable children through their journey.
	2.7	Our letter of findings will be published on 12th February 2024, after which we will respond with a plan of action on how we will keep working to improve our offer
	Schools
	School Ofsted inspections
	2.8	The inquest into the death of headteacher Ruth Perry from Caversham Primary in Reading, concluded on the 7th December 2023, issuing a ‘Prevention of Future Deaths Report’. This stated that the Ofsted inspection was a contributory factor in Mrs Perry’s death. The coroner gave the inspectorate until the 7th February to respond in writing about the actions it will take to reduce the likelihood of a similar incident occurring. As a result of this ruling, schools were able to decline an Ofsted inspection during the last week of the autumn term. All inspections have been suspended until the 22nd January whilst inspectors have training in identifying signs of headteacher distress during inspections.
	2.9	Since the start of this academic year, we have had four inspections in Merton, with one report published since the last committee. Cranmer Primary has been judged to be good.
	School Attendance
	2.7	Rates of school attendance in Merton continue to be better than national and outer London averages in primary and secondary schools, and in the Pupil Referral Unit. Autumn term indicative data shows Merton’s attendance is improving but it is still approximately 2% below pre pandemic levels. Improving attendance remains a key strategic priority for the Council, with an overarching approach that ‘Attendance is Everybody’s Business’, ensuring that there is a multi-agency approach to the issue.
	2.8	Merton’s plan to improve attendance is monitored by the Prevention & Early Intervention subgroup of the Merton Safeguarding Children Partnership. The subgroup has overseen a multi-agency attendance self-assessment. This self-assessment was scrutinised by a Department of Education Attendance Advisor who spent a whole day in Merton in November. Feedback from this visit highlighted many examples of best practise in how we are tackling this issue reflecting post-pandemic challenges. Feedback also reflected positively on the way we constantly challenge ourselves to achieve more. Follow up meetings have been undertaken with the Education Welfare Service and the Virtual School to look at how they work to support groups of vulnerable children.
	2.9	We are developing an action plan to further reduce the number of lessons that children are missing and support children and families to thrive in school
	Stanford Primary School
	2.10	The Secretary of State has made the finalised decision to close Stanford Primary School at the end of the summer term (August 2024). The decision to seek permission from the Department for Education was taken by PACE Academy Trust due to a consistent and significant decrease in pupil numbers that has made the school financially unsustainable. The council understands this has been a very difficult decision by the Trust.
	2.11	Merton Council has an important role in facilitating alternative school places for the children and we are determined to do all we can to make this transition as easy as possible for families. The council has been working closely with Stanford School and will continue to work with the school and parents to ensure alternative school places are made available for all pupils presently on roll. Stanford Primary School has an ARP (Additional Resource Provision for children with special educational needs). We have agreed with the governors of Liberty Primary School that they will open a new ARP for the start of term in September 2024 to ensure these children presently at Stanford Primary School can be offered a directly comparable school place.
	Secondary school admissions
	2.12	Secondary school offer day is 1 March 2024. Officers now have the preference information and, despite the cohort of children from primary schools being a lower number, we are seeing an increase in preferences to our secondary schools, reflecting the increased parental confidence in the quality of our secondary school. We therefore expect secondary numbers to remain at a stable high number for September 2024.
	Early Years
	2.13	National campaigns have been launched in the New Year to promote the new early education and childcare entitlements from April 2024.  Parents must apply for their code via the HMRC this term, for securing their free place from April. This has been promoted via the resident email, through our own internal communications for staff, via the Family Hub Facebook page and via our professional networks. We will continue to promote during the roll out phase of the next 18 months.
	2.14	In December we shared a childcare survey with residents, via the resident email, to gain views on the suitability and availability of childcare in Merton. Findings will be used to inform 2024 Sufficiency Assessment of the local childcare market and following on action plan.
	2.15	In addition to the childcare survey for residents, we shared a survey with local early years providers to gain an understanding of their preparedness and ability to deliver the new entitlements. Findings of this survey will also inform the 2024 sufficiency assessment and action plan.
	Early Help
	2.16	The funding for the transformation programme for Family Hubs has now been extended until end of the summer term 2024. This means we can continue to embed and develop our approach, whilst planning for the cessation of the programme from September.  This will involve ensuring the legacy of the transformation through the ongoing reshaping of current arrangements so that we can deliver and sustain a Family Hub approach within local communities.
	Supporting Vulnerable Children
	2.17	As at the 31st December 2023, Merton maintained 2563 Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), an increase of 92 in comparison with the same time last year. A smaller growth in the number of EHCPs the Local Authority  maintains is being continued from previous years, as a result of the robust decision-making processes that have been implemented since 2022 and the work being undertaken in the Post 16 EHCP Team regarding ceasing plans where appropriate.
	2.18	In this calendar year (January to December 2023), the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Integrated Service (SENDIS) has received 464 requests for an Education Health and Care Needs Assessment (EHCNA), representing a small increase in comparison with the previous year.
	2.19	The EHCNA process should be completed within 20 weeks. Over the course of the calendar year, and excluding exceptions, 55% of EHCNAs were issued within the statutory 20 weeks. This is a decrease in timeliness in comparison with last year, but Merton performance remains above the latest national average (51%). As outlined in previous reports, this lower local performance is due to a combination of factors which include delays in receiving professional advice; challenging staffing issues across education, health and social care (mirroring a national issue); and the increase in demand for EHCNA’s. A robust action plan has been developed to address the factors impacting on timeliness.
	2.20	In the calendar year 2023, 78 children and young people with an EHCP have moved into Merton and their plan has been adopted; a greater number (150) moved out of the Borough.
	2.21	In the calendar year 2023 the Local Authority has discontinued 408 EHC Plans, including the 150 referenced above, where young people have moved out of the Borough.
	2.22	The SEN Team are now undertaking data cleansing of all 2023 data in preparation for submitting the Government’s SEN 2 Return which is the Special Educational Needs Survey submitted yearly by all Local Authorities to the Department for Education.  SEN2 collects data about children for whom the local authority has responsibility for the management of the SEN processes, under the 1996 Education Act and the 2014 Children and Families Act. The information collected via the annual SEN2 survey form provides the major source of data collected on children and young people with Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans. It is the only source of data on the totality of EHC plans maintained by individual local authorities.
	2.23	The DfE has announced the High Needs budget allocations for 2024/25 – the uplift is only 2% compared to the previous year. This will make managing the High Needs budget more challenging next year than expected.
	2.24	The DfE announced approval for the new special free school in Merton on 23rd August 2023. There are two preferred trust providers and we have been invited to participate in the interview process although the final decision on the choice of provider rests with the DfE. The agreement to a suitable site is still ongoing.
	Children Social Care & Youth Inclusion.
	2.25	Regarding the national reforms to Children’s Social Care (Stable Homes Built on Love) the DfE have published ‘Children’s Social Care National Framework’ which is statutory guidance setting out the purpose, principles for practice and expected outcomes of children’s social care. They have also published information on the indicators which will make up the new National Children’s Social Care Dashboard. They are holding briefings on the new guidance over the coming weeks and discussions will be held regionally and locally around what this guidance means for services locally and how we can start to adapt. Merton currently has a bid submitted to take part in the 2nd round of pathfinders which we will be notified of at the end of January.
	2.26	Following a review of our In House Fostering Out of Hours Service, we have amended it to provide a better service to our foster carers. The most significant change is enabling fostering social workers to carry out visits to support foster homes in moments of crises which will provide greater stability to our children in care.
	2.27	There were a number of events for care experienced young people leading up to the new year. To celebrate National Care Leavers week in November, staff took a group of care experienced young people out for a meal at Spice Village in Tooting, and for their festive celebration they went to Wimbledon Cinema to see the award-winning film – Charlie and the Chocolate Factory. Our foster carers also celebrated the festive season with their annual Christmas dinner at Merton Registry Office, which was a big success. The Metropolitan Police provided us with gifts to distribute to children in need and who are on child protection plan. These were then wrapped and delivered by social work teams. Christmas cards from staff and Councillors were also delivered to all Care Experienced Young people.



	10 Performance monitoring
	Subject: Performance Report
	1	Purpose of report and executive summary
	1.1.	This report summarises the performance information for 2023/24, up to 30th November 2023, as set out in the accompanying document, the Children & Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Performance Index 2023/24.
	1.2.	As reported at June’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel, the Performance Index has been updated with some additional/amended target measures, as well as a selection of new indicators for care experienced young people.

	2	Details
	Exception Report
	2.1.	The following indicators are marked as amber or red.
	Commentary
	Indicator 13: Average number of weeks taken to complete Care proceedings against a national target of 26 weeks
	2.2.	Nationally, the duration of care proceedings has increased. This is a result of court closures during the pandemic.
	2.3.	A range of influences impact on the duration of court proceedings – some of which are outside of the authority’s immediate control. These include court availability, the availability and timeliness of expert witness input, and the desire to engage effectively with the wider family network to explore alternatives (where appropriate and safe to do so).
	2.4.	The service has monthly court and PLO tracking meetings including legal representatives. On a quarterly basis, representatives from the   Children and Families Court Advisory Services (Cafcass) attend. These meetings allow the authority to raise concerns about timeliness. A permanent court progression officer is now in place with positive anecdotal feedback on her impact.
	2.5.	Merton continues to receive positive feedback from Merton’s link judge on the Council’s PLO work.

	3	Amendments, Corrections and Data Caveats
	Amendments, Corrections and Data Caveats
	3.1.	We are currently unable to report against the following indicators:
	Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report


	02 (b) OSC Performance Index Nov 23

	12 Work Programme

